# NUTRITIVE VALUE OF ENSILED CASSAVA (Manihot esculentus, Crantz) TOPS AND GUINEA GRASS (Panicum maximum) FOR THE WEST AFRICAN DWARF SHEEP

BY

Rachel Temitope, AYANO B. Tech. (Animal Production and Health), LAUTECH; M.Sc. (Ruminant Production), UNAAB Matric No : 135585

A Thesis in the Department of Animal Science Submitted to the Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry in partial fulfilment of the requirement for the Degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

> of the UNIVERSITY OF IBADAN

> > FEBRUARY, 2013

#### ABSTRACT

Cassava Tops (CT), a crop residue, is available all year round but its potential utilisation is low. The Crude Protein (CP) and other nutrients in CT could be beneficial to ruminant livestock. Information on CT preservation and nutritive value is scanty. Therefore, the nutritive value of ensiled CT with Guinea grass to the West African Dwarf (WAD) Sheep was investigated.

Cassava tops and Guinea Grass (GG) of eight weeks re-growth with four energy additives were combined in ratio 3:6:1 into five treatments: 1 (CT + GG + cassava) chips), 2 (CT + GG + Sorghum), 3 (CT + GG + millet grains), 4 (CT + GG + sugar ) and 5 (CT + GG + no additive). After 42 days of ensiling, silage characteristics, chemical composition: Dry Matter (DM), CP, ash, Neutral Detergent Fibre (NDF), and Acid Detergent Fibre (ADF) and acceptability by 8 WADS using Coefficient of Preference (CoP) procedure were determined. In a completely randomised design, 25 WAD sheep were fed with the five silages for 135 days to evaluate Dry Matter Intake (DMI), Daily Weight Gain (DWG), Dry Matter Digestibility (DMD), Packed Cell Volume (PCV) and Serum Total Protein (STP) using standard procedures. Carcass characteristics: dressing percentage, prima cuts, internal organs and external offals were measured. Further, effect of Length of Storage (LS) (72, 102, 132, 162, 192 and 222 days) on silage characteristics, chemical composition and the nutritive value of silage were assessed using in vitro fermentation technique to obtain potential extent of gas production (a+b), potential gas production (b), rate of gas production (c), Organic Matter Digestibility (OMD), Metabolisable Energy (ME) and Short Chain Fatty Acids (SCFA). Data were analysed using descriptive statistics and ANOVA at p=0.05.

The colour of the silages was olive green with pleasant odour, firm texture and pH range of 4.3 to 5.1. Dry Matter (27.1-28.8%), CP (21.8-24.9%), ash (7.6-9.4%), NDF (68.8-71.7%) and ADF (40.6-48.1%) of the silages differed significantly among treatments. Silages with cassava chips (1.19), sorghum (1.11) and millet (1.09) additives were more acceptable as CoP was above unity. The DMI (472.6-530.0 g/d) and DMD (75.8-84.7%) differed significantly while DWG was similar among treatments. The PCV and STP varied significantly and ranged from 27.0 to 33.7% and 6.08 to 8.20g/dl respectively. Dressing percentages ranging from 50.8 to 53.8%

were significantly different. The Prima cuts (loin; 12.0-14.9%, rack; 15.6-18.9%, neck; 10.3-12.1%), liver (7.4-8.1%) and skin (1.5-1.8%) were significantly different. Relative weight of leg, shoulder, head, feet and other organs were not significantly different. The DM (28.0-29.6%), CP (23.7-27.1%), ash (8.8-10.0%), NDF (57.9-71.5%), and ADF (44.1-49.8%) were all significantly influenced by LS. Gas production (17.67-30.07 ml/96 hours), b (16.20-28.00ml), ME (6.09-7.68 MJ/kg DM), OMD (62.9-73.2%) and SCFA (0.48-0.78 mmol) were also significantly influenced by LS.

Cassava tops and Guinea grass ensiled with all additives used, had good silage properties and enhanced nutritive value. Preservation of silages was possible for seven months without loss of nutrients.

Keywords: Cassava tops, Silage additives, Nutritive value Word count: 482

# CERTIFICATION

I certify that this work was carried out by Rachel Temitope, **AYANO**, in the Department of Animal Science, University of Ibadan, Nigeria under my supervision.

Dr. O. J. Babayemi B.Agric. ( Benin), M.Sc., Ph.D. ( Ibadan).

\_\_\_\_\_

# DEDICATION

This work is dedicated to the Almighty God who is able to do exceedingly abundantly above all that we ask or think according to the power that worketh in us.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

To God be the glory great things He had done I will forever be grateful to my creator for spearing my life until this day. I give God the glory, honour and adoration.

My sincere appreciation goes to my supervisor Dr. O. J. Babayemi, who patiently supervised this work through to completion, thank you for your constructive criticism and encouragement. God bless you in Jesus name. I am grateful to Dr Mrs. Babayemi and the children for their supports.

I appreciate my husband Pastor (Dr.) Samuel Binuomote for his care, understanding, prayer, encouragement, financial support and for holding firmly the home front during my unavoidable absence. I am indebted to my children, Praise, Abigail and Timothy for their understanding. I appreciate God in your lives throughout this programme. May God continue to strengthen you in Jesus name.

I acknowledge the unforgettable contribution of my Parent Pa A. T and Mrs Ayano, prayers, moral and financial support. I should not fail in registering my heartfelt appreciation to my sister Mrs Florence Darda and the entire Ayano's family. Also worthy of appreciation is the noteworthy support I got from Mr and Mrs Okekunle and her entire family. To my other siblings-Mr and Mrs Tunde Ayano, Adeolu, Ademola, I appreciate you. I appreciate the support of my in laws: Pa and Ma Binuomote and the entire Family.

To my colleagues, who made study in this Department very interest; Funmilayo Familade, Mrs Alasa (Iya Oyo), Mr Igbekoyi James, Daodu Toyin, Mrs Kenneth, Mr. Nigeria (Saheed Akinsola), Mr Amuda to mention but a few, God be with you all in Jesus name. I appreciate the encouragement of Mrs Gladis Ibihaze, the Lord reward you abundantly.

I cannot forget the contribution of Dr. (Mrs) Otukoya towards the successful completion of this work and the concern shown by the academic and non academic staff of the Department of Animal Science especially, Professors Ologhobo A.D (HOD), Iyayi, E.A, Mrs. Longe, O.G, Akinsoyinu, A.O, Drs Salako, Ogunwole (the PG coordinator), Sokubi, Anurudu, Olusola, Ososanya, Adeyemo, Agboola, Akinyemi, Mr Salau Taofeek, Mrs Omolara, Mr Ayo Odufoye and others. I appreciate Dr Fagbola of the department of Agronomy. Thank you Sir for your encouragement all through. May God bless you. Amen. I also appreciate the support received from the academic and non academic staff of the Department of Animal

Production and Health and Department of Animal Nutrition and Biotechnology of Ladoke Akintola University of Tcehnology, Ogbomoso especially, Professors J. A. Akinlade, A. A. Akingbade, A. A. Odunsi, Drs O A Emiola, O. A. Aderinola, O. O. Ojebiyi, Akande, C O. Olaniyi and others.

I cannot but mention the prayers of the Dream center especially the support and prayer of my father and mother in the Lord, Rev and Rev (Mrs) Olusola Areogun, for their unrelented prayer towards this achievement.

Above all, to God be the glory for my Life.

Rachel Temitope AYANO

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Pages
Title page	i
Abstract	
Certification	
Dedication	v
Acknowledgment	vi
Table of content	viii
List of tables	xiii
CHAPTER ONE:	
1.0 Introduction	1
1.2 Justification of The Study.	4
1.3 General Objective	6
1.3.1 Specific Objectives	6
CHAPTER TWO:	
2.0 Literature Review	7
2.1 West African Dwarf Sheep	7
2.1.2 Nutrient Requirement Of Sheep	7
2.2 Cassava	8
2.2.1 Nutrient Composition Of Cassava Tops	9
2.2.2 Amino Acid Composition	10
2.2.3 Anti-Nutritional Factors In Cassava Foliage	10
1. Cyanogenic Glucosides	10
2. Tannins	11
2.2.4 Productivity Of Cassava Leaves	12
2.2.5 Harvesting	13
2.2.6 Processing And Storage	13
2.2.7 Cassava As Dual-Purpose Crop	14
2.2.8 Potential Of Cassava Foliage As Livestock Feed	14
2.2.8.1 Potential of Cassava Foliage For Ruminants	15
2.2.9 Use Of Cassava In Ruminant Feedings	15
2.2.10 Preservation As Silage	17

2.3 The Guinea Grass	18
2.3.1 The role of Guinea grass as fodder crop	19
2.4 Silage	19
2.4.1 Silage Additives	22
2.4.2 Silage Intakes	24
2.4.3 Production of Silage	24
2.4.4 Phases of Silage Making	25
2.4.5 Evaluating Silage Quality	26
2.4.6 Silage as feed resource	27
2.4.7 Chemical composition of silage based diet fed to sheep	28
2.4.7.2 Effects of feed on growth of ruminants	29
2.4.8 Silage fermentation versus rumen fermentation	29
2.5 In Vitro Gas Production	30
2.6 Methane	31
2.7 Volatile fatty acids	32
2.8 The rumen ecology	33
2.8.1 Characteristics Of Rumen Microorganisms	34
2.8.2 Microbial interactions in the rumen	35
CHAPTER THREE: EXPERIMENT ONE	
3.1Preparation, quality and in vitro fermentation of ensiled cassava	a tops and 37
Guinea grass mixture	
3.2 Materials and methods	38
3.2.1 Experimental site	38
3.2.2 Collection of Cassava tops	38
3.2.3 Collection of Guinea grass	38
3.2.4 Silage additives	38
3.2.5 Experimental layout	38
3.2.6 Silage preparation	39
3.2.7 Determination of silage quality	39
3.2.8 Chemical composition	39
3.2.9 The <i>in vitro</i> gas production technique	40
3.2.10 Acceptability study	41
3.2.11Statistical analysis	41

3.3 RESULTS	42
3.3.2 Chemical composition of ensiled cassava tops and guinea grass mixture	42
3.4 In vitro gas production	46
3.4.1 Incubation of ensiled cassava tops with Guinea grass incubated for 96 Hrs	46
3.4 Discussion	51
3.4.1 Silage quality	51
3.4.2 Chemical composition of silage	52
3.4.3 The <i>in vitro</i> gas production	53
3.4.4 Acceptability study	55
CHAPTER FOUR	
4.0 Effects of Length of Storage on quality and <i>in vitro</i> fermentation of ensiled	56
cassava tops and Guinea grass mixture.	
4.1 Introduction	56
4.2 Materials and methods	57
4.2.1 Sampling of ensiled forage	57
4.2.2 Experimental procedure	57
4.2.3 Chemical Analysis	57
4.2.4 Statistical Analysis	57
4.3 Results	58
4.3.1 Effects of additives and length of storage on the silage characteristics and	58
chemical composition of ensiled cassava tops and guinea grass (main effects)	
4.3.2 Interactions among additives and length of storage on the chemical	
composition of ensiled cassava tops and guinea grass	66
4.3.2.1 Effect of interaction of storage containers and storage length on the dry	
grass	66
4.3.2.2 Effect of interaction of storage containers and storage length on the crude	
fibre and ash contents of ensiled cassava tops and guinea grass	68
extract and neutral detergent fibre contents of ensiled cassava tops and	
guinea grass	70
4.4.1 Effects of additives and length of storage on <i>In vitro</i> gas production of ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass incubated for 96 h (Main effect)	70
4.4.2 Effects of additives and length of storage on <i>In vitro</i> fermentation	12
characteristics of ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass incubated for 96	15
h (Main effects)	

4.3.3 Interactions Among Additives And Length Of Storage On <i>In Vitro</i> Fermentation Characteristics Of Ensiled Cassava Tops And Guinea Grass	78
4.4 Discussion	82
CHAPTER 5	
5.0 Voluntary Intake and Performance of Wad Sheep Fed Ensiled Cassava Top	
And Guinea Grass Mixture.	85
5.1 Introduction	85
5.2 Materials and method	86
5.2.1 Experimental Sites	86
5.2.2 Experimental animals and management	86
5.2.3 Animal feeding	86
5.2.4 Experimental diets:	87
5.2.5 Digestibility trials	87
5.2.6 Chemical analysis	88
5.2.7 Blood collection	88
5.2.8 Statistical analysis	88
5.0 Results	89
5.3 Discussion	97
CHAPTER SIX	
6.0: Carcass evaluation study	103
6.2 Materials and method	104
6.2.1 Experimental Sites	104
6.2.2 Slaughter procedure and carcass evaluation	104
6.2.3 Statistical Analysis	105
6.3 Results	106
6.4 Discussion	111
CHAPTER SEVEN	
7.0 Summary, conclusion and recommendation	113
7.2 Summary	113
7.3 Conclusion	114
7.2 Recommendation	115
Reference	116

# List of tables

Table		Page
1	Effects of additives on colour, texture, smell, temperature and pH of ensiled	
	cassava tops and Guinea grass mixture	43
2	Effects of additives on proximate composition (g/100g DM) of ensiled	45
	cassava tops and Guinea grass mixture	
3	In vitro fermentation parameters of ensiled cassava tops with Guinea grass	48
	incubated for 96 Hrs.	
4	Coefficient of preference of ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass mixture	
	with different additives	50
5	Effects of additives on colour of ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass	
	mixture stored for six months	59
6	Effects of additives on Texture of ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass	
	mixture stored for six months	60
7	Effects of additives on smell of ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass	
	mixture stored for six months	61
8	Chemical composition (%) of ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass mixture	
	with different additives	64
9	Chemical composition of ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass mixtures	
	stored for six months	65
10	Dry Matter and Crude Protein (g/100 g DM) of ensiled cassava tops and	
	Guinea grass mixture as affected by type of additive (A) and Lenght of	67
	Storage (LS, days)	
11	Crude fibre and Ash (g/100 g DM) of ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass	
	mixture as affected by type of additive and Length of Storage (LS, days)	69
12	Ether extract and 0 (g/100 g DM) of ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass	
	mixture as affected by type of additive and Lenght of Storage (LS,days)	71
13	In vitro fermentation characteristics of ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass	
	mixtures with different additives incubated for 96 h	76
14	In vitro fermentation characteristics of ensiled cassava tops and Guinea	
	grass mixtures stored for six months	

15a	Effect of different additives on in vitro fermentation characteristics of	
	ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass mixtures stored for six months	79
15b	Effect of different additives on in vitro fermentation characteristics of ensiled	
	cassava tops and Guinea grass mixtures stored for six months	80
16	Effect of different additives on in vitro fermentation characteristics of ensiled	
	cassava tops and Guinea grass mixtures stored for six months and incubated	81
	for 96h	
17	Performance characteristics of WAD sheep fed on ensiled cassava tops and	
	guinea grass mixture	90
18	Apparent digestibility (%) of ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass mixture	
	by WAD sheep	91
19	Total digestible nutrients by WAD sheep fed on ensiled cassava tops and	
	Guinea grass mixture	93
20	Heamatology of WAD Sheep fed ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass	
	mixture	95
21	Blood biochemistry of WAD Sheep fed ensiled cassava tops and Guinea	
	grass mixture with different additives.	96
22	Carcass measurement in WAD sheep fed ensiled cassava tops and Guinea	
	grass mixture with different additives	108
23	Body weight, carcass, and some wholesale cuts proportion as influenced by	
	ensiled cassaya tops and Guinea grass mixture with different additives	109
24	Percentage of external offal, internal offal and blood as influenced by	
	ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass mixture with different additives	110



# List of Figures

Figure	Page
1 Effects of additives on pH of ensiled cassava tops and	44
Guinea grass mixture	
2 In vitro gas production of ensiled cassava tops and	47
Guinea grass mixture	
3 Methane Production of ensiled cassava tops and Guinea	49
grass mixture	
4 Effect of additives on pH of ensiled cassava tops and	62
Guinea grass mixture	
5 Effect of additives on Temperature of ensiled cassava	63
tops and Guinea grass mixture	
6 In vitro gas production of ensiled cassava tops and	73
Guinea grass mixture with different additives	
7 In vitro gas production of ensiled cassava tops and	74
Guinea grass mixture stored for six months	

#### **CHAPTER ONE**

#### **1.0 INTRODUCTION**

Inadequate feeds during the dry season is a serious problem in many areas where grazing is the main form of feeding for ruminant livestock. This season is noted for lower quantity and quality of grasses, especially in its energy and nitrogen. As a consequence, feed intake declines and animal productivity is curtailed. On the other hand, the rainy season is a period of surplus in terms of feeds for livestock.

Ruminant livestock production is mainly carried out by small holders who are largely dependent on natural forages for their feed resources. Natural forages grow freely along the road and on idle agricultural land. Green forages are plentiful during the rainy season. However, during the dry season, grasses for livestock will become a problem. The tedious daily harvesting of green forages at far distances throughout the year also poses problems for small-scale producers, particularly when family labour is insufficient (Aminah *et al.*, 1999) and cost of hired labour is exorbitant. Fodder conservation is promoted with main objective of ensuring feed availability during periods of feed limitations. The dearth of fresh forages in the dry season in Nigeria and the consequent loss of body weight by ruminants necessitate that farmers embrace the technology of preservation of excess forages obtainable in the wet season to tide over the period of scarcity often experienced in the dry season.

Since grasses alone cannot supply the maintenance needs of the ruminants in the dry season (Adegbola, 1985), there is need for conservation and improvement of the nutritive values of the tropical forages. Excess forages available during the wet season can be conserved as silage to tide over the period of scarcity and prevent the loss in weight of animals associated with this period. The forage to be conserved should be available and in excess of the need of the animal during the wet season.

The low nutritive value of tropical grasses and roughages, commonly available for use in ruminant production systems for the tropics, highlights the need for low-cost supplementation to improve productivity. In this context, tree legumes such as *Luecaena*, *Gliricidia* and *Sesbania* are being promoted as protein supplement for livestock. Astonishingly, despite its availability and high protein content, there was little interest until recently to utilize fresh cassava forage in ruminant feeding. This reluctance is probably related to possibilities of

cyanide toxicity. The potential supplemental protein value of cassava foliage has been documented.

Cassava has been rated as a key crop and a very promising potential feedstuff in quite number of states in Nigeria (PTFAFLF, 1992). Cassava remains one of the most popular locally produced food crops in Nigeria. The recent call by the federal government for increased production and the aggressive export of cassava products have stepped up cassava crop cultivation in Nigeria. Currently Nigeria is the world's largest producer of cassava crop with estimated annual production of 45 million tonnes. The rates of cassava by-products and residues availability were put at 0.035 and 0.045% respectively for cassava and cassava peels. Cassava tuber contains high level of energy and minimal level of crude protein and has been well used as readily fermentable energy in ruminant rations. Cassava is frequently rated low because its roots have low protein content. But unlike the roots that are essentially carbohydrate, cassava leaves are good sources of protein, vitamins which can provide a valuable supplement to the predominantly starchy diets and feeds. Cassava leaves compares favourably with other green vegetable, browse plant (e.g L*eucaena leucocephala, Giliricidia sepium*) generally regarded as good protein sources (Yousuf *et al.*, 2007).

The principal part of the matured cassava plants expressed as a percentage of the whole plant is 6% leaves, 44% stem and 50% root tubers. The roots and leaves of the cassava plant are the two nutritionally valuable parts which offers potentials as a feed resource. The usage of cassava in traditional settings is largely by feeding of fresh or sun dried cassava roots and byproducts to livestock largely reared around homes in cassava processing site.

Cassava has a unique characteristic in that it can be continuously harvested and marketed throughout the year. Cassava roots are the most common part of cassava used as livestock feed by farmers in the villages. Recently several studies have been undertaken in Nigeria and Southeast Africa on the possibility of using cassava leaves /foliages, which is a by-product after root harvesting, as a feed resources for small ruminants (Seng and Rodriguez, 2001; Van *et al.*, 2001;). It contains high crude protein up to 25 % on dry matter (DM) basis, a nutrient which is generally deficient in feeds for livestock in the tropics. Thus, it can potentially be used as a protein source for livestock. AFRIS (2004) reported a crude protein (CP) content of cassava leaves in the range of 22-29 % of dry matter (DM), whereas Seng *et al.*, (2001) showed that the foliage contained 21-24 % CP. Cassava leaves have also been reported to

have high essential amino acid content, comparable to soybean meal. However, cassava leaf production is high during cassava tuber harvest; thus, these are abundantly available only in short periods of time. Feeding such high protein forage as a single feed to ruminants, as commonly practiced by farmers during the season when cassava leaf is abundantly available, is not an efficient feeding practice. This is because the excess protein consumed by ruminants will be excreted mainly in the urine and faeces, and it requires a lot of energy for the animal to metabolize and excrete the excess protein intake in this way (McDonald et al., 1998). Like other forages, cassava leaf cannot stand for long time without any treatment, consequently the excess of cassava leaf are sometimes left in the field underutilized. Ensiling could be a suitable way of preserving the leaves but silage additives should be added to ensure successful fermentation (Pattersson, 1988). This opportunity could solve the problems of feed shortage particularly in the dry season, and at the same time improve feed quality. As silage, the excess cassava leaf available can be stored and utilized for a longer period of time as a protein feed supplement. Hang (1998), Kayouli and Lee (2000), Ly and Rodríguez (2001) reported that silage making is an appropriate method to conserve cassava leaf as feed. Feeding cassava leaf silage has been reported to increase livestock productivity including milk yield (IITA Annual Report 2004, Kavana et al., 2005), body weight gain (Nhi et al., 2001; Bunyeth and Preston, 2006). Preservation of the excess of cassava leaf will maximize and improve the efficiency of the excess cassava leaf utilization as feed. There is therefore the need to consider the effects of ensiling it in mixture with grasses such as Guinea grass (Panicum maximum).

Guinea grass (*Panicum maximum*) is one of the grasses that are abundant and available almost in all parts of the tropics and in almost all ecological zones in Nigeria but scarce in the dry season suggesting the need for conservation. Guinea grass is a tall, vigorous clump forming perennial grass with stems up to 3.5m. It produces high yields of palatable fodder and responds well to manuring but rapidly declines in nutritive values with age (FAO, 2003). However, Guinea grass like any other tropical grass rapidly decline in crude protein and soluble carbohydrate. It increases in crude fiber and lignin which leads to reduction in voluntary intake and digestibility (Bamikole *et al.*, 2004). Ajayi *et. al.* (2008) reported that if grass of any age is effectively managed it can strategically be exploited to ameliorate forage scarcity in the off season. Du Ponte *et al.* (1998) demonstrated that Guinea grass can be successfully ensiled, maintaining nutritive quality and minimal spoilage under tropical climatic conditions.

Silages made from tropical grasses are poor in nutrient because of the low protein content. The production of good quality silage involves making a good balance between carbohydrate and protein content in the raw material. The balance can be obtained by ensiling legumes and grass together. In this way, sufficient fermentable carbohydrate for lactic acid bacteria are provided and simultaneously the protein content of the silage is increased (Assefa and Ledin, 2001; Nayigihuju *et al.*, 2002). In addition, the mixture of legumes and grass will increase biomass yield, crude protein content and the nutritive value of the resultant silage (Assefa and Ledin, 2001; Nayigihuju *et al.*, 2002). Preservation by ensiling can be an appropriate method, but require an anaerobic environment for adequate microbial processes depending on the time of ensiling and storing (Man, 2001). The advantage of this method is that plant materials can be ensiled at any time of the year, even when weather condition are not suitable for sundrying. The ensiling process ensures not only increased length of storage and microbiological safety but also makes most food resources more digestible (Seng and Rodriguez, 2001).

### **1.2 Justification of the study.**

Cassava foliage has long been recognized by researchers in Africa as an appropriate livestock feed and it has been used as an appropriate and cheap feed in many Countries. Cassava offers tremendous potential as cheap source of energy for livestock. Cassava is one of the most drought-tolerant crops and can be successfully grown on marginal soils giving reasonable yield where many other crops do not grow well.

Cassava leaves is a readily available product at the time of harvesting of the roots, cheap to get, less exposed to competition. These leaves a large proportion of cassava leaves and tender stem unutilized after the tuber have been harvested. Surprisingly, large tonnages of these leaves are currently discarded as waste after root harvesting. It has been found to be high in crude protein content with balance amino acid profile, vitamins and minerals. These attributes make cassava leaves a very good substitute for most of the conventional plant protein sources. With the improvement and development of high yielding and stable cassava leaves, higher productivity is being recorded in many African countries with Nigeria becoming the world's leading cassava producers. The increase in cassava production will lead to increase in leaf and roots product and these needs to be matched with diversification of usage of the leaves and roots beyond its traditional role of being a staple food.

Forage conservation during the periods of high forage production is essential. Silage making of forages that are plentiful during the wet season is one of the answers to feed shortages in other parts of the year. Silage is quite moist and usually preferred by livestock to hay as it is more palatable and of higher feed value. The objective of silage making is to preserve forage for the dry season in order to ensure continuous feed for livestock, either to sustain growth, fattening or milk production, or to continue production in difficult period when market prices are high. In the tropical countries, plant growth coincides with the rainy season. However in the rainy season, it is difficult to sun dry and extending the drying period diminishes the nutritional quality of the product. Ensiling would appear to be the more attractive alternative way of conservation when the harvest coincides with the wet season. The organic acid produced during ensiling are similar to those normally produced in the digestive tract of the ruminant and therefore are used in the same manner. Silage making offers an option to secure feed during seasons of high production for conservation and storage for later use in period of relative shortage.

Hay made from cassava leaf and stem was shown to be good feed resource for ruminants, with a high voluntary feed intake of 3.1 % LW and 71 % dry matter digestibility (Wanapat *et al.*, 1997). However, to produce good quality hay from cassava tops requires good weather for drying and special care must be taken to limit the loss of dry leaves. Ensiling could be a suitable way of preserving the leaves but silage additives should be added to ensure successful fermentation when the ensiled material, such as cassava tops has a high content of nitrogen and low concentration of water soluble carbohydrate (Patterson, 1988). Sugar cane molasses a common feed ingredient in the tropics is frequently used as an additive for ensiling tropical forages and improving silage quality. Kavana *et al.*, (2005) reported that cassava leaf silage has the potential of contributing a larger proportion of amino acids for milk synthesis than the maize bran and basal diet fed to lactating crossbred dairy cows. There was also an increase in milk fat percentage after feeding cassava leaf silage.

Cassava forage has been shown to be an excellent source of protein as a direct supplement or in concentrate mixture (Wanapat, 1995). Wanapat (1997) reported that cassava hay contained tannin-protein complex that could provide minimal by-pass protein and this lowered ruminal NH<sub>3</sub>-N and Blood Urea Nitrogen (BUN). Promkot and Wanapat (2003) reported that cassava hay had a content of bypass protein comparable with that in cotton cake. In comparism with Soy-bean meal (SBM) cassava hay has a higher concentration of Rumen Undergradable Protein (RUP) (Wanapat *et al.*, 2000a) and is beneficial because it can supply more total amino acid for absorption in the lower gut. Wanapat *et al.* (2000b) stated that cassava hay could help provide additional VFA necessary for milk synthesis.

The amino acid profile of cassava hay was relatively comparable with soy-bean meal (SBM) (Wanapat, 2003). Lysine, glutamine asparagine and arginine were higher in SBM but in cassava hay methionine was higher. Wanapat *et al.* (2007) clearly demonstrated that as levels of cassava hay to SBM ratio in concentrate linearly increased income over feed. This provides important data that cassava hay can be an alternative source of protein. He concluded that cassava hay as a protein replacement for SBM in concentrate for dairy cow resulted in similar milk yield while milk fat was improved. Increasing levels of cassava hay, SBM in concentrate significantly income over feed.

Many authors reported that ensiling of cassava leaves is an appropriate method to conserve them for dry season feeding (Limon, 1992; Du Thanh Hang 1998, Ly and Rodriguez, 2001). Ensiling has been reported as an effective way of reducing cyanide (HCN) content in cassava (Tewe, 1991; Nguyen Thi Loc *et al.*, 1996).

### 1.3 General objective

To evaluate the silage quality and effects of ensiled cassava top on voluntary intake and growth performances by the West African dwarf sheep.

# 1.3.1 Specific Objectives

- $\checkmark$  To determine the proximate composition of the ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass.
- $\checkmark$  To determine the keeping quality and nutritive value of ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass mixtures.
- ✓ To assess the effects of ensiled cassava top and Guinea grass mixtures on the intake, growth and digestibility of WAD Sheep.
- ✓ To assess the effects of ensiled cassava top and Guinea grass mixtures on haematological and carcass characteristics of WAD Sheep

#### **CHAPTER TWO**

#### 2.0 LITERATURE REVIEW

#### 2.1 WEST AFRICAN DWARF SHEEP

The West African dwarf sheep is a predominant breed of the sub humid tropics from southern West Africa through central Africa. Their colour is generally black piebald on white. The males are horned while the females are polled. Adult male weigh approximately 37kg. They have well developed throat ruff and are horned. Adult Ewes weigh about 25kg and can be bred at the age of 7 to 8 months. They tend to have short lambing interval of about 5 months. The prolificacy of adult ewes is low to moderate ranging from 1.15 to 1.50 lambs per lambing at less than 100kg per day with good feed conditions. The West African Sheep are indigenous to Nigeria and have long adapted to extreme weather conditions of nutrition, climate and diseases and might be more productive in their own environment than exotic breeds. Nigeria has basically four definite breeds of Sheep which are West African Dwarf Sheep, Balami(BAL), Yankasa and Uda(UD) (Olufunmilayo, et al., 2000). The WAD Sheep is a small breed but not small in the genetic sense. The dwarf are physically weak and poor whereas the Sheep of West Africa has notable physical and sexual vigour and fitness that enable them to withstand the stress of the climate, disease and irregular feeding (Charray et al., 1992). WAD Sheep are tolerant to trypanosomiasis and other diseases allowing them to be grazing on land not available to other domestic livestock (Okoli et al., 2005). They also help balance the energy and protein supply during normal variation between seasons and years. WAD Sheep appears to withstand drought better than cattle. The WAD Sheep is the most prolific of all the domesticated ruminants' under tropical and subtropical conditions and are able to breed throughout the year. They have potential of converting plant materials to high quality animal protein (Kwamme, 2001).

WAD Sheep in the tropics is constrained by the following factors: Low genetic potentials; Seasonality of availability of feed and scarce water resources; High ambient temperature and Mortality. Odeyinka and Okunade (2005) stated that other constraints to indigenous small ruminant production in the tropics include diseases, accidents, seasonality of feed supply and theft

### **2.1.2 NUTRIENT REQUIREMENTS OF SHEEP**

Nutrients of primary importance in sheep nutrition are water, energy, protein, minerals and vitamins. Clean fresh water should be supplied to livestock because adequate water consumption increase feed and forage intake thereby enhancing good performance.

The water requirement of sheep increases when temperature rises (Rodney, 2001). The crude protein content of tropical pasture varies with age, part of the plant and the species of the plant, however, ruminants have the ability to convert low quality protein sources to high quality protein by bacteria action. They have the potential of converting plant materials to high quality animal protein (Kwamme, 2001). Proteins are essential nutrients for growth and repair of worn-out tissues. A growing sheep requires 14% CP (McDonald *et al.*, 1991). The amount of protein required by sheep depends on the functions performed by the animal and its physiological state.

The protein available for digestion in the small intestine consists of microbial protein and dietary protein that has escaped microbial breakdown in the rumen (Rodney, 2001). The performance of sheep is limited when energy supply in the feed consumed is insufficient. Pregnant and lactating ewes require a substantial amount of energy in their diet for optimum performance and efficient production (Rodney, 2001). Some micro-elements which are not essential to plant growth such as sodium and cobalt are critical to animal performances. Even the major nutrients such as phosphorus, potassium, nitrogen and calcium will affect production in animals if they are low in fodder plant (Aminah and Chen, 1990). The mineral content of forages exhibit variations depending on plant species, soil types, stage of maturity and level of fertilization. Under normal grazing situation the minerals that are most likely to be deficient are salt (sodium chloride) and phosphorus while the minerals that are normally provided in sufficient amount in natural feedstuffs include potassium, copper manganese, iron and magnesium (Rodney, 2001).

#### 2.2 Cassava

Cassava (*Manihot esculenta, crantz*) is an annual tuber crop grown widely in the tropics and subtropics. Cassava is an all season crop grown as food in several parts of Africa, Asia and Latin America (Longe, 1980; Rosling, 1987; Bradbury *et al.*, 1991). It can easily thrive in sandy-loam soil with low organic matter, receiving low rainfall and high temperature. It is a cash crop cultivated by small-holder farmers within the existing farming systems in many countries. Cassava is used mostly as a source of food for man and his animal. Its leaves when collected at harvest time, contained high level of protein and could be used as a protein supplement in ruminant. Cassava has been rated as a key crop and a very promising potential feedstuff in quite number of states in Nigeria (PTFAFLF, 1992).

Nigerian cassava production is the largest in the world; a third more than its production in Brazil and almost double the production of Indonesia and Thailand. Cassava production in other African countries, the Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ghana, Madagascar, Mozambique, Tanzania and Uganda appears small in comparison to Nigeria's substantial output.

# 2.2.1 Nutrient composition of cassava tops

Cassava leaves contain an average of 21% crude protein, but values ranging from 16.7 to 39.9% have been reported (Ravindran, 1991). Cassava leaves contain an average of 210 g/Kg<sup>-1</sup> crude protein but values ranging from 147 to 400 gKg<sup>-1</sup> have been reported according to Lancaster and Brooks (1983). Cassava leaves contain high level of crude protein (25%) some of which can apparently by-pass the rumen since it is in the form of tanin-protein complex (Wanapat, 1995). This improves protein nutrition by binding to plant protein in the rumen so preventing microbial degradation and increasing amino acid flow to the duodenum (Wanapat, 2007). In addition, Ravindran and Ravindran (1988) found that the crude protein content decreased from 38.1% in very young leaves to 19.7% in matured leaves. Although cassava leaves are rich in protein, they are also high in fibre content. This factor (high fibre content) may limit their nutritive value for monogastric animals especially poultry. The major factor that determines the fibre content of cassava leaves which is also common with other plant material is their stage of maturity, very young leaves contain only 8.3% crude fibre, but this increases to over 26% in mature leaves (Ravindran and Ravindran, 1988). Another factor which is sampling procedures, such as the inclusion of petioles, influences the fibre levels in cassava leaf content. Ravindran (1985) reported that fibre content in mature leaves could be lowered to about 17% by discarding the petioles during meal preparation. This wide variability is related to differences in cultivars, stage of maturity, sampling procedure, soil fertility and climate.

Cassava leaves are good sources of minerals. They are particularly rich in Calcium, Magnesium, Iron, Manganese and Zinc (Ravindran, 1991). Cassava leaves are also rich in ascorbic acid, vitamin A and contain significant amount of riboflavin. But considerable losses of vitamins, particularly of ascorbic acid occur during processing. Cassava foliage meal contains as high as 56,000IU of vitamin A when compared with 14,2000IU in Alfalfa meal, 66IU ground yellow maize and 264IU in flour. This high content of vitamin A is significant in the pigmentation of egg yolk and skin of poultry (Ravindran, 1991).

#### 2.2.2 Amino acid composition

Cassava leaf with its high content has adequate amino acid profile is deficient in methionine, possibly marginal in trytophan, but rich in lysine (Eggum, 1970). Some variation in the amino acid content of leaves has been reported and may be attributed to difference in stage of leaf maturity, sampling procedures, analytical methods and ecological conditions. The changes in amino acid composition in relation to maturity of leaves have been studied by Ravindran and Ravindran (1988). As the leaves mature, the general trend was for the amino acid concentrations to decrease. Of the essential amino acid, lysine and histidine showed the greatest decrease. The essential amino acid profile of cassava leaf meal compared favourably with that of alfalfa meal (Allen, 1984; Ravindran and Ravindran, 1988).

#### 2.2.3 Anti-nutritional factors in cassava foliage

#### 1. Cyanogenic Glucosides

Hydrocyanic acid is considered as an anti-nutritional factor that is released when fresh cassava foliage is fed to animals. Both leaves and roots of cassava contain HCN. The cyanide content of cassava leaves has been extensively studied. The normal range of cyanide content is from 20 to 80mg HCN per 100g fresh leaf weight, but samples containing as low as 8mg/1100g or over 400mg/1100g have also been reported. On dry basis (assuming 25% Dm in fresh leaves), the normal range of HCN content would correspond to 800 to 33200mg/kg. These leaves are substantially higher than the normal range of HCN reported for fresh cassava roots (Ravindran, 1991).

The HCN concentration, produced after the action of hydrolytic enzymes occurring in the plant on the cyanogenic glycosides, is influenced by the nutritional status and age of the plant (Ravindran and Ravindran 1988). As in other cyanogenic plants, the glycoside concentration in cassava leaves decrease with age (Lutaladio *et al.*, 1984). Cyanide levels in the leaves are also influenced by the nutritional status of plant. The concentration of the glycosides normal range of cyanoglucosides content in fresh roots is from 15-400 ppm calculated as fresh weight but occasionally varieties with very low HCN content of 10 mg/kg or very high item content of 200 mg/kg have been reported.

The HCN contain of fresh cassava varied from 125 to 854 mg/kg fresh basic (Chew 1972; Ravindran 1991; Wanapat *et al.*, 2000a; Ngo Tien Dzung 2003; Murugueswari *et al.*, 2006).

The wide variations observed in leaf cyanide levels may be attributed to genetic, physiological, edaphic and climatic differences, but have been exaggerated by problems associated with methodology of cyanide assay. Stages of leaf maturity are perhaps a major factor causing variations in the cyanide assay. Variation is also due to variety and management of cassava foliage. The bitterness in cassava leaves is also related to the presence of cyanogenic glucosides. Cadavid *et al.* (1998) reported that supplying N, P and K fertilizer to cassava significantly increased root and top biomass and reduced root HCN content. De Bruijn (1973) found that leaves produced during drought were reported to have high cyanide content. There are techniques to reduce HCN levels in both leaves and roots such as wilting, ensiling, sun drying, and boiling to make then safe for use as food for humans and animals (Ravindran 1991; Wanapat, *et al.*, 1997; Khieu 2005, Murugeswari *et al.*, 2006).

Cassava's food value is greatly compromised by the endogenous presence of cyanide glucosides. The glucosides, typified by Linamarin and Lotaustralin are hydrolyzed to hydrocyanic acid (HCN) by endogenous Linamarase when cassava tissues are disrupted by cutting, grating, cruising or other mechanical means (Bradbury and Hollyway, 1988). Therefore processing must seek to reduce the cyanide in cassava before use. Various processing methods have been used to reduce the cyanide content in cassava effectively, for example; grating, sun drying, boiling and fermenting can reduce cyanide considerably. Drastic decrease in the level of cyanide after ensiling implies that ensiling is an effective way of reducing HCN in cassava leaves and roots before feeding to dairy animal (Kavana *et al.*,2005).

#### 2. Tannins

The presence and role of condensed tannins in cassava leaves was discussed by Reed *et al.* (1982). Tannins in cassava leaves have been shown to increase with maturity (Gomez and Valdivieso 1984; Ravindran and Ravindran 1988) and also to vary between cultivars (Padamaja 1989). It was reported that tannin content in fresh cassava leaves varied from 30 to 50 g/kg DM (Ravindran 1993) and from 32.6 to 43 mg/kg in sun-dried cassava leaves (Wanapat 2003; Netpana *et al.*, 2001). This range of tannin levels has been explained as being beneficial to ruminants, as it enhances the use of the protein as well as playing an anthelminthic role for the control of nematode parasites (Barry and McNabb, 1999; Butter *et al.*, 2001). The reported values for tannins in cassava leaves, however, are smaller or lower

than those of most plant leaves, including alfalfa, and are within safe limits if judiciously used for animal feeding.

A similar range of CTs was reported in fresh cassava top (31.4 g/kg) (Khang and Wiktorsson, 2004), in fresh cassava leaves (41.5 g/kg) (Seng and Preston, 2003), as well as in cassava hay from Vietnam (23.0 g/kg) (Dung *et al.*, 2005), and Thailand (40.0 g/kg) (Granum *et al.*, 2002). López *et al.* (2004) analysed different compounds of CT in some humid tropical fodder crops and showed that cassava forage contained 53.5 g/kg free CT, 9.3 g/kg bound to protein, 18.8 g/kg bound to fibre, and totally 81.6 g/kg.

They are capable of forming indigestible complexes with protein, thus increasing the amino acid requirements of animals fed diets containing cassava leaf meal. The condensed tannins can improve protein nutrition by binding to plant protein in the rumen so preventing microbial degradation and decreasing amino acid flow to the duodenum (Wanapat, 2001).

Condensed tannins contained in the forage has the potential to help control anthelmintic resistant gastro intestinal parasite (GIP). Numerous studies have shown the potentials of the tannin content in cassava leaves to play an anthelminthic role for the control of nematode parasites in ruminants (Seng and Preston 2003; Neptpana *et al.*, 2001; Le and Doung , 2005).

# 2.2.4 Productivity of Cassava Leaves

The potential yield of cassava leaves varies considerably, depending on cultivar, age of plant, plant density, soil fertility, harvesting frequency and climate. Leaf yield may also be related to agronomic, climate and soil fertility differences.

The leaf Dry matter (DM) yields are generally lower, if cassava leaves are to be obtained as a by-product at root harvest. Gomez and Valdivieso (1984) evaluating two 12-month cultivars, reported the leaf DM yields at root maturity to be only 1.2-1.8t/ha. In contrast, Ravindran and Rajaguru (1988) obtained a much higher leaf DM yields of 4.64t/ha. The higher yields in the latter study may be related to agronomic, climatic and soil fertility differences. Leaf production can be enhanced by harvesting cassava leaves during the growing season, but this would adversely affect root yields. However, several studies now have demonstrated that it is possible to harvest cassava leaves while maintaining acceptable yields of roots.

Ravindran and Rajaguru (1988) harvested 6.75 tonnes Kg DM/ha by defoliating once during a seven-month growing season and obtained within 86% of the normal yields of roots. Dahniya *et al.*, (1981) recommended a harvesting frequency of two to three months, starting from 4 months for best all-round yields in 12month cultivars. FAO (1998) reported that with practices directed towards harvesting of foliage up to 6 tonnes of crude protein can be obtained per hectare per year.

#### 2.2.5 Harvesting

The appropriate harvesting method under the current practice of small scale cassava production is to manually harvest the foliage by stem pruning. The foliage including tender stems could be wilted, chopped and used directly for ruminant feeding. Alternatively, the leaves could be stripped, dried and ground into a meal. However, if large scale foliage production is envisaged, development of a mechanical harvesting device could be desirable.

# 2.2.6 Processing and Storage

The existence of cyanogenic glycosides has made some form of processing a pre-requisite for the use of cassava leaves in animal feeding. Several studies have demonstrated that it is possible to produce cassava leaf meal (CLM) with low cyanide levels (Gomez and Valdivieso, 1985; Ravindran *et al.*, 1987). Simple sun-drying alone eliminates almost 90% of the initial cyanide content when combined with chopping and wilting, cyanide in the dried meal was reduced to levels which are safer for monogastric animals. This reduction is due to the action of endogenous linamarase on glycosides following loss of cell integrity (wilting) or tissue damage (chopping). The free tannin contents of cassava leaves are also considerably lowered during drying.

A simple procedure of processing cassava leaf meal is outlined below:

1. **Chopping:** Leaves are chopped manually 1aqor by means of a mechanical chopper. Leaves may also be bruised instead of chopping. Chopping not only increases cyanide elimination, but shortens the drying time.

2. Wilting: Leaves can be wilted by spreading out in shade or in a room with cross-ventilation. Duration of wilting may vary from few hours to few days. Leaves must be turned over regularly to avoid fermentation and mould formation.

3. **Drying**-Wilted leaves should be uniformly distributed in the drying floor and turned over as necessary. Once 12% moisture level is reached, the dry leaves can be preserved

either in the form of leaf meal or pellets. Processing has little influence on the crude protein content of the leaf meal. Chopping of leaves however has been reported to cause slight reduction in the protein content (Ravindran *et al.*, 1987).

CLM has excellent storage qualities from preliminary investigation. There was no mould or insect infestation even after 8months of storage, interestingly, the cyanide content declines during storage, but a gradual decline in the crude protein content was also observed (Ravindran *et al.*, 1987). Traditionally, cassava is fed to sheep and goats in the tropics and it can constitute 20-40 percent of compound livestock feeds especially in poultry and pigs with considerable reduction in production costs.

#### 2.2.7 Cassava as dual-purpose crop

Cassava is a tuber crop grown widely in tropical and sub-tropical area. Cassava has been given considerable attention by a number of research institutes in developing countries because it is easy to grow and can survive on soils with poor fertility, where other crops would fail (Howeler and Cadavid 1990). It survives in soils with prolonged water deficit (Alves and Setter 2000; Wanapat *et al.*, 1997) and is tolerant to acidity (Cock and Howeler, 1978). It has high level of energy from roots and protein from the leaves, which both can be used for human and animal food. In addition, the recent work by Miech (2005), showed that stems can be used as fuel in a gasifier to generate electricity. The main product of mature cassava plant (at 12 months after planting), expressed as percentage of the whole part, were estimated as 6% leaves, 44% stems, and 50% tubers (Devendra, 1977). Cassava can be managed as a semi-perennial forage crop with high yields of fresh foliage of up to 20 tonnes/ha/harvest (Preston et al., 2000) with repeated harvesting at 2-3 month intervals. However, this practice affects roots yield and a lower yield of stem in case of using them for gasification. Other options commonly practiced are to cultivate cassava for root production by collecting leaves when harvesting root. Gomez and Valdivieso (1984) reported that leaf dry matter yields at root harvesting were from 1.2 to 1.8 tonnes/ha.

# 2.2.8 Potential of cassava foliage as livestock feed

Considerable progress has been made in the use of cassava leaves as protein supplement in livestock feed (Wanapat, 2003). Beside the root, each hectare of cassava produces a large amount of leaves. The potential yield of cassava leaves varies depending on cultivar, soil fertility and climate. Cassava leaves, the residue after harvesting the root account for between

2500 - 3000 kg, from which 600 - 800kg meal per hectare can be produced (Duong *et al.*, 1997)

#### 2.2.8.1 Potential of cassava foliage for ruminants

Feeding fresh cassava foliage to cattle and goats did not show any effect of toxicity from HCN or tannin, when the cassava was managed as semi perennial forage with repeated harvests at 50-80 day interval under fertilization (Seng *et al.*, 2001; Seng and Rodriguez 2001; Theng *et al.*, 2003). In fattening cattle, Ffoulkes and Preston (1978) reported that the fresh foliage could be used as the sole source of protein and fibre for supplementing a liquid diet of molasses-urea, supporting growth rates of more than 800 g/day in fattening cattle. Similarly, Seng *et al.*, (2001) reported that when fresh cassava foliage was given to local "Yellow" cattle fed rice straw and rumen supplement, the daily weight gain increased from 210 to 302g/day while Le and Doung (2005) reported that increasing levels of fresh cassava foliage increased total DM intake and rate of live weight gain from 138 to 160 g/day.

In Thailand, cassava hay has been successfully used for dairy cattle to improve milk yield and quality and reduce the need of concentrates (Wanapat 2001). Promkot and Wanapat (2003) estimated that cassava hay has a similar content of rumen undegradable protein as cottonseed meal (considered to be one of the best sources of bypass protein according to Preston and Leng, 1987). Chanjula *et al.* (2004) reported that increasing the level of cassava hay as a roughage source could enhance rumen ecology by increasing cellulolytic and proteolytic bacterial populations and fungal zoospores while the protozoal population was decreased.

Keo Sath *et al.* (2007b) reported that increasing levels of sun dried cassava foliage led to significant increases in total dry matter intake and daily weight gain of cattle fed untreated rice straw and a rumen supplement. Daily weight gain increased from 201 to 402 g/day and feed conversion was better with increasing levels of protein from sun-dried cassava foliage in the diet. The responses were linear over the range of cassava crude protein intakes from 0 to 1.6 g crude protein/kg live weight.

#### **2.2.9** Use of cassava in ruminant feedings

**Cassava foliage (leaves and stems):** Leng and Preston (1976) suggested that ruminant feeding systems based on poor quality tropical foliages, crop residues or agro industrial by-products, in which protein is one of the first limiting factors, may require additional protein and roughage to maintain an efficient rumen ecosystem that will stimulate nutrient intake and improve animal performance.

Several authors subsequently showed that cassava foliage could efficiently serve as a protein and roughage supplement to such diets. Moore (1976) demonstrated the feed value of cassava foliage for ruminants in a trial in which steers weighing 250 kg were fed *Pennisetum purpureum* with varying levels of cassava foliage. Feed intake, growth rate, and feed efficiency were improved in diets containing cassava foliage supplements. Another set of steers fed on a basal diet of chopped sugarcane supplemented with cottonseed cake, cassava foliage or *Desmondium distrotium* foliage showed respectively, similar growth rates of 0.66, 0.62 and 0.58 kg/day.

More recently, Smith *et al.* (1988) compared the rumen degradability of some foliages in cattle and goats. In all these ruminants a similarly high 48-hour degradability of 84.3% for cassava leaves was obtained which was higher than the degradability for *Leucaena leucocephala, Gliricidia sepium*, bamboo and oil palm leaves. Cassava foliage is thus a valuable feed material for ruminants. Fresh cassava foliage is a satisfactory protein supplement, but it should be wilted before feeding and prudently used for good results. Wilting not only lowers potential cyanide toxicity, but also reduces the free tannin levels and improves its acceptability to animals. The supplementation value of cassava foliage is comparable to those reported for tropical tree legumes (Johnson and Dajanagare, 1989). No adverse effects on performance have been reported even when higher leaves of wilted cassava foliage were offered to goats and sheep.

Cassava leaves have in vitro organic matter digestibility (IOMD) values of 44.9-78.7% (Onwuka *et al.*, 1989). Smith *et al.* (1988) showed that cassava leaves have high 48hours rumen degradability value thus making it a valuable food material for goats. Cassava leaves as sole feed may not be efficiently utilized (Onwuka, 1983) supplementing the leaves with energy sources did put the goats in positive balance and weight of 10-100g/d were obtained (Onwuka, 1983; Ahamefule *et al.*, 2000). Alli-Balogun *et al.* (2003) fed 1.0% and 1.5% of body weight equivalent of cassava to Yankasa sheep as supplement to Gamba grass and recorded weight gain of 39.2-41.2g/d. The leaves and petiole of the local variety of cassava were dried for 7days. DM intake, ME intake, growth rate and nitrogen utilization improved with increasing levels of cassava peels supplementation of the leaves (Onwuka and Akinsoyinu, 1989).

Wanapat *et al.* (2007) clearly demonstrated that increasing levels of cassava hay to soy-bean meal (SBM) ration in concentrate diet linearly increased income over feed thus resulted in more milk income. This provides important data that cassava hay can be an alternative

source of protein replacing SBM in concentrate for a sustainable dairy production in the tropics. As reported by Wanapat and Khampa (2006), cassava hay is important as a protein and also as an anthelmintic in ruminants.

In the FAO Tropical Feeds Database (FAO, 1998), it is stated that cassava leaf meal can be mixed in concentrates for lactating cows at up to 35% without any harmful effect. Hay made from cassava and stem was shown to be a good feed resource for ruminants, with a high voluntary feed intake (3.1% of LW) and dry matter digestibility (71%) (Wanapat *et al.*, 1997). Additional VFA necessary for milk fat synthesis were provided by cassava hay (Wanapat *et al.*, 2000b).

#### 2.2.10 Preservation as silage

Ensiling is one among several techniques recommended for practical conditions to preserve the quality of feed materials during periods of excess yield production (McDonald *et al.*, 1991). An advantage of this method is that plant materials can be preserved at any time of the year; even when weather conditions are not suitable for sun-drying. The ensiling process ensures not only increased storage length and microbiological safety, but it also makes most food resources more digestible (Caplice and Fitzgerald, 1999). It has also been shown that fermentation of cassava leaf and foliage reduces toxicity levels of HCN (Chhay et al., 2001; Sokerya et al., 2009). Tropical crops/grasses often have low levels of fermentable carbohydrates compared to temperate forage crops (Catchpoole and Henzell, 1971). Additives are being recommended to improve fermentation and nutritive value of silages, and 4 to 5 % of molasses was suggested to be used (Henderson, 1993), as well as in tropical crops/grasses of low DM content. In the case of Cambodia 5 % sugar palm syrup has been used in the preparation of silage from cassava leaves (Chhay et al., 2001). Besides easily fermentable ingredients such as sugar or molasses, grains and processed by-products such as maize or sorghum meal, rice bran and cassava meal can also be used as silage additives to provide a fermentable substrate (Mühlbach, 1999). It was shown by Phuc et al. (2000), that a pH of about 4 would normally have preserved the silage materials satisfactorily.

#### 2.3 The Guinea grass

Guinea grass is a topical Africa pasture plant, predominant in the West Africa region especially in Nigeria. It grows widely in Nigeria due to its ease of establishment either by seeds or vegetable propagation (Bamikole *et al.*, 2004a; Ajayi *et al.*, 2008).

Guinea grass (*Panicum maximum*) is one of the grasses that are abundant and available in all the ecological zones in Nigeria especially the derived savannah region and can be conserved for dry season feeding. Guinea Grass is probably the most valuable grazing grass in its area of distribution. It is particularly palatable, delivers a high leaf production and usually occurs in abundance in good veld. The spikelets are very popular amongst seed-eating birds. Guinea grass is used as forage for beef production. It is used as cultivated grass both for silage and hay (Akenova and Mohammed Salami, 1985; Du Ponte *et al.*, 1998).

Under good condition, its nutritional value is high having up to 12.5% crude protein, total digestible nutrient (TDN) of 10.2% and calcium phosphorus and magnesium (Agishi, 1985; Akenova and Mohammed Salami, 1985; MC Donald *et al.*, 1998)

Holm *et al.* (1977) and Whiteman (1980) stated that guinea grass is drought resistant because of the massive fibrous roots system. Although it is adapted to a wide-range of edaphic condition, it performs best in well drained light-textured (sandy, loamy or sandy clay) soil as it is susceptible to water logging. Paez and Gonzalez, (1995) indicate the ability to withstand temperature in the range of 38-40 °C. Burning does not cause long term damage as the grassregion as well after being swept by fire. It tolerates annual temperature of 12.2 to 27.8 °C, annual precipitation of 6.4 to 42.9 and pH of 4.3 to 8.4. It grows naturally in pen grassland.

Guinea grass is more slender smaller with tiner leaves. It is tall range from (0.5 - 4.5m) vigorous tufted perennial plant with culms mostly erect often robust glabrous to pubescent. Leaves are linear to linear-lanceotate (flat), bright green, 15-100cm and 5.3cm wide with 3-7 whorled however branches. Spikelet 3-4mm long. Inflorescence is a large muti-branched open panicle. Guinea grass can be cut when it is 60-90cm tall to achieve a high nutritive value but for higher yields, it can be harvested when it is 1.5m tall (Humphreys and Patridge, 1995; Aganga and Tshwenyane, 2004). Guinea grass is highest in caloric and protein content at heading stage and, for regrowth; it can be cut after 4-5 weeks (Jianxin, 2002). However, guinea grass like any tropical grass rapidly decline in crude protein and soluble carbohydrate. It increases in crude fiber and lignin which leads to reduction in voluntary intake and digestibility (Bamikole *et al.*, 2004a). Ajayi *et al.* (2008) reported that if grass of any age is effectively managed, it can strategically be exploited to ameliorate forage scarcity in the off season.

#### 2.3.1 The role of Guinea grass as fodder crop

Guinea grass (*Panicum maximum*) is one of the grasses that are abundant and available in all the ecological zones in Nigeria and can be conserved for dry season feeding. Guinea Grass is probably the most valuable grazing grass in its area of distribution. It is particularly palatable, delivers a high leaf production and usually occurs in abundance in good veld. The spikelets are very popular amongst seed-eating birds. Guinea grass is used as forage for beef production. It is used as cultivated grass both for silage and hay.

Du Ponte *et al.* (1998) demonstrated that guinea grass can be successfully ensiled, maintaining nutritive quality and minimal spoilage under Hawaiian climatic conditions. They observed that the silage pH of all treatments dropped rapidly from day 0 (average pH: 5.67) to day 5 (average pH: 5.05) and continued to decline through day 30 (average pH: 4.69) of the ensiling process. They observed that silage production can be effectively integrated with pasture management in the dairy industry.

#### 2.4 Silage

Silage is the material produced by controlled fermentation of a crop, retaining high moisture content. Its preservation is by means of an acidic fermentation of the sugars present in the forage by bacteria that grows on the herbage or by direct addition of acids or other preservatives. The common methods of preparing silage do not increase the nutritive value of a crop they only attempt to conserve what was available in growing plant when it was harvested (Mc Donald *et al.*, 1998).

The first essential objective in preserving crops by natural fermentation is the achievement of anaerobic condition. This is done by chopping the harvested crops, rapid filling of the silo and by adequate consolidation and sealing. Chopping facilitates compaction and thus reaching anaerobic stage, when most oxygen is removed, Clostridial growth is hampered and lactic acid fermentation is encouraged (Mc Donald *et al.*, 1991; Mc Donald *et al.*, 1998). Chopping releases plant juices stimulating the growth of lactic acid bacteria. Plant sugars produce the primary substrates for the lactic acid producing bacteria. It may increase silage intake by improving quality of fermentation and accelerating rate of passage of feed particle

through the rumen. However, very fine chopped silage reduces the rumination and may decrease milk fat content. Sealing helps to prevent re-entry and circulation of air during storage so as to minimise the loss of nutrients by respiration. When oxygen is in contact with herbage for any period of time, aerobic microbial activity occur and the material decay to a useless inedible and frequently toxic product. Secondly, is to discourage the activities of undesirable micro organisms such as clostridia and entero-bacteria which produce objectionable fermentation products. The desirable lactic acid producing bacterial constitute only a small percentage of the total plant micro-flora prior to fermentation. During fermentation process lactic and acetic acid forming bacteria grow exponentially and become the predominant micro-flora. Encouraging the growth of lactic acid bacteria or use of chemical additives helps to inhibit these other micro organisms. Lactic acid bacterial ferment the naturally occurring sugars (mainly glucose and fructose) in the crop to a mixture of acid but predominantly lactic acid. The level of lactic acid in the silage depends on the sugar level of the plant at cutting, the degree of wilting, the quality of sealing and the preservation. Silage with a restricted fermentation will tend to have lower levels reflect dominance of lactobacillus fermentation. The lactic acid produced increases the hydrogen ion concentration to a level at which undesirable bacteria is inhibited. The exact critical pH at which inhibition occurs varies with dry matter content and the buffering capacity of the crop ensiled (Mc Donald et al., 1998). Special attention and care need to be taken with regard to DM content. The correct DM content in the plant before ensiling is an important factor for the fermentation to succeed. Unexpected weather (dry, wet or hot) can damage the crop and increase losses (Mc Donald et al., 1998).

Wilting of silage crop before ensiling helps to reduce the risk of adverse fermentation and produces higher dry matter silage with 50-65% moisture content (Van Soest, 1994; Mc Donald *et al.*, 1998). Wilting the forage before ensiling is recommended as a means of increasing dry matter content, the WSC on fresh weight basis and reducing losses from effluent and undesired fermentation (Humphreys, 1991, Nussio, 2005). Thus, if well managed often produces a more palatable feed than directly cut silage.

Quality of silage fermentation is influenced by several factors including; moisture water soluble carbohydrate content of the material degree of compaction and effectiveness of final sealing. The nutritional value of the silage produced depends firstly upon the species and stage of growth and secondly upon the changes resulting from the activities of plant enzymes

and micro-organism during the harvesting and storage periods. The ensiled material passed through a sequential fermentation. The first stage of which involves the death of plant tissues and rapid exhaustion of oxygen followed by proliferation of bacteria and the development of an acid fermentation (Mc Donald *et al.*, 1991). Further, fermentation depends on the composition of the forage, the pH attained and the availability of oxygen and water. The best silages are those in which the original forage composition is least altered. Ensiling poor quality forages will not improve forage quality. Good preservation by fermentation depends on the production of lactic acid to stabilize the silage at a low pH, which in turn depends on an adequate supply of sugar to produce sufficient fermentation acids to overcome the potential buffering capacity of the forage.

The most important factor affecting silage quality is the availability of oxygen which promotes respiration, moulding, consequently heating and maillard reactions. This heat can lead to spontaneous combustion. The major variable affecting oxygen availability is packing density and the permeability of the walls of the silo. The rate of oxygen diffusion is a function of the permeability of the silo walls: the more the permeability, the more the dry matter loss and heating. Heat production within a silo is also significantly affected by the thermodynamics of the structure which involves solar radiation and colour of cover. Larger masses are prone to heating because there is less surface for radiation losses. (Van soest, 1994)

Losses in feed energy through the ensiling process occur in several ways: through initial plant respiration; anaerobic fermentation; aerobic decomposition particularly at surfaces; and effluent loss, especially in high moisture direct –cut-silage. For a crop to be suitable for making silage, it must contain adequate level of fermentable substrate in the form of Water Soluble Carbohydrate (WSC). It should have a relatively low buffering capacity and should have dry matter (DM) content in the fresh crop above 200g/kg. It should also ideally possess a physical structure which will allow it to compact readily in the silo or pit after harvesting. However, for crops that do not fulfill these requirements, pre treatments such as field wilting, fine chopping or the use of additives may be necessary. Silage making is useful only if the ensiled product is of good quality (well preserved with high digestibility and protein concentrate). The main prerequites for ensilable forage are that it should contain enough sugars for fermentation. The material to be ensiled should be easily compactable and covered

to exclude air. If the material is of adequate quality in sugars, molasses or another source of sugar may be added (t'Mannetje, 1999).

The purpose of ensiling grass is to preserve and minimise the loss of nutrients thus improving silage feeding value. Silage additives are used to enhance the ensiling process, which can result in improvements in animal performance, milk quantity and quality, body condition and fertility. Altering the fermentation process without quantifiable improvements in one or more of these categories is of minimal benefit

#### 2.4.1 Silage additives

Silage additives can be used in order to enhance silage fermentation and their nutritional quality. They are classified according to their function: fermentation stimulants, fermentation inhibitors, aerobic deterioration inhibitors, nutrients and absorbents (McDonald *et al.*, 1991). Additives should be used according to needs and silage properties. It should be emphasized that additives can improve silage quality and minimize losses, but cannot compensate for poor silage making and management.

Silage additives include feedstuffs, urea, ammonia, inoculants and acids. Their main functions are to either increase nutritional value of silage or improve fermentation so that storage losses are reduced. Response to additives depends on the species of forage that is being ensiled. Many different silage additives are available and are used for different reasons. Additives are used to improve nutrient composition of silage, to reduce storage losses by promoting rapid fermentation, to reduce fermentation losses by limiting extent of fermentation, and to improve bulk life of silage (increase aerobic stability).

It is controversial to what extent starch is an available substrate for LAB (Woolford, 1984). Jones (1988) recovered 100 and 90% of starch from barley and oats, respectively, added at the ensilage of ryegrass, attributing an improved fermentation to the substrate available from 3 to 4% of soluble carbohydrates or from fractions such as  $\beta$ -glucan contained in the cereals, and not to a hydrolysis of starch.

The effects of adding molasses (5% w/w) or ground maize (5% and 10% w/w) to star grass (*Cynodon nlemfluensis*) alone or mixed with four levels (0, 15, 30, 45% w/w) of legume (*Desmodium uncinatum*) were studied in a laboratory trial by Sibanda *et al.* (1997). In general, both additives improved fermentation up to the level of 30% of legume inclusion, but
addition of molasses resulted in lower levels of volatile N and higher lactic acid content compared to the control and both ground maize treatments. A first growth of Napier grass was hand-harvested under rainy conditions (8.6% DM, 67.6% NDF), chopped to 3 cm, treated with 4% molasses and/or 15% de-fatted rice bran (2.0% crude fat) on a fresh grass basis and ensiled in plastic bags. DM contents of silages were 13.4%, 20.1% and 22.5%, and spoilage losses were 5.6%, 0.3% and 3.0% for treatments with molasses, rice bran and their mixture, respectively. Treatment with plain rice bran had the highest content of acetic (6.7% of DM) and propionic (1.4% of DM) acids and ammonia-N, but the lowest content of lactic acid. The authors (Yokota *et al.*, 1998) concluded that the combination molasses and rice bran could improve the fermentation quality and enhance the utilization of the silage by goats, more than each additive as a single treatment.

Cassava (*Manihot esculenta*) tuber meal (72.1% WSC) and coconut (*Cocos nucifera*) oil meal (17.6% WSC) were both added (5% wet basis) to Guinea - A (*Panicum maximum*) with 17.7% DM and 6.3% WSC and to NB-21 (*Pennisetum purpureum*  $\times$  *Pennisetum americanum*) with 16.3% DM and 9.9% WSC forages, chopped (1.5 cm) and ensiled in 2-kg laboratory silos. Both additives improved fermentation compared to untreated silages of both forages, with greater effects in silages with cassava tuber meal (Panditharatne *et al.*, 1986).

Elephant grass was harvested at 75 days growth (19.4% DM, 72% NDF) and ensiled in 300kg asbestos cement containers, either unwilted or wilted (29.6% DM), both materials with or without 8% ground sorghum grain (w/w). Wilting was achieved by exposing crushed forage stems for three hours in windrow after harvesting with a New Holland mower-conditioner. Sorghum addition to both wilted and unwilted silage increased DM contents, reduced ethanol and acetic acid contents and increased intake of digestible energy as measured in sheep (Alberto *et al.*, 1993). Silages of elephant grass cv. Guaçu were obtained, adding 0, 8, 16 or 24% (w/w) either of ground ear corn [maize] with husks, wheat bran or "sacharin" (ureatreated sugar cane, with 12.6% CP, 17.5% crude fibre in DM) to unwilted forage (12.4% DM, 10.4% WSC) harvested with a precision chopper (3 mm chop length) and packed into 200litre plastic containers with a layer of ground hay at the bottom to absorb effluent (Andrade and Lavezzo, 1998a). Ground ear corn [maize] was more effective in increasing DM content and restricting lactic acid production while reducing ammonia-N, which reached 31.3% and 36.2% for the "sacharin" and wheat bran treatments, respectively (Andrade and Lavezzo, 1998b).

The fermentation pattern of wilted elephant grass cv. Taiwan-A146 silage (8 hour wilting, 26.6% DM, 6.74% WSC) did not differ from silages made of unwilted grass (23.5% DM,

7.2% WSC) prepared with a cassava starch by-product added at 2, 4, 8 or 12% (w/w). According to the authors (Ferrari *et al.*, 1999), the relatively low lactic acid levels demonstrate that the substrate was not available to LAB.

#### 2.4.2 Silage intake

Poor-quality silages are usually poorly consumed relative to hay or forage of comparable digestibility. In normal forages the limiting factor to intake appears to be NDF. The intake of poor silage does not reach this limit; other factors explain the low intake (Waldo and Jorgensen, 1981). In general, three hypotheses have been proposed to account for low intakes of poorly preserved silage (1) a toxic substance, perhaps an amine is produced by the fermentation; (2) the high acid content of extensively fermented silages reduces palatability; and (3) the depletion of readily fermentable substances deprives rumen organisms of critical energy substrates needed for growth. Silage intake is adequately understood and other mechanisms than these could be involved. For, example, it may be that alteration in physical structure renders silage more difficult to ruminate. This concept requires acceptance of the hypothesis that rumination time limits intake (Van Soest, 1994)

# 2.4.3 PRODUCTION OF SILAGE

The silage production process can be divided into four stages: (1) forage harvesting; (2) transport to the silo; (3) compaction; and (4) sealing (airtightness).

The first management decision to take when planning to make silage is on the amount of silage required, which depends on the following factors:

- Number and type of livestock to receive silage.

Length of the feeding period.

Percentage silage in the full ration.

- Material resources available (equipment, labour, finances, technical assistance, etc.).

This irrespective of the amount of silage to be made, the following principles for good silage apply:

1. The material to be conserved must have a high nutritive value.

2. The forage must not be contaminated with soil.

3. The forage should be chopped into pieces no longer than 2 cm to facilitate good compaction and reduce air retention.

4. It is necessary to expel the maximum amount of air within the forage before closing the silo preventing air and water penetration.

5. The accumulation of the forage and sealing should be done in the shortest possible time.

6. During the feeding of the silage, the area exposed to air should be as small as possible and the time between opening and finishing the silo as short as possible (Ojeda, 1999).

Although the total silo capacity on a farm depends on the number and type of animals and the period of silage feeding, it is recommended that not all the silage required be kept in only one silo, to keep losses at a minimum. The best system is to create silos that can be emptied over short periods, so the actual silo size depends on the amount of silage per animal and the number of animals to be fed from that silo. The best strategy is to make silage at different times of the year and to feed it after approximately 60 to 70 days of conservation. This way the silage would have optimum fermentation and least chance of aerobic deterioration. However, the time of silage making also depends on the growing conditions and the availability of forage to be ensiled (Ojeda, 1999).)

# 2.4.4 Phases of silage making

Once the fresh material has been harvested, chopped, compacted and well sealed the ensiling process then begin and undergo four (4) phases

• Aerobic phase: Oxygen trap within the forage is eliminated as a result of respiration of the plant material and aerobic activities of yeast and bacteria. This phase may take few hours only provided the forage is well compacted and sealed as soon as possible (Moran, 2005)

• Fermentation phase: This stage begins once the oxygen is gone and storage becomes anaerobic. A successful fermentation result in number of lactic acid producing bacteria dominate, reducing the pH to 3.5-4.5. (Moran, 2005)

• Stable phase: Once the PH level has dropped and water and air is not permitted to enter the storage (Silo) most micro organism of phase two (2) slowly decreases in number resulting in silage which is relatively stable. However, some acid tolerant micro organisms survive this period in an almost inactive state, along with others such as Clostridial and Bacilli which survive as spores (Moran, 2005)

• Feed out phase or aerobic spoilage phase: This phase begins when the storage site is uncovered for feeding out. This phase occurs in two (2) stages

Deterioration begins through degradation of the preserving organic acids by yeast and occasionally acetic acid bacteria, this result in a rise in pH and the second spoilage begins. This is associated with increasing temperature in the silage and activities by spoilage micro organism such as Bacilli, mould and Enterobacterial (Moran, 2005):

# **2.4.5** Evaluating Silage quality

Ensiling does not improve the quality of forage. The quality of the feed that is taken out of the silo can no better than the quality of the feed that was put into the silo. Silage quality can be accurately evaluated by subjective and integrated method of evaluation (Jianxin, 2002). The subjective method involves the use of criteria such as colour, smell, texture (structure) and pH value.

The pH is the simplest and quickest way of evaluating silage quality and may be determined on the farm using wide-range pH test papers such as bromophenol blue (range 2, 8-4, 4),bromocresol green (range 4, 2-5, 6) and methyl red (range 5, 4-7, 0). However the pH is influenced by the moisture content and the buffering capacity of the original materials. Silage that has been properly fermented will have a much lower pH (be more acidic) than the original forage. The lower the pH the better, since it indicates that a lactic acid type of fermentation as occurred.

Good silage usually preserves well the original colour of the standing plant (t'Mannetje, 1999; Jianxin, 2002.) When green raw material produces silage with green or yellow colour, it can be considered as good quality silage. Temperature is one of the important factors affecting silage colour. The lower the temperature during ensilage, the less will be the colour change. Above 30 °C, grass silage becomes dark yellow. Above 45 °C to 60 °C, the colour becomes closer to brown. Beyond 60 °C, the colour darkens towards black due to caramelization of sugars in the forage (McDonald *et al.*, 1995; t'Mannetje, 1999; Jianxin, 2002). However, the colour of the silage juice will also be a useful indicator of the quality. The lighter the colour of the juice of the silage suggests a better quality. However, silage quality can be misjudged by the colour. Jianxin (2002) reported that silage from red clover or Chinese milk vetch is often dark brown instead of light brown and may be considered failed silage despite its excellent quality.

The smell of the silage is a good indicator of the quality. According to Jianxin, (2002), good silage has a mild, slightly acidic and fruity smell resembling that of cut bread and of tobacco due to the presence of lactic acid. A rancid and nauseous smell denotes the presence of butyric acid and signifies failed silage. A musty smell is a sign of deficient compaction and presence of oxygen. A distinctive unpleasant smell, of sow' urine and faecal matter, signifies marked protein degradation during ensilage.

Plant structures (stems and leaves) should be completely recognizable in the silage. A destroyed structure is a sign of severe putrefaction. A viscous, slimy appearance reveals the activity of pectolytic or sporulating micro organisms (McDonald *et al.*,1995; t'Mannetje, 1999; Jianxin, 2002).

Temperature is one of the important factors affecting silage colour. Lower temperature during ensiling reduces the colour changes of the original material. When the temperature goes above 30 °C, grass silage becomes dark-yellow. Above 45 °C to 60 °C, the colour becomes closer to brown. Beyond 60 °C, the colour darkens towards black due to caramelization of sugars in the forage (McDonald *et al.*, 1995; t'Mannetje, 1999; Jianxin, 2002).

#### 2.4.6 Silage as feed resource

Meeting the nutritional needs of ruminants throughout the year is a major challenge facing livestock farmers in the tropics because of the seasonal availability of forage. Forage grows rapidly in wet season, with yields often exceeding animal requirements. If not cut and fed, it continues to grow and quickly becomes fibrous, lignified and low in crude protein content. This is particularly worrisome in the dry season when the energy needs of the animals cannot be met; resulting in serious weight losses (McDowell, 1987; Osakwe, 2006; Babayemi *et al.*, 2006).

Conservation can be achieved by sun-drying (hay), artificial drying, and addition of acids or by natural fermentation. However, silage is preferred to hay making, because it is less weather dependent and also because at the time when forages are of acceptable quality for conservation (early in the wet season) the weather is likely to be too unreliable for sun-drying needed for hay (Moran, 2005). This often leads to deterioration of the forage. Addition of acids and artificial drying methods are expensive and beyond the reach of the poor small animal holders. Hence the only feasible and cost effective option is natural fermentation through silage which can be done using fresh or preferably, wilted materials (Mohd Najib *et al.*, 1993; t'Mannetje, 1999).

Silage can be efficiently used for strategic off-season feeding. It is a means of increasing feed resource availability and a form of insurance, especially for calving dairy cows. It can be fed to reduce pressure on pasture when required. It can be an efficient supplement to grazing cattle during the dry season. It is an inexpensive homemade feed, resulting in the production

of milk and beef at lower cost. It improves palatability, reduces significantly toxic substances present in some fresh forage to safe level concentration (cyanogenic glycosides in fresh cassava) and destroys harmful micro organisms possibly present in materials to be ensiled. It can provide a major diet source, as basal ration as well as a feed supplement for grazing animals.

# 2.4.7 Chemical composition of silage based diet fed to sheep

Oluwadamilare (1997) fed graded levels of cassava leaves in cassava-Guinea grass silage (0% 20%, 40% and 60%) to WAD goats and reported that nitrogen content increased with the levels of cassava leaves (1.7 g/100 g, 2.4, 3.1, and 3.8). The same trend also occurred with organic matter which increased with increased inclusion of cassava leaves (89.3, 89.7, 90.2 and 90.6). Santoso *et al.* (2006) reported that, Timothy silage fed to sheep had 13.4 g/100 g CP content, 90.8 Organic matter, and 29.1 g\100 g DM respectively. Nishida *et al.* (2007) evaluated the nutritive value of corn silage made from corn harvested at different days fed to sheep and reported 8.7 g/100g CP, 2.7 ether extract, 94.1 organic matter, 66.7% TDN and Metabolizable energy of 11.39 MJ/kg DM for corn harvested at 129 days while those harvested on 118 days silage had 8.9 CP, 94.8 OM, 3.0 ether extract, 70.7% TDN and ME of 11.84 MJ/kg DM. They also reported, 9.0 CP content, 94.7 OM, 2.8 ether extract, 70.6% TDN and ME of 11.78 MJ/kg DM for silage made from corn harvested on 107 days

Cone *et al.* (2006) investigated the post ruminal digestibility of crude protein from grass *Lolium perenne* silages in cow and reported CP content of 19.8 g/100 g, 26.7 DM, 10.5 Ash for silages with low DM while they reported DM of 48.2, 19.8 CP and 10.1Ash for grass silage with high dry matter content. Meneses *et al.* (2007), evaluated the nutritive characteristics of crude artichoke (*Cynara scolymus*) by-products ensiled for 50 days and reported that it contained 25.8% DM, 8.8 CP, 4.85 Ash, 50.9 NDF, 34.2 ADF, 7.6 lignin, 16.7 hemicellulose and 26.6 g/100 g cellulose respectively. The pH value reported after 50 days was 4.11 while the temperature in the silo was 26.5  $^{\circ}$ C

Kim *et al.* (2006) investigated the effect of replacing rice straw with wormwood (*Artemisia montana*) silage on intake, digestibility and ruminal fermentation characteristics of sheep and reported that it contained DM value of 25.2 g/100 g, 89.7 OM, 14.8 CP, 3.4 ether extract, 51.5 NDF, and 47.7 ADF respectively. The pH value of the silage was 4.15. Ngwa *et al.* (2002) investigated the effect of supplementing veld hay with silage from *Acacia sieberiana* 

fed to sheep and reported nutrient contents (g\100g) as CP (5.64), OM (94.4), NDF (70.26), ADF (44.94) and Hemicellulose (25.32).

#### 2.4.7.2 Effects of feed on growth of ruminants

Kayouli *et al.* (1993) investigated the feed intake and performance of growing lambs when ensiled poultry litter based diet was substituted for commercial concentrates and soybean meal in a growing trial over 56 days and reported average daily gain of 252.8 g/d for lambs on silage while the average daily gain of 221.2 g/d was reported for lambs on commercial concentrate. The feed conversion (kg DM/d) was 6.1 for lambs on silage while 5.4kg DM/d was for lambs on commercial concentrate. Carcass yield was 47.5% for lambs on silage while those on concentrate was 45.1%.

#### 2.4.8 Silage fermentation versus rumen fermentation

The ecology of the silo fermentation differs from rumen fermentation in that single group of organism tend to develop and take over the substrate. Lactic acid-producing organisms accomplish this with a resultant rapid acid production and drop in pH. These organisms are less efficient than many other organisms in terms of cell yield from a given amount of substrate because much of the energy of carbohydrate fermented is retained in the lactic acid. The need for control of substrate is a consequence of their lower efficiency (cell growth), so a larger portion of the fermented substrate is necessarily produced in the form of acid that inhibits competing organisms, Organisms, including yeasts that produce ethanol are similar in this regard except that osmotic pressure and inhibitory levels of ethanol are the means by which they control the substrate (Van Soest, 1994).

End product removal in the rumen has important effects on ecological balance. The salient effects are apparent when silage fermentation is compared to rumen fermentation. Both systems have the same substrate available and tend to be anaerobic, however silo presents characteristics of poorly buffered batch culture. The dominating feature of its fermentation is the growth of organisms that compete for control of the substrate. Under ideal condition in the silo, the lactic acid producing bacteria will drive down pH so as to shut out other competitor for the substrate. No cellulose is fermented in normal silage whereas cellulose digestion is dominant feature in a normal rumen. Silage fermentation is characteristic of the rumen is important in supplying the host animal with microbial protein. What is optimum for silage

preservation is reverse in the case of the rumen. The important point here is that the more energy is expanded in silo fermentation, the less there is for the rumen. Fermentation acids other than lactic acid contain no energy for rumen bacteria use. (Van Soest, 1994).

#### 2.5 In vitro gas production

Growth and yield of ruminants are largely limited by forage quality which is mainly reflected in low voluntary intake and digestibility (Minson, 1990). Intake and digestibility determination of feedstuffs *in vivo* is time-consuming, laborious and expensive, requires large quantities of feed and is unsuitable for large-scale feed evaluation (Coelho *et al.*, 1985; Carro *et al.*, 1994). Many attempts have been made to predict intake and digestibility using laboratory techniques.

The *in vitro* gas production method is accurate and predicts feed intake, digestibility, microbial nitrogen supply and animal performance (Blummel and Ørskov, 1993). For the past two decades, the technique had been used in advanced countries as an instrument to determine the amount of short chain fatty acids, carbon dioxide and metabolizable energy of feed for ruminants (Blummel and Becker, 1997; Getachew *et al.*, 1999). Methane is an important gas among gases produced by ruminants at fermentation, and has been reported (Babayemi and Bamikole, 2006a) to be an energy loss to the animals and when emitted, it contributes to the destruction of ozone layer. The *in vitro* fermentation technique is capable of quantifying the amount of methane (energy loss) production (Fievez *et al.*, 2005).

Gas production is an indication of quantitative VFA production. Since truly digested substrate is partitioned among VFA, gas, and microbial biomass, gas measurements only account for substrate that is used for gas production and does not consider substrate utilized for microbial growth. Accurate prediction of VFA production from gas production is a biologically important goal, since VFA is a major energy source for ruminants. Since inclusion of feed CP levels in the prediction equation of VFA from gas production sharply improved the predictive equation, this suggests that when high CP feeds are used, the influence of CP on VFA production is substantial. This statement is based upon the increased production of isovalerate and valerate as the CP content of the feeds increased. Although gas production reflects the amount of substrate used for VFA production, it has also been shown that gas production is positively related to feed intake (Blümmel and Ørskov, 1993) and microbial protein synthesis (Krishnamoorthy *et al.*, 1995).

Degradation of forages in the rumen is a complex process, involving interactions among microorganisms (i.e., bacteria, protozoa, fungi) and between the microbial population and the host (Czerkawski, 1986). Fermentation characteristics of feeds in rumen fluid can be studied by *in vivo*, *in situ* and *in vitro* techniques, including the in vitro gas production technique of Menke *et al.* (1979), Theodorou *et al.* (1994) and Cone *et al.* (1996).

There are number of factors that affect rate of fermentation of feeds by rumen microorganisms and hence gas production. Among these are intrinsic characteristics of the carbohydrate fraction such as the proportion of starch or cellulose and the extent of lignifications of the cell wall. The extrinsic factor however, is the supply of fermentable nitrogen required by microorganisms to help them to synthesis cellular constituents such as protein and nucleic acids required for growth.

## 2.6 Methane

Ruminants depend on microorganisms to digest and ferment plant cell wall polysaccharides into energy sources, such as volatile fatty acids (VFA) and other organic acids. However, microbial fermentation in the rumen also produces waste products, such as carbon dioxide (CO2) and methane (CH4). Methane production in the rumen is an energetically wasteful process, since the portion of the animal's feed, which is converted to CH4, is eructated as gas. Approximately 6% of dietary gross intake energy is lost to the atmosphere as CH4 (Holter and Young, 1992; DeRamus *et al.*, 2003). Recently, emission of CH4 and other volatile organic compounds from ruminants, and their effect on air quality, has attracted the attention of air regulatory agencies in many parts of the world.

Methane contributes to climate change and global warming (Johnson and Johnson, 1995) by trapping outgoing terrestrial infrared radiation 20 times more effectively than  $CO_2$ , which leads to increased surface temperatures, and it indirectly affects atmospheric oxidation reactions that produce  $CO_2$ . Thus, there is increased worldwide interest in addressing mitigation of  $CH_4$  in animal agriculture. There may be potential to reduce the extent of  $CH_4$  production by manipulating diet and management practices that influence ruminal microbial fermentation.

Due to the substantial amount of energy lost in the form of  $CH_4$ , and its deleterious impact on the environment, quantification of  $CH_4$  produced from dairy rations by dairy cows is critical to formulation of feasible mitigation strategies. However, direct quantification of CH4 produced by animals requires complex equipment, its labour intensive, time consuming and expensive. An *in vitro* gas production technique would offer an alternative, allowing several diets and diet combinations to be evaluated simultaneously, but only if it accurately estimated animal CH4 emissions.

Methane is the most abundant organic gas in the earth's atmosphere, and there is evidence that CH4 concentrations have recently been increasing globally at a rate between 0.7% and 1.0%/year (Crutzen, 1995). Domestic ruminants are responsible for about 12.5% of global CH4 emissions (Crutzen, 1995). Methane emissions are influenced by the size of the animal, the quantity of feed consumed, and the efficiency by which the animal converts feed to products. Improving animal productivity decreases CH4 emissions per unit of animal product. The excretion of methane from the rumen can represent a loss of 8-10% of the digestible energy depending on the type of diet. Therefore, reducing methane production could benefit the ruminant energetically provided the efficiency of ruminal metabolism is not compromised.

#### 2.7 Volatile fatty acids

The VFAs produce as end products of metabolism, provides the ruminant with a major source of metabolizable energy. Removal of these acidic products is vital for the continued growth of cellulolytic organisms in the rumen. The principal fatty acids in descending order of usual abundance are acetic, propionic. Butyric, isobutyric, valeric and isovaleric. The proportion of acetic, propionic and butyric acids can be markedly influenced by diet and status of the methanogen population in the rumen. Protozoa may also contribute significantly to the balance. Other organic acids may appear as products of microbial metabolism. Lactic acid is important when starch is a part of the diet and is itself fermented to acetate, propionate and butyrate. It appears only as a transient product 1-2 h after fermentation. Succinate and formate produced by some rumen species in pure culture do not normally appear as products in mixed cultures.

Rumen concentrations of VFAs are regulated by a balance between production and absorption whereby increased production rate induces higher VFA coincentration (Giesecke,

1970). Since production rates vary, the rate and extent to which these acids are produced is indicative of microbial activity in the rumen. Bergman (1990) reported that the concentration and relative proportions of VFAs are related to the nature of the feed. Similarly, Firkins *et al.* (1986); Robinson *et al.* (1986) reported that the amount of VFA produced depend on the extent (effective degradability) of the feed ingested by the animals which subsequently determines the amount of treatment available for fermentation.

#### 2.8 The rumen ecology

The rumen ecosystem is essentially a fermentation system that houses a vast array of different microbes. Ruminants typically browse low energy forages, such as grasses or other plant material, rich in potential (sugar-polymer plant fibres) but not easily accessible to the ruminant without rumen fermentation. These forages are primarily food for the microbes present in the rumen first and then, in turn, the products of these microbes are the feed for the ruminant. Microbes break down forage in the anaerobic rumen environment and the products of microbial fermentation provide the ruminant with metabolisable compounds, such as short chain fatty acids, while the microbes themselves account for around 90% of the amino acids entering the lower intestine.

The rumen environment appears to be controlled by: the type and quantity of food eaten, periodic mixing through contraction of the rumen, salivation and rumination, diffusion or secretion into the rumen, absorption of nutrients from the rumen and passage of container down the digestive tract (Preston and Leng, 1987). Under abnormal circumstances, the rumen environment is drastically disorganized. Sudden introduction of diet not included into the feed offered like grain, lacticacidaemia may occur because of the drop in ruminal pH, growth of streptococcus bovis and the accumulation of lactic acid. Saliva helps to maintain fluid state of the rumen environment and so facilitate access of micro-organisms to the plant containers. Population affects salivary flow and may be reduced by its presence. The protozoa rapidly assimilate starch and sugars and remove the need for copious salivation to maintain rumen pH. (Preston and Leng, 1987).

Saliva, a buffered bicarbonate solution of about pH 8, contains high concentration of sodium and phosphate ions. Both the saliva and bicarbonate movement across the rumen epithelium maintained the pH within narrow limits. (Preston and Leng, 1987). The buffered rumen liquor favoured the growth of anaerobic bacteria, fungi and protozoa with accumulation of VFAs in

the fluid (up to 0.2 molar). For continuous fermentation however, the ruminal pH must be constantly maintained at neutral level and to VFAs absorption ensured. The biomass of microbes in the rumen is also maintained at a constant level by the passage of microbes down the digestive tract and by the death and lysis of the micro-organisms within the rumen. Methane and carbon dioxide are produced as the end products of fermentation. At low rumen pH, carbon dioxide comes out of solution and accumulates in a pocket the dorsal sac. Methane and carbon dioxide are largely eliminated by eructation (Dougherty *et al.*, 1964). At high pH, most of the carbon dioxide produced by fermentation or entering the saliva, is absorbed and excreted via the lungs.

#### **2.8.1** Characteristics of rumen microorganisms

Ruminants' posses a complex stomach system, in which the stomach is divided into three or four compartments, the first and the largest of which is the rumen. It is here that continuous anaerobic fermentation takes place by microorganisms. The rumen is an extremely complex community of many microorganisms, protozoa, bacteria, fungi and probably other unknown microorganisms. When ruminants are born their rumen is germ-free, the unique flora and fauna start to establish after birth. Once established the rumen microbial community is very stable and will change only when the nutrients are changed (Cheng and Costerton 1980).

Fungi and mycoplasmas can account for about 8% of ruminal microbial biomass when animals are fed poor quality feed. These organisms play an important role maintaining rumen conditions and providing energy to the ruminant. There is an apparent interaction between fungi and fibre-digesting bacteria such that when fibre-digesting bacteria predominate they produce substances that inhibit the fungi

Protozoa can account for nearly 50% of the viable biomass in the rumen and, dependent on diet, can be indirectly associated with nearly the same level of the methane emissions. Due to their biomass and metabolic activities protozoa also contribute directly to production of VFAs in the rumen.

Feedstuffs consumed by ruminants are all initially exposed to the fermentative activity in the rumen prior to gastric and intestinal digestion. Dietary polysaccharides and protein are generally degraded by the ruminal microorganisms into characteristic end products, which in turn provide nutrients for metabolism by the host animal. The extent and type of

transformation of feedstuffs thus determines the productive performance of the host. Fermentation of feedstuffs in the rumen yields short-chain volatile fatty acids (VFA) (primarily acetic, propionic and butyric acids), carbon dioxide, methane, ammonia and occasionally lactic acid. Some of the change in free energy is used to drive microbial growth, but heat also is evolved. Ruminants use the organic acids and microbial protein as sources of energy and amino acids, respectively, but methane, heat and ammonia can cause a loss of energy and nitrogen (N). The quality and quantity of rumen fermentation products is dependent on the types and activities of the microorganisms in the rumen. This, in turn, will have an enormous potential impact on nutrient output and performance of ruminant animals.

Ammonia plays a central role as an intermediate in the degradation and assimilation of dietary nitrogen by rumen bacteria. Ammonia is the major end-product of digestion of dietary protein and non-protein nitrogen (urea and amino acids) as well as the major source of nitrogen for synthesis by ruminal bacteria. Ruminal digestion results in the production of VFA and bacterial cells which are used as the major energy and protein sources, respectively, for metabolism by the host animal. As a result, nitrogen metabolism in the rumen is intimately related to the metabolism and utilization of nitrogen by ruminant tissues. Growth and production in ruminants is dependent on bacterial protein synthesised in the rumen and ammonia is of central importance in this process.

# 2.8.2 Microbial interactions in the rumen

Rumen microbial populations vary within an animal, with time after feeding, between days in the same animal and apparently, in animal in different countries on similar feeds (Hungate, 1975). However, the end-products of fermentation are virtually the same. Both on particulate digesta and on rumen epithelia tissue, bacteria associated with related organisms and function as a couple, one organism growing on the end-products of metabolism of another. The sequential fermentation process involving different species of organisms converting cellulose to VFAs well recognized, as are the interrelationships between hydrogen-producing and hydrogen utilizing organisms (Wolin, 1979). Within the rumen there are often very close associations of bacterial species, dependent on simple containers librated by each to mutual benefit of both (symtopic associations). These interactions of rumen bacteria appear to be highly beneficial and there appears to be little that can be done to manipulate these associations, other than inhibition of methanogenesis. There are marked interactions between protozoa and bacteria. Protozoa ingest and digest bacteria and reduce the bacterial biomass floating free in solution in the rumen (Hungate 1966; Coleman, 1975), and this may reduce the rate at which bacteria colonise ingested food particles. With readily digestible feeds, this may not be significant but with refractory feeds, predation may increase the lag phase of degradation of particles. Protozoa effectively compete with bacteria for the soluble sugars and starches, storing these carbohydrates within their cells. In this way the protozoa reduce the severity of acidosis on some diets. On sugar-based diets (e.g. sugarcane) the protozoa biomass is probably larger than the bacterial biomass.

Eadie and Gill (1971) found that the number of flagella protozoa (motile zoospores) increased following defaunation of the rumen. If these flagellates were zoospores, then it suggests that protozoa either 'compete' for nutrients with fungi or reduce fungal growth in other ways. For instance Orpin (1975) observed predation by protozoa on the non-motile, flagellates (zoospores). Elimination of protozoa in the rumen leads to an increase in the number of bacteria in the liquid pool. In studies with sheep using total faecal collection procedures, the apparent digestibility of dry matter was increased by 18% when protozoa were not present (Soetanto, 1986). Interactions among microorganisms with the rumen are complex and not always to the advantage of the host. Large protozoa populations in the rumen have been shown to reduce animal productivity, apparently largely lowering the amino acid to energy ratio in the absorbed products of digestion. However, it appears that protozoa reduce the biomass of bacteria and of fungi in the rumen of animals on diets high in fibre and thus may reduce the rate of digestion of fibrous feeds (Preston and Leng, 1987).

# **CHAPTER THREE**

# **EXPERIMENT ONE**

# Preparation, quality and *in vitro* fermentation of ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass mixture

# **3.1 Introduction**

The shortage of feed in terms of quality and quantity especially during dry season is one of the problems faced by farmers in the livestock industry. Forage, crop residue and by products are usually consumed fresh by domestic animals when they are abundant during rainy season, but the excess can be conserved to overcome feed shortage during the dry season. Conservation can be achieved when the harvested forage is stored at a maximum level below 20 % (hay) while forage preserved in an anaerobic (without air) environment with a pH of 3.6 to 5.0 is termed silage.

Hay making is difficult in tropical regions at the time when forage is of acceptable quality for conservation (early in wet season) the weather is likely to be too unreliable for sundrying. Artificial drying is expensive and facilities are not widely available. Hence, the most reliable means for forage conservation is by silage making. Ensiling is thus a potent general method for forage preservation and also a form of treatment to occasionally salvage the underutilized pastures for better acceptability and degradability.

Tropical grasses and legumes are not naturally ensilage material, largely because at cutting they have a low content of water soluble carbohydrate (WSC) which is essential to successful ensilage (Mc Donald *et al.*, 1991). The levels of fermentable carbohydrate can be improved through addition of additives which are used to improve silage preservation by ensuring that lactic acid bacteria dominate the fermentation phase. This result in it having a higher buffering capacity and protein being susceptible to proteolysis (Mc Donald *et al.*, 1991) hence, ensiling (Topps and Oliver, 1993). However, there are several practices that contribute to improving levels of fermentable carbohydrates, reduce buffering and prevent proteolysis, and can therefore assist in producing good quality silage. These practices include; mixing legumes with cereal crops; wilting; using silage additives and conserving in small-scale silos.

# 3.2 Materials and methods

# 3.2.1 Experimental site

The experiment was carried out within the University of Ibadan campus, Ibadan, Nigeria. The location of the study is 7°27'N and 3°45'E at altitude 200 - 300 m above sea level; mean temperature of 25 - 29 °C and the average annual rainfall of about 1250 mm.

# **3.2.2** Collection of Cassava tops

Fresh cassava foliage was obtained from a nearby farm around the University immediately after root harvesting. The leaves with petioles was separated from the stem and chopped into small pieces of about 3 - 4 cm with knife. The chopped cassava tops was spread under the shade for 12 hours over night and allowed to wilt to reduce the moisture content of the leaves. Representative samples of known weights were taken for dry matter analysis by drying in the oven for 48 h at 65°C until a constant weight was obtained.

# **3.2.3** Collection of Guinea grass

Guinea grass (*Panicum maximum*) of eight (8) weeks old re-growth was harvested from the established paddock. The plot was rouged to remove obnoxious weeds. In order to achieve 8 weeks old grass. The whole plot was cut back at 20cm above ground. The grass was totally harvested leaving the edge rows uncut. The harvested grasses were weighed in order to determine the expected amount for the making of silage. Representative samples of known weight were taken for dry matter analysis by drying in oven for 48h at 65°C until a constant weight was obtained. The harvested samples were wilted for two hours in order to reduce the moisture content. The grass was chopped into 2-3 cm lengths, spread under shade and allowed to wilt to reduce water content of the grass.

# **3.2.4** Silage additives

Four (4) energy additives was used and this includes: - Cassava chips, sorghum grain, millet grain and sugar. All the grains were crushed before use.

## 3.2.5 Experimental layout

Cassava tops, guinea grass and additives were ensiled in triplicate as ratio 3:6:1 (30%, 60%, and 10%) respectively as follows;

- Treatment 1: Cassava tops + Guinea grass + cassava chips
- Treatment 2: Cassava tops + Guinea grass + sorghum grain
- Treatment 3: Cassava tops + Guinea grass + millet grain
- Treatment 4: cassava tops + Guinea grass + sugar
- Treatment 5: Cassava tops +Guinea grass + no additive

# **3.2.6** Silage preparation

The cassava foliage and Guinea grass were chopped for ease of compaction and consolidation for silage. The grass weighing 30 kg, cassava foliage 15 Kg and additive 5 kg in three replicates for the different treatments were filled in a 50 kg capacity plastic. The plastic was lined internally by polythene sheets. Each layer was compacted manually to displace the air until the containers were filled. The final compaction was made after which the polythene sheet was wrapped over the material. Sand bags were later rolled on the filled material and were left to ferment for 42 days.

#### 3.2.7 **Determination of silage quality**

After forty two (42) days of ensiling, the silage was opened for silage quality assessment. Silage characteristics that were measured include temperature, pH, colour, smell and texture. Immediately the silage was opened, a laboratory thermometer was inserted to determine the temperature. Sub sample from different point and depth were mixed together for dry matter determination by oven- drying at 65° C until a constant weight was achieved. The samples were milled and stored in an air tight container until it was ready for chemical analysis. pH meter was used to determine the pH level, colour assessment was ascertained using visual observation with the aid of colour chart. The odour or smell of the silage was determined whether it is separable, visible or collapsible.

#### 3.2.8 Chemical composition

Proximate (Crude protein, crude fibre, ether extract and ash) contents of the silage were carried out in triplicates as described by AOAC (1990).

The neutral detergent fibre (NDF) and acid detergent fibre (ADF) were determined as described by Van soest *et al.* (1991).

#### 3.2.9 The *in vitro* gas production technique

Rumen fluid was obtained from three West African dwarf goats using suction tube before the morning feed. The animals were previously fed with concentrate feed (40% corn, 10% wheat offal, 10% palm kernel cake, 20% groundnut cake, 5% soybean meal,10% dried, brewers grain, 1% common salt, 3.75% oyster shell and 0.25% fish meal) and 60% *P. maximum* at 5% body weight. The rumen liquor was collected into the thermo flask that had been pre-warmed to a temperature of 39°C from the goats before they were offered the morning feed. Incubation was as reported (Menke and Steingass, 1988) using 120 ml calibrated syringes in three batch incubation at 39 °C. Into 200 mg sample in the syringe was introduced 30 ml inoculums containing four layers cheese cloth strained rumen liquor and buffer (NaHCO<sub>3</sub> + Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub> + KCl + NaCl + MgSO<sub>4</sub>.7H<sub>2</sub>O + CaCl<sub>2</sub>.2H<sub>2</sub>O) (1:4, v/v) under continuous flushing with CO<sub>2</sub>. The gas production was measured at 3, 6, 9, 12, 15, 18, 21, 24 36 48, 60, 72, 84 and 96 h. At post incubation period, 4 ml of NaOH (10 M) was introduced to estimate methane production as reported by Fievez *et al.* (2005). The average of the volume of gas produced from the blanks was deducted from the volume of gas produced per sample.

The volume of the gas produced at intervals was plotted against the incubation time, and from the graph, the gas production characteristics were estimated using the equation  $Y = a + b (1 - e^{-ct})$  described by Ørskov and McDonald (1979), where Y = volume of gas produced at time 't', a = intercept (gas produced from the soluble fraction), b = gas production from the insoluble fraction, c = gas production rate constant for the insoluble fraction (b), t = incubation time. Metabolizable energy (ME, MJ/Kg DM) and organic matter digestibility (OMD, %) were estimated as established (Menke and Steingass, 1988) and the value of short chain volatile fatty acids (SCFA) was calculated as reported (Getachew *et al.*, 1998) : ME = 2.20 + 0.136\*Gv + 0.057\*CP + 0.0029\*CF; OMD = 14.88 + 0.889Gv + 0.45CP + 0.651 XA; SCFA = 0.0239\*Gv - 0.0601; where Gv, CP, CF and XA are net gas production (ml/200 mg DM), crude protein, crude fibre and ash of the incubated samples respectively.

#### 3.2.10 Acceptability study

Eight West African dwarf rams weighing 12 - 14 kg were used to evaluate the free choice intake of ensiled *Panicum maximum*, (Guinea grass) with cassava tops. In triplicates, 1 kg each of the ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass were placed in strategic locations in plastic feeding troughs. The rams were allowed to feed from 09:00 to 16:00 h daily and for upward of 7 days. The forage preferred was assessed from the coefficient of preference (COP) value, calculated from the ratio between the intakes for the individual forages, divided by the average intake of the forages (Karbo *et al.*, 1993; Babayemi *et al.*, 2006a). Consumption was measured by deduction of remnants from the amount of feed served. Therefore, silage was inferred to be relatively acceptable provided the COP was greater than unity (1).

### **3.2.11** Statistical analysis

Data were analysed using analysis of variance (SAS, 1999). Significant means were separated using the Duncan multiple range F-test. Experimental model of the design is:

 $Yij = \mu + \alpha_1 + \sum ij,$ 

where Y ij = individual observation,

 $\mu$  = general mean of population,

 $\alpha_1 = treatment effect and$ 

 $\sum ij = composite error effect.$ 

#### 3.3 RESULTS

Table 1 shows the silage characteristics of ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass mixture The colour was observed to be the same in all the silages. The structures were firm and indestructible, Differences were not observed in the smell of the silage as all the silages were characterized by pleasant odour. The pH of the silage is presented in Fig 1.

# 3.3.2 Chemical composition of ensiled cassava tops and guinea grass mixture

Table 2 shows the chemical composition of ensiled cassava tops and guinea grass mixture with different additives and there were significant (p> 0.05) differences among the different silages. DM content ranged between 27.12g/100g DM in silage with sorghum additive to 28.80g /100g DM in silage with millet additive. CP varied from 21.88g/100g DM in silage with sugar additive to 25.60 g/100g DM in millet additive. The Crude fibre content of the silage was highest in silage with sorghum additive (32.49g/100g DM) but similar to the values obtained in silage with sugar additive (31.95g/100g DM), millet grain (31.91 g/100g DM) and cassava chips (31.89 g/100g DM) and differed significantly (P<0.05) from silage with no additive (31.12 g/100g DM). Ash was highest in silage with no additive (9.62 g/100g DM) and lowest in silage with sugar additive (7.56g/100g DM). The NDF content of the silage ranged between 68.81and 76.39g/ 100gDM while ADF ranged between 40.64 and 48.06g/ 100g DM.

Silage quality indicators					
Additives	Colour	Texture	Odour/	Temperature	
			smell	(° C)	
60 % GG + 30 % CF+	Olive green	Firm	Pleasant	29	
10% cassava chips					
60 % GG + 30 % CF+	Olive green	Firm	Pleasant	29	
10% Sorghum grain					
60 % GG + 30 % CF+	Olive green	Firm	Pleasant	28.5	
10% millet grain				$\mathbf{N}^{-}$	
60 % GG + 30 % CF+	Olive green	Firm	Pleasant	29	
10% sugar			fruity		
60 % GG + 40 % CF+	Yellowish	Firm	Pleasant	29	
0% additive	green				

# Table 1: Effects of additives on colour, texture, smell and temperature of ensiledcassava tops and Guinea grass mixture





Types of additives Fig 1:Effect of additives on pH of ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass mixture

Treatment	DM	Crude	Crude	Ash	NDF	ADF	Ether
		protein	noie				extract
60 % GG + 30 %							
CF+ 10% cassava	$28.80^{a}$	23.74 <sup>ab</sup>	31.89 <sup>a</sup>	9.42 <sup>a</sup>	71.66 <sup>b</sup>	43.44 <sup>c</sup>	8.41 <sup>b</sup>
chips							
60~%~GG+30~%							
CF+ 10%	27.12 <sup>c</sup>	23.85 <sup>ab</sup>	32.49 <sup>a</sup>	8.51 <sup>b</sup>	71.47 <sup>b</sup>	44.48 <sup>b</sup>	8.32 <sup>b</sup>
Sorghum grain							
60 % GG + 30 %							
CF+ 10% millet	$28.80^{a}$	25.60 <sup>a</sup>	31.91 <sup>a</sup>	9.41 <sup>a</sup>	76.39 <sup>a</sup>	40.64 <sup>d</sup>	10.13 <sup>a</sup>
grain							
60 %  GG + 30 %	or sobc	21.99 <sup>b</sup>	21.05 <sup>a</sup>	7.56°	60.20 <sup>c</sup>	11 91 <sup>bc</sup>	0 0 2 <sup>b</sup>
CF+ 10% sugar	21.32	21.00	51.95	7.50	09.39	44.01	0.03
60 %  GG + 40 %	28 06 <sup>b</sup>	24 04 <sup>a</sup>	21 12 <sup>b</sup>	0.62ª	60 01 <sup>c</sup>	18 06 <sup>a</sup>	8 20 <sup>b</sup>
CF+0% additive	20.00	24.74	51.12	9.02	00.01	+0.00	0.37
SEM	0.18	0.75	0.20	0.14	0.39	0.31	0.16

Table 2: Effects of additives on chemical composition (g/100g DM) of ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass mixture

GG- Guinea grass, CT- Cassava tops

<sup>ab</sup> means on the same row with different superscripts are significantly different (P<0.05)

### **3.4 In vitro gas production**

# 3.4.1 Incubation of ensiled cassava tops with Guinea grass incubated for 96 Hrs

Table 3 presents the *in vitro* fermentation parameters of ensiled cassava tops with Guinea grass incubated for 96 Hrs. There were no significant (p > 0.05) differences in insoluble fraction (b), potential gas production (a+b) gas production rate (c), and time (t) of the incubated samples. The highest values were obtained from silage with millet additives (5.50 ml, 27.50 ml, 33.00h, and 31.50ml respectively). Significant variations (p < 0.05) however existed between ensiled samples in the value of y, the highest being from silage with millet additive (22.25 ml) and the least from silage with cassava chips (12.50ml).

Methane (ml/200 mg DM) production (Fig 2) ranged from 12.5 to 20 among the silages, the least and the highest being from silage with cassava chips additive and millet additives respectively.

The value for the ME, OMD and SCFA ranged from 6.66, 52.94 and 0.62 to 7.11, 58.18, and 0.77 respectively. Silage with millet additives recorded the highest.

Table 4 shows the acceptability of the ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass mixture that the goats had free choice on. Based on their COP values of more than unity, Treatment with cassava chips, sorghum and millet grain additives were preferred compared to Treatment with sugar and no additives.





Treatments	А	В	a+b	С	t	Y
60 % GG + 30 % CF+ 10%	3.00	22.25	25.25	0.033	19.50	12.50 <sup>c</sup>
cassava chips						
60 % GG + 30 % CF+ 10%	3.50	22.25	25.75	0.031	25.50	15.50 <sup>bc</sup>
Sorghum grain						
60 % GG + 30 % CF+ 10% millet	5.50	27.50	33.00	0.032	31.50	22.25 <sup>a</sup>
grain						
60 % GG + 30 % CF+ 10% sugar	3.00	28.00	31.00	0.036	27.00	19.50 <sup>ab</sup>
	- 00	<u> </u>	20 55			1 = oobc
60 % GG + 40 % CF + 0%	5.00	23.75	28.75	0.031	21.00	15.00**
additive						
SEM	0.93	2.55	2.40	0.004	5.60	1.85

**Table 3:** In vitro fermentation parameters of ensiled cassava tops with Guinea grass

 incubated for 96 Hrs.

GG- Guinea grass, CT- Cassava tops

b = insoluble but fermentable fractions; a+b = potential extent of gas production; c = fractional rate constant; <sup>ab</sup> means on the same row with different superscripts are significantly different (P<0.05)

# Л,





Treatment	Mean daily consumption (g\DM)	Coefficient of preference (COP)
60 % GG + 30 % CF+ 10% cassava chips	906.14	1.19
60 % GG + 30 % CF+ 10% Sorghum grain	836.86	1.11
60 % GG + 30 % CF+ 10% millet grain	838.29	1.09
60 % GG + 30 % CF+ 10% sugar	730.43	0.88
60 % GG + 40 % CF+ 0% additive	797.57	0.94
GG - Guinea grass; CF-Cassava fo	liage	

 Table 4: Coefficient of preference of ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass mixture

 with different additives



#### 3.4 Discussion

#### 3.4.1 Silage quality

All silage exhibited positive traits, which is a reflection of their successful ensilage, as indicated by colour and good structure, odor and pH. The colours were close to the original colour of both the grass and cassava foliage and this was slightly different from the finding of Oduguwa *et al.* (2007). Good silage usually preserves the original colour of the pasture or any forage (t'Mannetje, 1999). The olive green colours obtained in the present study were in order. The olive green colour was closed to the original colour of the grass, which was an indication of good quality silage that was well preserved (Oduguwa *et al.*, 2007). Also the different yellow colour was in accordance with the report of Kung and Shaver (2002) that when a green plant material that is ensiled produces yellow colour, it can be classified as well made silage. The yellowish green colour produced by silage with no additive might be due to absence of any of the additives. (Kung and Shaver, 2002).

The texture were firm and indestructible, implying that there were no viscous or slimy appearances of the material. t'Mannetje (1999) earlier reported that the structures of the original plant materials ensiled should be visible and recognizable. When the structure of the silage is altered and tending towards obliteration, it is probably a symptom of acute disintegration. McDonald (1995), t'Mannetje (1999).

Differences were not observed in the smell of the silage as all the silages were characterized by pleasant. The only exception for the smell was the silage that exhibited pleasant – fruity smell. Kung and shaver (2002) reported that pleasant smell is accepted for a good or well made silage.

The pH value in the present result was within the range of 4.5-5.5 as classified to be pH for good silage by Meneses *et al.* (2007). Kung and Shaver (2002) in their interpretation of silage analysis report stated that a good quality grass and legume silage-pH values in the tropics ranges between 4.3 and 4.7. This result was higher than 3.2 obtained by Oduguwa *et al.* (2007) but lower than 5.4 reported by Oluwadamilare (1997). The pH reduction indicates proper fermentation since Patterson (1990) noted that an increase in pH during storage was associated with an increase in ammonia-nitrogen and a decrease in total acids. The low pH together with elevated levels of lactic acid showed that the herbage contained sufficient amounts of soluble carbohydrates to effectively preserve the silage. This can be attributed to

the high buffering capacity and low DM content of the legumes, which favours the production of other organic acids other than lactic acid (Woolford, 1984; McDonald *et al.*, 1991). The pH showed that the herbage contained sufficient amount of soluble carbohydrate to effectively preserve the silage. The pH was between 4.3 and 5.1 showing that silage was well preserved. Silages with high CP (23-24 %) have high pH of between 4.7 and 5.0 (Kung and Shaver, 2002)

The pH value in the present result was within the range of 3.9 - 5.0 classified to be pH for good silage (Meneses et al., 2007). Generally pH is one of the simplest and quickest way of evaluating silage quality. However pH may be influenced by the moisture content and buffering capacity of the original materials. Silage that has been properly fermented will have much lower pH (be more acidic) than the original forage. Kung and Shaver (2002) in their interpretation of silage analysis stated that a good quality grass and legume silage-pH values in the tropics ranges between 4.3 and 4.7 this indicates that silage with additives (cassava chips, sorghum, millet and sugar) are better ensiled compare to that with no additive. These were however higher than those of Oduguwa et al. (2007). Additives are used to improve silage preservation by ensuring that lactic acid bacteria dominate the fermentation phase. Possibly the most important benefit of additives such as maize or sorghum grain or cassava meal is to improve DM in early-cut crops when moisture content is high and where effluent is lost to the silage through seepage. Tropical grasses have been successfully ensiled with maize meal (Van Onselen and Lopez, 1988), cassava meal (Panditharane et al., 1986) and sorghum grain (Alberto et al., 1993). The decrease of pH in the silage was probably due to fermentation of WSC by lactic acid bacteria that produced organic acids leading to a decrease in pH (McDonald et al., 2002).

# 3.4.2 Chemical composition of silage

The effect of the different additive was significant on the chemical composition of the silage Silage with DM content between 25 and 35% are considered to be good (Patterson 1998). According to Akinola (1989) partial wilting increases DM content, this reduces bacterial activity in the silage. Wilting the forage before ensiling is recommended as a means of increasing dry matter content, the WSC on fresh weight basis and reducing losses from effluent and undesired fermentation (Humphreys, 1991, Nussio, 2005). The effluent observed in this study was rather negligible.

Protein is limiting in grass and therefore, there is a need for supplementation of grass silage with richer protein sources. Grass silage in Nigeria can be fortified with energy or protein sources by ensiling with cassava leaf, browse pods and industrial by-products. In order to enhance the CP supplementation for WAD goats, Igbekoyi (2008) ensiled Guinea grass with *Albizia saman* pods to obtain 14-18% CP. The CP exhibited within the range (21.88 and 25.60 g/100 g DM) reported was lower than those reported by Oluwadamilare (1997) who reported 31.9% CP for cassava/Guinea grass mixtures and Oduguwa *et al.* (2007) but similar to what Kavana *et al.* (2005) who reported 21.86% for cassava leave silage. The variations could be attributed to difference in varieties as well as the stage at which the crop was harvested, soil fertility, climate and sampling procedure. Variations in crude fiber level could be due to stage of maturity

Consequently, the CP content (21.88-25.60 %) of the silage was higher than 11–12% suggested by NRC (1985) as adequate to meet requirements of growing sheep, and was not below the level at which it could be considered deficient (Norton, 1994). The crude protein content was higher than the minimum protein requirement of 10–12% suggested by ARC (1985) for ruminants and the recommended for moderate growth of early-weaned sheep (NRC, 2001). The increase may be due to the cassava/guinea grass mixtures which give both energy and protein. Ether extract is the lipid fraction, which is a major form of energy reserve in the plant. The energy derivable from the plant is what the animal uses for its body maintenance and production. The ash content represents the inorganic (mineral matter) content in a feed. Its value is mainly in the contents of phosphorus, calcium, or potassium and large amounts of silica (Bogdan 1977).

NDF and ADF concentrations of the forage were much higher than recommended values of 25% for ruminants (NRC, 2001). However, their concentrations were not too high to hinder intake and animal production (Meissner *et al.*, 1991; Buxton, 1996). Acid detergent fibre is inversely correlated with the digestibility of a feed; the lower the ADF, the higher the digestibility. NDF or neutral detergent fibre (NDF) is correlated with the level of dry matter intake by ruminant; the lower the NDF, the higher the level of intake. The NDF content reported in this experiment was higher than results from Oduguwa *et al.* (2007), but ADF was in the range reported. Ensilage had average effect on the structural carbohydrate. Stage of Maturity is the major factor contributing to the variability in fibre content. The chemical

composition of the silage suggests that any of the additives could be used but this will depend on their availability and cost.

### 3.4.3 The in vitro gas production

*In vitro* gas method primarily measure digestion of soluble and insoluble carbohydrates (Menke and Steingass, 1988) and the amount of gas produced from a feed on incubation reflects production of VFA which are a major source of energy for ruminant. Gas arises directly from microbial degradation of feed and indirectly from buffering of acids generated as a result of fermentation.

Generally, gas production is a reflection of degradable carbohydrate and therefore, the amount depends on the nature of the carbohydrates (Demeyer and Van Nevel, 1975; Blummel and Becker, 1997). The presence of FA in silages may also affect gas volume measurements in carbonate buffered in vitro measures, where about half of the gas volume is accounted for by  $CO_2$  released upon buffering SCFA (Blummel and Ørskov, 1993). The fermentation is relatively intensive during the first 24 hours of incubation, after which it reaches a stationary phase. The kinetics of gas production appears to be determined by two distinct phases; the first one corresponds to the degradation of the soluble fraction. The same profile in the gas production kinetics between the 2 mixtures is probably due to their chemical composition.

The silage with millet grain additive had the highest methane (CH<sub>4</sub>) production and since CH<sub>4</sub> is a dietary energy loss and green house gas emission contributing to global warming (Johnson and Johnson, 1995) and thus causes ecological problems (Hu *et al.*, 2005), this may not interfere with its effective utilization by ruminants because CH<sub>4</sub> emissions rise with increasing digestibility of the ration (up to approx. 72 % digestibility) and for higher digestibility, CH<sub>4</sub> emissions are lowered insignificantly which may be explained by a reduction of the crude fibre content of the ration in exchange for N-free extracts to yield the higher digestibility (Pelchen and Peters, 1998).

Methane (ml/200 mg DM) production) ranged from 12.5 to 20 among the silages, the least and the highest being from silage with cassava chips additive and millet additives respectively. In most cases feedstuffs that show high capacity for gas production are also observed to be synonymous for high methane production. Methane production connotes an energy loss to the ruminant and many tropical feedstuffs have been implicated to increase methanogenesis (Babayemi *et al.*, 2004; Babayemi and Bamikole, 2006a; Babayemi and Bamikole, 2006b) as an integrated part of carbohydrate metabolism (Demeyer and Van Nevel, 1975). Methane is the most abundant organic gas in the earth's atmosphere, and there is evidence that  $CH_4$  concentrations have recently been increasing globally at a rate between 0.7% and 1.0%/year (Crutzen, 1995). Domestic ruminants are responsible for about 12.5% of global  $CH_4$  emissions (Crutzen, 1995). Methane production in the rumen is an energetically wasteful process, since the portion of the animal's feed, which is converted to  $CH_4$ , is eructated as gas. Methane production is metabolic component of anaerobic fermentation in the rumen. It represents a significant energy loss to ruminant.

In most cases, feedstuffs that show high capacity for gas production are also observed to be synonymous for high methane production. The silage with millet additive would be a better option if utilized for feeding regime when taken into consideration its 'a+b,' energy content and  $CH_4$  coupled with its high short chain volatile fatty acid which is an indication of energy content (Fievez *et al.*, 2005).

#### **3.4.4** Acceptability study

Although there are many ways of assessing the nutritive value of feeds for ruminants, the direct intake by animals remains the authentic method. In recent times, cafeteria technique have been used to access the acceptability of some forages (Bamikole *et al.*, 2004b; Babayemi, 2007). In the present study the acceptability of ensiled cassava foliage and Guinea grass mixture showed that silages with cassava chips (1.19), sorghum (1.11) and millet (1.09) additives were more acceptable as CoP was above unity compared to Treatment with sugar and the control ( 0.94 and 0.88 respectively). Reason for high preference for cassava chips, millet grain and sorghum additives could be linked to their high crude protein content and sweet tastes. Small ruminants prefer sweet and generally reject bitter plants (Krueger *et al.*, 1974). A number of factors may influence acceptability of feed by small ruminants. Provenza and Cincotta (1994) reported that plant physical structure and chemical composition are the most vital factors that influence preference for food. Oldham and Alderman (1980) reported that sometime ad *libitum intake* by animals is increased by an increase in crude protein content requirements (NRC, 1985).

#### **CHAPTER FOUR**

# 4.0 Effects of Length of Storage on quality and *in vitro* gas production of ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass mixture.

# 4.1 Introduction

One of the most important factors determining the profitability of any livestock enterprise is the optimal level of feeding. This aim is the most problematic to achieve during the dry season when available feed is scarce and of low nutritive quality (Sowande *et al.*, 2008). It is therefore a common feature to find well fed and robust small ruminant in the rainy season to have appreciably lost weight in the following dry season. The challenge to Animal Scientists and researchers is feed production and utilization in the dry season to stem the cyclic pattern of weight gain and loss between seasons.

Cassava leaves contain an average of 21% crude protein but values ranging from 16.7 to 39.9% have been reported (Ravindran, 1991). Cassava leaves was reported to be abundant and left unutilized when the tuber has been harvested. These when properly preserved and utilized can make them cheap sources of nutrient especially dietary energy and fermentable products for small holder ruminant production. The high content crude protein in cassava leaf or foliage (leaves and stem) makes it a particularly useful source of roughages for ruminants (Smith, 1992). Cassava leaves have been commonly used as feed for ruminant animals by small holder famers only during cassava crop harvesting season when the leaves were abundantly available. The excess leaf available can be stored for a long period of time as a protein feed supplement (Hang, 1998). The cassava leaves could be preserved in form of hay or silage. However, in the rainy season it is difficult to sundry and extending the drying period diminishes the nutritional quality of the product. Ensiling would therefore be sustainable alternative way of preserving the leaves.

Guinea grass is one of the most nutritive grasses used as livestock feed. It is widely distributed across all ecological zones in Nigeria. The availability of this grass declines gradually as dry season approaches after the period of surpluses in the wet season. The high crude protein content of cassava leaves and the decline in quantity of guinea grass in dry seasons are reasons for believing that silage made from them could be a source of feed for ruminant animals to guarantee year round feed availability for such animals.

# 4.2 Materials and methods

# 4.2.1Sampling of ensiled forage

Silage Materials prepared in study 1 were sampled monthly (after the initial 42 days fermentation) for 6 months (72, 102, 132, 162, 192 and 222 days). Silage characteristics, in vitro fermentation and Chemical composition were determined as in study 1

# 4.2.2 Experimental procedure

The experiment was a  $5\times6$  factorial arrangement in a completely randomized design to examine the effects of additives (Cassava chips, Sorghum, Millet, Sugar and None) and length of storage (72, 102, 132, 162, 192 and 222 days)

# 4.2.3 Chemical Analysis

After 72,102, 132, 162, 192 and 222 days (6 months) in storage, a representative samples of the silages were taken different storage containers based on the different additives used for chemical analysis

# 4.2.3 Statistical Analysis

Analysis of variance was used to determine the effects of additives, length of storage and their interactions on the contents of DM, CP,CF ASH, EE, OM and NDF using the General Linear Models procedure of SAS (SAS, 1999) The analytical model was as follows:

 $Y_{ijk} = \mu + A_i + L_j + (AL)_{ij} + e_{ijk}$ 

Where  $Y_{ijk}$  is the dependent variable (e.g. DM, CP),  $\mu$  is the overall mean.

A is additives effect (1 = 1, 2, 3) and L is length of storage (j = 1, 2, 3, 4),

 $(AL)_{ij}$  is the interaction between additives and length of storage, and

 $e_{ijk}$  is the residual error, assumed to be normal and independently distributed.

The differences between means were assessed using the Duncan Multiple Range F-test (SAS, 1999).

# **4.3 RESULTS**

# **4.3.1** Effects of additives and length of storage on the silage characteristics and chemical composition of ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass (Main effects)

The effects of additives and length of storage on the colour, texture, smell and chemical composition of ensiled cassava tops and guinea grass are presented in Tables 5, 6, 7 and 8 respectively.

The effects of additives on colour of ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass mixture stored for six months showed that silage with cassava chips had change in colour after 222 days. Silage with sorghum, millet and sugar additives retained their colour, while that without additives changed colour after 132 days. Silage however retained the firm structure throughout the period under study
Length of storage (days)	Types of Additive								
	Cassava Chips	Sorghum	Millet	Sugar	None				
72	olive green	olive green	olive green	olive green	olive green				
102	olive green	olive green	olive green	olive green	olive green				
132	olive green	olive green	olive green	olive green	Brownish green				
162	olive green	olive green	olive green	olive green	Brownish green				
192	olive green	olive green	olive green	olive green	Brownish green				
222	Brownish green	olive green	olive green	olive green	Brownish green				

Table 5: Effects of additives on colour of ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass mixture stored for six months

Length of storage	Types of Additive								
(days)	Cassava Chips	Sorghum	Millet	Sugar	None				
72	Firm	Firm	Firm	Firm	Firm				
102	Firm	Firm	Firm	Firm	Firm				
132	Firm	Firm	Firm	Firm	Firm				
162	Firm	Firm	Firm	Firm	Firm				
192	Firm	Firm	Firm	Firm	Firm				
222	Firm	Firm	Firm	Firm	Firm				

Table 6: Effects of additives on Texture of ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass mixture stored for six months

Length	of	Storage		Types o	f Additive		
(days)			Cassava Chips	Sorghum	Millet	Sugar	None
72			Pleasant	Pleasant	Pleasant	Fruity	Fruity
			fruity	fruity	fruity		
102			Pleasant	Pleasant	Pleasant	Fruity	Fruity
			fruity	fruity	fruity	$\langle \mathbf{N} \rangle$	
132			Fruity	Fruity	Fruity	Fruity	Fruity
162			Fruity	Fruity	Fruity	Fruity	Fruity
192			Fruity	Fruity	Fruity	Fruity	Fruity
222			Slightly	Fruity	Fruity	Fruity	Fruity
			fruity				

Table 7: Effects of additives on smell of ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass mixture stored for six months







Fig 4: Effect of additives on temperature of ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass mixture

Types of additive	Parameter	r					
	Dry Matter	Crude Protein	Crude Fiber	Ash	Ether Extract	NDF	ADF
Cassava chips	29.83 <sup>a</sup>	23.89 <sup>°</sup>	30.67 <sup>°</sup>	9.77 <sup>a</sup>	11.17 <sup>b</sup>	63.45 <sup>°</sup>	44.44
Sorghum	28.14 <sup>e</sup>	25.12 <sup>b</sup>	31.64 <sup>a</sup>	9.18 <sup>°</sup>	10.44 <sup>°</sup>	62.14 <sup>°</sup>	47.52 <sup>b</sup>
Millet	28.79 <sup>°</sup>	25.53 <sup>b</sup>	31.26 <sup>b</sup>	9.20°	11.34 <sup>b</sup>	65.79 <sup>b</sup>	44.47 <sup>d</sup>
Sugar	29.17 <sup>b</sup>	26.47 <sup>a</sup>	30.77 <sup>°</sup>	9.40 <sup>b</sup>	11.72 <sup>a</sup>	67.50 <sup>°</sup>	47.52 <sup>b</sup>
None	28.46 <sup>d</sup>	23.22 <sup>b</sup>	31.51 <sup>a</sup>	9.65 <sup>°</sup>	11.60 <sup>°</sup>	66.36 <sup>ab</sup>	50.40 <sup>a</sup>
SEM	0.17	0.21	0.07	0.05	0.08	0.53	0.32

Table 8: Chemical composition (%) of ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass mixture with different additives

<sup>abcd</sup>Means on the same row with different superscript, differ significantly (P < 0.05);

Length of Storage		Parameter								
(days)	Dry Matter	Crude Protein	Crude Fiber	Ash	Ether Extract	NDF	ADF			
72	28.00 <sup>a</sup>	24.00 <sup>cd</sup>	31.87 <sup>b</sup>	8.90 <sup>d</sup>	8.82 <sup>°</sup>	71.54 <sup>a</sup>	44.16 <sup>d</sup>			
102	29.63 <sup>a</sup>	25 .68 <sup>b</sup>	31.90 <sup>b</sup>	8.83 <sup>d</sup>	8.41 <sup>d</sup>	71.16 <sup>ª</sup>	47.60 <sup>b</sup>			
132	29.15 <sup>b</sup>	27.13 <sup>ª</sup>	33.72 <sup>a</sup>	9.12°	8.93 <sup>b</sup>	68.79 <sup>b</sup>	44.16 <sup>d</sup>			
162	28.68 <sup>°</sup>	24.52 <sup>b</sup>	30.05 <sup>°</sup>	9.81 <sup>b</sup>	14.10 <sup>a</sup>	57.85 <sup>d</sup>	47.28 <sup>b</sup>			
192	28.93 <sup>b</sup>	24.02 <sup>cd</sup>	29.52 <sup>d</sup>	10.04 <sup>a</sup>	14.10 <sup>°</sup>	58.78 <sup>d</sup>	46.07 <sup>°</sup>			
222	28.52 <sup>°</sup>	23.73 <sup>d</sup>	29.98 <sup>°</sup>	9.95 <sup>ab</sup>	13.10 <sup>b</sup>	62.18 <sup>°</sup>	49.80 <sup>a</sup>			
SEM	0.17	0.23	0.08	0.06	0.09	0.58	0.36			

Table 9: Chemical composition of ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass mixtures stored for six months

<sup>abcd</sup>Means on the same row with different superscript, differ significantly (P< 0.05);

## 4.3.2 INTERACTIONS AMONG ADDITIVES AND LENGTH OF STORAGE ON THE CHEMICAL COMPOSITION OF ENSILED CASSAVA TOPS AND GUINEA GRASS

## 4.3.2.1 EFFECT OF INTERACTION OF ADDITIVES AND LENGTH OF STORAGE ON THE DRY MATTER AND CRUDE PROTEIN CONTENTS OF ENSILED CASSAVA TOPS AND GUINEA GRASS

Table 10, shows the interaction of different types of additives and length of storage on the dry matter (DM) and crude protein (CP) content of ensiled cassava tops and guinea grass mixture. The result showed that there were significant (p < 0.05) differences in between the DM content interaction among additive and length of storage. When silage with millet additive stored for 72 days (28.80 g/100 g DM) had the highest value which was similar to that of cassava chips additives (28.29 g/100 g DM) with the lowest value in silage with sorghum additives (27.12 g/100 g DM). When stored for 102 days, silage with cassava chips additives had the highest Dry matter (32.08 g/100 g DM) and the lowest was in silage with sorghum additive (28.09 g/100 g DM) which were similar to those with millet grain (28.47 g/100 g DM) and sugar (28.91 g/100 g DM) additive. After 132 days of storage, the dry matter ranged between 28.71 and 29.80 g/100 g DM which was highest in silage with sorghum additives. The DM values after 162 days showed a range of 27.61 to 30.07g/100 g DM with the highest value in silage with cassava chips additives. Among the different additives after 192 days, silage with sugar (31.67g/100 g DM) additives was highest (p < 1000.05). There was a significant (p < 0.05) decrease in the DM content after 222 days of storage with the highest value in sugar (29.87g/100 g DM) and lowest in sorghum (27.3g/100 g DM). The crude protein (CP) content of the silage with additives and at different length of storage followed no definite pattern though the values differed significantly (p < 0.05) among each other. Silage stored for 72 days with millet grain additives had the highest (25.60 g / 100 g DM) value of DM but similar to those with none, sorghum and cassava chips additives (24.94, 23.85 and 23.74 g / 100 g DM respectively). Silage with sugar additive had the highest CP content (30.19, 28.22, 28.22, 26.43, and 27.83g/100 g DM) after 102, 132, 192

and 222 days of storage respectively

Parameter	Length of			Г	ypes of ad	ditive			
	Storage (days)	Cassava chips	Sorghu m	Millet	Sugar	None	SEM	Length of Storage	AXLS
	72	28.29 <sup>dx</sup>	27.12 <sup>ez</sup>	28.80 <sup>bx</sup>	27.52 <sup>dxy</sup>	28.06 <sup>cdy</sup>	0.18	**	**
	102	32.08 <sup>ax</sup>	28.09 <sup>cz</sup>	$28.47^{\mathrm{bz}}$	28.91 <sup>cz</sup>	30.60 <sup>ay</sup>	0.30	**	**
DM	132	28.95 <sup>cx</sup>	29.80 <sup>av</sup>	28.71 <sup>bz</sup>	29.46 <sup>bcw</sup>	<b>28.</b> 81 <sup>by</sup>	0.01	**	**
DIVI	162	30.07 <sup>bv</sup>	29.06 <sup>bw</sup>	28.54 <sup>bx</sup>	27.61 <sup>dz</sup>	28.13 <sup>by</sup>	0.01	**	**
	192	28.29 <sup>dx</sup>	27.46 <sup>dz</sup>	29.57 <sup>aw</sup>	31.67 <sup>av</sup>	27.64 <sup>cdy</sup>	0.05	**	**
	222	29.27 <sup>cxy</sup>	27.31 <sup>dez</sup>	28.63 <sup>by</sup>	29.87 <sup>bx</sup>	27.53 <sup>dx</sup>	0.23	**	**
	SEM	0.15	0.09	0.11	0.28	0.18			
	Types of additive		**	**	**	**			
	72	23.74 <sup>bcxy</sup>	23.85 <sup>bxy</sup>	25.60 <sup>bx</sup>	21.88 <sup>ey</sup>	24.94 <sup>bx</sup>	0.75	**	**
	102	25.59 <sup>aby</sup>	24.94 <sup>by</sup>	23.48 <sup>cy</sup>	30.19 <sup>ax</sup>	24.21 <sup>by</sup>	0.71	**	**
	132	26.03 <sup>az</sup>	27.35 <sup>axy</sup>	26.91 <sup>byz</sup>	28.22 <sup>bx</sup>	27.13 <sup>cy</sup>	0.30	**	**
Crude	162	23.99 <sup>abcy</sup>	24.56 <sup>by</sup>	29.34 <sup>ax</sup>	24.27 <sup>dy</sup>	20.45 <sup>dz</sup>	0.38	**	**
Protein	192	21.05 <sup>dz</sup>	<b>25</b> .20 <sup>bx</sup>	25.24 <sup>bx</sup>	26.43 <sup>cw</sup>	22.18 <sup>cy</sup>	0.34	**	**
	222	22.92 <sup>cdz</sup>	24.83 <sup>by</sup>	22.62 <sup>cz</sup>	27.83 <sup>bx</sup>	20.41 <sup>dz</sup>	0.35	**	**
	SEM	0.65	0.50	0.55	0.41	0.40			
	Types of additive	**	**	**	**	**			

Table 10: Dry Matter and Crude Protein (g/100 g DM) of ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass mixture as affected by type of additive (A) and Length of Storage (LS,days)

<sup>abcd</sup> Means on the same column with different superscript, differ significantly (P < 0.05);

vwxyzMeans on the same row with different superscript, differ significantly

\*\*: Significant

## 4.3.2.2 EFFECT OF INTERACTION OF ADDITIVES AND LENGTH OF STORAGE ON THE CRUDE FIBRE AND ASH CONTENTS OF ENSILED CASSAVA TOPS AND GUINEA GRASS

Storage of the silage with sugar additives for 72 and 132days resulted in a significantly (p < 0.05) higher crude fibre (CF) (31.95 and 38.19 g/100 g DM) content while those ensiled with cassava chips additives after 162 and 222 days had the highest CF (32.70 and 32.69 g/100 g DM) content (Table 11). Lowest CF (31.12g/100 g DM) after 72 days of storage was recorded in the silage with no additives, that of 102 and 132 days (27.32 and 31.13g/100 g DM) was recorded in cassava chips additives, and after 192 and 22 days (26.49 and 26.18g/100 g DM) were in silage with sugar additives

The Ash (9.62, 9.42 and 9.41 g/100 g DM) contents was similar (p > 0.05) in silage with none, millet grain and cassava chips additives stored for 72 days but differed significantly from those of sorghum (8.51g/100 g DM) and sugar (7.56 g/100 g DM) additives. After 102 days of storage. Silages ensiled with sugar (9.67 g/100 g DM), sorghum (9.47 g/100 g DM) and cassava chips (9.34 g/100 g DM) had similar ash content which was significant (p <0.05) different from that with millet grain (8.23g/100 g DM) and that without any additive (7.44g/100 g DM). The Ash content of silage with millet grain was lowest (p < 0.05) when stored for 192 and 222 days than those stored ensiled with cassava chips, sorghum, sugar and none additives which differed (p < 0.05) significantly among each other.

				Ту	pes of add	litive				
Parameter	Length of									
	Storage (days)	Cassava chips	Sorghum	Millet	Sugar	None	SEM	Length of Storage	A LS	X
	72	31.89 <sup>bx</sup>	32.49 <sup>ax</sup>	31.91 <sup>cx</sup>	31.95 <sup>cx</sup>	31.12 <sup>cy</sup>	0.20			
Cruda Eihan	102	27.32 <sup>ez</sup>	31.48 <sup>by</sup>	34.44 <sup>aw</sup>	32.78 <sup>bx</sup>	33.49 <sup>av</sup>	0.20			
Crude Fiber	132	31.13 <sup>cz</sup>	31.87 <sup>aby</sup>	33.84 <sup>by</sup>	38.19 <sup>ax</sup>	33.55 <sup>ay</sup>	0.20			
	162	32.70 <sup>aw</sup>	32.16 <sup>ax</sup>	29.47 <sup>dy</sup>	26.49 <sup>ez</sup>	29.41 <sup>dy</sup>	0.16			
	192	28.32 <sup>dz</sup>	29.47 <sup>cy</sup>	28.43 <sup>ez</sup>	29.05 <sup>dy</sup>	32.31 <sup>bx</sup>	0.15			
	222	32.69 <sup>ax</sup>	32.39 <sup>ax</sup>	29.45 <sup>dy</sup>	26.18 <sup>ez</sup>	29.19 <sup>dy</sup>	0.10			
	SEM	0.11	0.20	0.10	0.17	0.23				
	Types of additive	**	**	**	**	**				
	72	9.42 <sup>cx</sup>	8.51 <sup>dy</sup>	9.41 <sup>abcx</sup>	7.56 <sup>dz</sup>	9.62 <sup>cx</sup>	0.14			
	102	9.34 <sup>cx</sup>	9.47 <sup>cx</sup>	8.23 <sup>dy</sup>	9.67 <sup>bcx</sup>	7.44 <sup>dz</sup>	0.13			
Ash	132	9.39 <sup>cy</sup>	7.33 <sup>ez</sup>	9.47 <sup>abxy</sup>	9.53 <sup>cx</sup>	9.89b <sup>cw</sup>	0.04			
Asii	162	9.92 <sup>bxy</sup>	10.00 <sup>ax</sup>	9.88 <sup>axy</sup>	9.44 <sup>cy</sup>	9.80 <sup>bc12</sup>	0.16			
	192	10.95 <sup>ax</sup>	10.01 <sup>ay</sup>	8.92 <sup>cz</sup>	10.16 <sup>ay</sup>	10.16 <sup>by</sup>	0.08			
	222	9.60 <sup>bcyz</sup>	9.78 <sup>byz</sup>	9.30 <sup>bcz</sup>	10.03 <sup>aby</sup>	11.02 <sup>ax</sup>	0.17			
	SEM	0.12	0.05	0.15	0.15	0.1`3				
	Types of additive	**	**	**	**	**				

# Table 11: Crude fiber and Ash (g/100 g DM) of ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass mixture as affected by type of additive and Length of Storage (LS, days)

<sup>abcd</sup> Means on the same column with different superscript, differ significantly (P < 0.05);

<sup>xyz</sup>Means on the same row with different superscript, differ significantly

\*\*: Significant

## 4.3.2.3 EFFECT OF INTERACTION OF ADDITIVES AND LENGTH OF STORAGE ON THE ETHER EXTRACT AND NEUTRAL DETERGENT FIBRE CONTENTS OF ENSILED CASSAVA TOPS AND GUINEA GRASS

The Ether extract (EE) contents (table12) of silage with sugar (8.83g/100 g DM), cassava chips(8.41 g/100 g DM) none(8.39 g/100 g DM) and sorghum (8.32 g/100 g DM) after 72 days of storage were similar (p > 0.05) but lower (p < 0.05) than that ensiled with millet grain (10.13 g/100 g DM). Silage with sorghum additive (9.54 g/100 g DM) had the highest EE content after 102 days.

The silage with sugar stored for 132 days had higher (p < 0.05) EE (9.72g/100 g DM) followed by that ensiled with cassava chips (9.68 g/100 g DM), millet grain (8.71 g/100 g DM), none (8.68g/100 g DM) while silage with sorghum additive had the least (8.09 g/100 g DM) EE content.

Silage ensiled with millet grain (76.39g/100 g DM), cassava chips(71.66 g/100 g DM) and sorghum additives (71.4 g/100 g DM) had similar (p > 0.05) Neutral detergent fibre when stored for 72 days which were lower (p < 0.05) than those ensiled with none (68.80 g/100 g DM )and sugar additive (69.39 g/100 g DM).The lowest NDF content were recorded after 162 days of ensiling with cassava chips (48.10g/100 g DM),sorghum (58.10g/100 g DM), millet grain (58.17g/100 g DM) and that without any additives (62.00g/100 g DM). Silage with sugar additive was however lowest (58.50g/100 g DM) after ensiling for 192 days.

-				Т	ypes of a	dditive			
Parameter	Lenght of								
	Storage (days)	Cassav a chips	Sorghu m	Millet	Sugar	None	SE M	Length of Storage	A X LS
	72	8.41 <sup>dy</sup> *	*8.32 <sup>dy</sup>	10.13 <sup>dx</sup>	8.83 <sup>cd</sup>	8.39 <sup>cy</sup>	0.16	**	**
	102	7.57 <sup>ez</sup>	9.54 <sup>cx</sup>	$7.70^{\mathrm{fz}}$	8.41 <sup>dy</sup>	8.85 <sup>cy</sup>	0.17	**	**
	132	9.68 <sup>cx</sup>	$8.09^{dy}$	8.71 <sup>ey</sup>	9.72 <sup>cx</sup>	8.68 <sup>cy</sup>	0.19	**	**
Ether	162	14.83 <sup>ax</sup>	11.83 <sup>bz</sup>	14.17 <sup>by</sup>	$15.00^{a}$	14.67 <sup>ay</sup>	0.20	**	**
Extract	192	13.50 <sup>bz</sup>	13.17 <sup>ay</sup>	14.67 <sup>ay</sup>	15.50 <sup>a</sup> x	14.17 <sup>b</sup> y	0.22	**	**
	222	13.50 <sup>by</sup>	11.67 <sup>bz</sup>	12.67 <sup>cy</sup>	12.83 <sup>b</sup> y	14.83 <sup>ax</sup>	0.27	**	**
	SEM Types of	0.20 **	0.15 **	0.16 **	0.31 **	0.14 **			
	72	71.66 <sup>ax</sup>	71 <b>.47<sup>ax</sup></b>	76.39 <sup>ax</sup>	69.39 <sup>a</sup> y	68.80 <sup>b</sup>	0.39	**	**
	102	68.12 <sup>bz</sup>	63.80 <sup>by</sup>	74.07 <sup>ax</sup>	$74.32^{a}$	75.48 <sup>a</sup> w	0.21	**	**
	132	70.44 <sup>abx</sup>	63.35 <sup>bz</sup>	66.84 <sup>by</sup>	74.77 <sup>a</sup> w	66.54 <sup>cy</sup>	0.60	**	**
NDF	162	48.10 <sup>dy</sup>	58.10 <sup>cx</sup>	58.17 <sup>dx</sup>	62.87 <sup>b</sup>	62.00 <sup>d</sup>	2.70	**	**
	192	60.00 <sup>cx</sup>	57.43 <sup>cy</sup>	55.80 <sup>dy</sup>	58.50 <sup>°</sup>	62.17 <sup>d</sup>	1.28	**	**
	222	62.40 <sup>cx</sup>	58.67 <sup>cy</sup>	63.50 <sup>cx</sup>	63.17 <sup>b</sup>	63.17 <sup>d</sup>	0.82	**	**
	SEM Types of additive	0.89 **	0.50 **	0.88 **	2.51 **	0.58 **			

Table 12: Ether extract and Neutral Detergent Fibre (NDF) (g/100 g DM) of ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass mixture as affected by type of additive and Length of Storage (LS, days)

<sup>abcd</sup> Means on the same column with different superscript, differ significantly (P < 0.05);

<sup>wxyz</sup>Means on the same row with different superscript, differ significantly

\*\*: Significant

## 4.4.1 Effects of additives and length of storage on *In vitro* gas production of ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass incubated for 96 h (Main effects)

The effect of additive on the *in vitro* gas production of the silage is shown in Figure 6 and the effect of length of storage on *in vitro* gas production pattern is shown in figure 7. The highest and the lowest gas production were obtained from silages with millet additive and with sorghum additives respectively, while the highest gas production was recorded after 72 days of storage and the lowest from 102 days of storage.





## 4.4.2 Effects of additives and length of storage on *In vitro* gas production of ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass incubated for 96 h (Main effects)

Table 13 shows the effect of additives on *In vitro* gas production characteristics of ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass mixtures incubated for 96 h. The effect of additive on the different silage on insoluble but fermentable fractions (b) was not significant but significant effect were recorded for potential extent of gas production (a+b), fractional rate constant(c), Metabolizable energy (ME); organic matter digestibility (OMD), short chain fatty acid (SCFA)

Table 14 shows the effect of length of storage on *In vitro* gas production characteristics of ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass mixtures stored for six months. The effect of length of storage of the different silage on insoluble but fermentable fractions (b), potential extent of gas production(a+b), fractional rate constant(c), Metabolizable energy (ME); organic matter digestibility(OMD) and short chain fatty acid (SCFA) were all significant. The highest values were recorded in silage after 72 days of storage (28.00ml, 30.07ml, 0.0030ml/h<sup>-1</sup>, 13.37ml/200mg Dm, 7.68 MJ/Kg,73.16 % and 0.78 mmol) while the lowest were recorded after 102 days of storage.

Types of additives		Fermentati	on Characteri	stics			
	В	a+b	С	Y	ME (MJ/Kg)	OMD (%)	SCFA (mmol)
Cassava chips	20.83	22.89 <sup>ab</sup>	0.022 <sup>ab</sup>	10.11	6.70 <sup>ab</sup>	65.95 <sup>b</sup>	<sup>ab</sup> 0.61
Sorghum	20.11	21.56 <sup>b</sup>	0.022 <sup>ab</sup>	9.83	6.59 <sup>b</sup>	65.95 <sup>b</sup>	0.58
Millet	23.17	25.39 <sup>a</sup>	0.020 <sup>b</sup>	10.28	a 7.14	69.29 <sup>a</sup>	0.67 <sup>a</sup>
Sugar	21.56	23.50 <sup>ab</sup>	0.029	12.22	<sup>ab</sup> 6.93	67.72 <sup>ab</sup>	0.62 <sup>ab</sup>
None	21.00	22.89 <sup>ab</sup>	0.021 <sup>b</sup>	10.22	<sup>ab</sup> 6.66	66.19 <sup>ab</sup>	0.61 <sup>ab</sup>
SEM	1.05	1.17	0.001	0.89	0.16	1.06	0.03

Table 13: *In vitro* gas production of ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass mixtures with different additives incubated for 96 h

<sup>abc</sup> Means within the column with different superscripts differed significantly (P < 0.05); b = insoluble but fermentable fractions; a+b = potential extent of gas production; c = fractional rate constant; ME = Metabolizable energy; OMD = organic matter digestibility; SCFA = short chain fatty acid;

Length of Storage	Fermentation Characteristics									
(days)	В	a+b	С	Y	ME (MJ/Kg)	OMD(%)	SCFA (mmol)			
72	28.00 <sup>a</sup>	30.07 <sup>a</sup>	0.030 <sup>a</sup>	13.37 <sup>a</sup>	7.68 <sup>°</sup>	73.16 <sup>a</sup>	0.78 <sup>a</sup>			
102	16.20 <sup>°</sup>	17.67 <sup>°</sup>	0.021 <sup>b</sup>	6.40 <sup>°</sup>	6.09 <sup>°</sup>	62.91 <sup>b</sup>	0.48 <sup>c</sup>			
132	21.47 <sup>b</sup>	23.93 <sup>b</sup>	0.019 <sup>b</sup>	11.27 <sup>ab</sup>	7.03 <sup>b</sup>	70.31 <sup>ª</sup>	0.63 <sup>b</sup>			
162	21.00 <sup>b</sup>	22.53 <sup>b</sup>	0.020 <sup>b</sup>	11.27 <sup>ab</sup>	6.69 <sup>b</sup>	65.51 <sup>b</sup>	0.60 <sup>b</sup>			
192	21.40 <sup>b</sup>	23.13 <sup>b</sup>	0.019 <sup>b</sup>	9.20 <sup>b</sup>	6.74 <sup>b</sup>	64.47 <sup>b</sup>	0.61 <sup>b</sup>			
222	19.93 <sup>b</sup>	22.13 <sup>b</sup>	0.023 <sup>b</sup>	<sup>ab</sup> 11.60	6.59 <sup>b</sup>	64.75 <sup>b</sup>	0.59 <sup>b</sup>			
SEM	1.15	1.28	0.001	2.18	<mark>0</mark> .18	1.64	0.03			

Table 14: *In vitro* gas production characteristics of ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass mixtures stored for six months

a,b,c, : means within the column with different letters differed significantly (P<0.05); b = insoluble but fermentable fractions; a+b = potential extent of gas production; c = fractional rate constant;ME= metabolizable energy, OMD= Organic matter digestibility, SCFA= short chain fatty acid

## 4.3.3 INTERACTIONS AMONG ADDITIVES AND LENGTH OF STORAGE ON *IN VITRO* GAS PRODUCTION CHARACTERISTICS OF ENSILED CASSAVA TOPS AND GUINEA GRASS

Table 15 and 16 shows the interaction among the different additives and length of storage On *in vitro* fermentation characteristics of ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass mixture. The interaction between length of storage and types of additives had no significant (P> 0.05) effect on insoluble but fermentable fractions (b), potential extent of gas production(a+b), fractional rate constant(c), Metabolizable energy (ME); organic matter digestibility(OMD),and short chain fatty acid (SCFA) during the 72, 132 and 192 days of storage

Parameter	Length of		Typ	bes of addit	ive				
	Storage (days)	Cassava chips	Sorghum	Millet	Sugar	None	SEM	Length of Storage	A X LS
b (ml)	72	25.33 <sup>a</sup>	25.67 <sup>a</sup>	32.00 <sup>a</sup>	29.00 <sup>a</sup>	28.00 <sup>a</sup>		Ns	Ns
	102	8.00 <sup>by</sup>	19.33 <sup>abx</sup>	15.33 <sup>cxy</sup>	19.00 <sup>bx</sup>	<sup>abcx</sup>		**	**
	132	24.33 <sup>°</sup>	<sup>ab</sup> 18.67	18.33 <sup>bc</sup>	22.33 <sup>ab</sup>	23.67 <sup>ab</sup>		Ns	Ns
	162	25.33 <sup>ax</sup>	12.33 <sup>by</sup>	20.00 <sup>bcxy</sup>	22.00 <sup>abx</sup>	24.33 <sup>abx</sup>		**	**
	192	21.67 <sup>a</sup>	20.00 <sup>ab</sup>	25.33 <sup>ab</sup>	22.67 <sup>ab</sup>	17.33 <sup>ab</sup>		Ns	Ns
	222	20.33 <sup>xy</sup>	24.00 <sup>ax</sup>	27.67 <sup>ax</sup>	14.33 <sup>by</sup>	13.33 <sup>cy</sup>		**	**
	SEM	2.50	2.69	2.32	2.73	2.63			
	Types of additive		**	**	**	**			
a+b (ml)	72	27.00 <sup>a</sup>	27.67 <sup>a</sup>	34.67 <sup>a</sup>	30. <mark>3</mark> 3 <sup>a</sup>	30.67 <sup>a</sup>		Ns	Ns
	102	9.00 <sup>by</sup>	21.33 <sup>abx</sup>	сху 16.33	20.33 <sup>bx</sup>	21.33 <sup>abx</sup>		**	**
	132	27.33 <sup>a</sup>	20.33 <sup>ab</sup>	21.33 <sup>bc</sup>	25.33 <sup>ab</sup>	25.33 <sup>abc</sup>		Ns	Ns
	162	28.33 <sup>ax</sup>	by 13.13	21.33 <sup>bcxy</sup>	23.33 <sup>abx</sup>	26.33 <sup>abx</sup>		**	**
	192	23.33 <sup>a</sup>	21.33 <sup>ab</sup>	27.33 <sup>ab</sup>	24.33 <sup>ab</sup>	19.33 <sup>abc</sup>		Ns	Ns
	222	22.33 <sup>axyz</sup>	25.33 <sup>axy</sup>	31.33 <sup>ax</sup>	17.33 <sup>byz</sup>	14.33 <sup>cz</sup>		**	**
	SEM	2.77	2.80	2.77	2.96	3.06			
	Types of additive								

# Table 15a: Effect of different additives on *in vitro* fermentation characteristics of ensiledcassava tops and Guinea grass mixtures stored for six months

<sup>abcd</sup> Means on the same column with different superscript, differ significantly (P < 0.05);

<sup>xyz</sup>Means on the same row with different superscripts, differ significantly

\*\*: Significant Ns: Not significant

b = insoluble but fermentable fractions; a+b = potential extent of gas production;

A: Types of additive LS: Length of Storage (days)

Parameter	Length of Storage			T	ypes of ad	ditive			
	(days)	Cassava chips	Sorghum	Millet	Sugar	None	SEM	Length of Storage	A X LS
	72	0.033 <sup>a</sup>	0.029 <sup>a</sup>	0.027 <sup>a</sup>	0.035 <sup>a</sup>	0.026		**	**
	102	0.024 <sup>ab</sup>	0.019 <sup>b</sup>	0.024 <sup>a</sup>	0.016 <sup>b</sup>	0.021		**	**
$C(ml/h^{-1})$	132	0.019 <sup>ab12</sup>	0.022 <sup>ab1</sup>	0.013 <sup>c2</sup>	0.024 <sup>ab1</sup>	0.018 <sup>12</sup>		**	**
	162	0.021 <sup>ab1</sup>	0.020 b1	0.014 <sup>bc2</sup>	0.024 <sup>ab1</sup>	0.020 <sup>1</sup>		**	**
	192	$0.015^{b2}$	0.021 <sup>ab1</sup>	0.021 <sup>ab1</sup>	0.021 <sup>b1</sup>	0.016 <sup>12</sup>		**	**
	222	0.021 <sup>ab12</sup>	$0.020^{b2}$	0.023 <sup>a12</sup>	ab1 0.028	0.022 <sup>12</sup>		**	**
	SEM	0.004	0.002	0.02	0.004	0.003			
	Types of additive		**	**	**	**			
Y	72	11.33 <sup>a</sup>	14.00 <sup>a</sup>	<sup>ab</sup> 14.67	16.67 <sup>a</sup>	10.67		Ns	Ns
	102	4.33 <sup>b</sup>	5.00 <sup>°</sup>	5.67 <sup>°</sup>	7.33 <sup>b</sup>	9.67		Ns	Ns
	132	12.67 <sup>a12</sup>	abc12 10.67	7.00 <sup>c2</sup>	<sup>ab1</sup> 14.33	11.67 <sup>12</sup>		**	**
	162	14.33 <sup>a</sup>	7.67 <sup>bc</sup>	8.33 <sup>bc</sup>	12.67 <sup>ab</sup>	11.33		Ns	Ns
	192	ab12 8.67	abc12 10.67	8.67 <sup>bc12</sup>	12.33 <sup>ab1</sup>	5.67 <sup>2</sup>		**	**
	222	9.33 <sup>ab2</sup>	<sup>ab2</sup> 11.00	17.33 <sup>a1</sup>	<sup>ab2</sup>	10.33 <sup>2</sup>		**	**
	SEM	4.07	1.73	2.05	2.52	2.58			
	Types of additive	**	**	**	**	**			

# Table 15b: Effect of different additives on *in vitro* fermentation characteristics of ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass mixtures stored for six months

<sup>abcd</sup> Means on the same column with different superscript, differ significantly (P < 0.05);

<sup>123</sup>Means on the same row with different superscript, differ significantly

\*\*: Significant Ns: Not significant

c = fractional rate constant; Y = volume of gas produced

A: Types of additive LS: Length of Storage (days)

Parameter	Length Storage (days)	of	Types of additive							
			Cassava	Sorghum	Millet	Sugar	None	SEM	Length	A X LS
			chips						of	
			0		0		0		Storage	
ME	72		7.25	7.35	8.40 <sup>a</sup>	7.59	7.82	0.34	Ns	
(WJ/Kg)	102		4.91 <sup>by</sup>	6.55 <sup>abx</sup>	5.78 <sup>cxy</sup>	6.71 <sup>abx</sup>	6.50 <sup>abcx</sup>	0.40	**	
	132		7.43 <sup>a</sup>	6.55 <sup>a</sup>	6.66	7.28 <sup>ab</sup>	7.22 <sup>ab</sup>	0.40	Ns	
	162		7.45 <sup>ax</sup>	5.44	6.80	6.78	<sup>abx</sup> 6.98	0.41	**	
	192		6.60 <sup>b</sup>	6.57 <sup>ab</sup>	7.38 <sup>ab</sup>	7.05 <sup>ab</sup>	6.12 <sup>bc</sup>	0.41	Ns	
	222		6.57 <sup>by</sup>	<sup>axy</sup> 7.09	<sup>abx</sup> 7.78	6.17	5.34 cz	0.41	**	
	SEM		0.38	0.39	0.38	0.41	0.42			
	Types	of	**	**	**	**	**			
	additive	<u>)</u>	ah	0		ch				
OMD(%)	72		70.33 <sup>ab</sup>	71.36	77.99	72.49	73.63	2.27	Ns	
	102		52.18 <sup>cy</sup>	65.56 <sup>abx</sup>	62.39 <sup>cx</sup>	67.89	66.54 <sup>abx</sup>	2.62	**	
	132		71.16 <sup>ab</sup>	66.01 <sup>ab</sup>	67.99 <sup>bc</sup>	74.96 <sup>ª</sup>	71.45 <sup>ab</sup>	2.63	Ns	
	162		72.15 <sup>ax</sup>	58.72 <sup>by</sup>	66.24	63.79	66.64 <sup>abx</sup>	2.66	**	
					у		У			
	192		63.53 <sup>b</sup>	64.37 <sup>ab</sup>	69.05 <sup>bc</sup>	<sup>abc</sup> 67.32	63.08 <sup>bc</sup>	2.73	Ns	
	222		<sup>abxy</sup> 66.33	69.66	<sup>abx</sup> 72.09	59.85 <sup>cy</sup>	55.80 <sup>cy</sup>	2.68	**	
	SEM		2.49	2.59	2.54	2.69	2.71			
	Types	of	**	**	**	**	**			
	additive	•	a	а	а	а	а	0.07	<b>N</b> 7	
SCFA (mmol)	72		0.71 <sup>"</sup>	0.72 <sup>°°</sup>	0.89	0.78 <sup>°</sup> <sub>by</sub>	0.79 <sup>°°</sup>	0.06	Ns	
(IIIII0I)	102		0.28	0.57	0.45	0.55	0.57	0.07	**	
	132		0.72 <sup>a</sup>	0.55	0.57	0.67	0.67	0.07	Ns	
	162		0.74 <sup>ax</sup>	0.38 <sup>by</sup>	0.57 <sup>bcxy</sup>	0.62	0.69 <sup>abx</sup>	0.07	**	
	192		<b>0</b> .62 <sup>a</sup>	0.57 <sup>ab</sup>	0.71 <sup>ab</sup>	0.64 <sup>ab</sup>	0.52 <sup>bc</sup>	0.07	Ns	
	222		0.59 <sup>axy</sup>	0.67 <sup>axy</sup>	0.81 <sup>ax</sup>	0.47 <sup>by</sup>	0.40 <sup>cy</sup>	0.07	**	
	SEM		0.07	0.07	0.07	0.07	0.07			
	Types additive	of	**	**	**	**	**			

**Table 16:** Effect of different additives on *in vitro* fermentation characteristics of ensiled

 cassava tops and Guinea grass mixtures stored for six months and incubated for 96h

<sup>abcd</sup> Means on the same column with different superscript, differ significantly (P < 0.05);

<sup>xyz</sup>Means on the same row with different superscript, differ significantly

\*\*: Significant Ns: Not significant

ME = metabolizable energy; OMD = organic matter digestibility; SCFA = short chain volatile fatty acid;

### 4.3 Discussion

The silage colours were close to the original colour of the forages were retained and nutrients not denatured which showed that most chllorophyl were retained. This was in agreement with the findings of Oduguwa *et al.* (2007). The smell was good for all treatment. The low pH together with elevated levels of lactic acid showed that the herbage contained sufficient amounts of soluble carbohydrates to effectively preserve the silage. This can be attributed to the high buffering capacity and low DM content of the legumes, which favours the production of other organic acids other than lactic acid (Woolford, 1984; McDonald *et al.*, 1991). Additives are used to improve nutrient composition of silage, to reduce storage losses by promoting rapid fermentation, to reduce fermentation losses by limiting extent of fermentation, and to improve shelf life of silage (increase aerobic stability).

The chemical composition of the silage fluctuated widely during the period under study. The DM content was within the range for good silage and within the range of values reported for good silage. Effluents were not detected during the ensiling. Reduction in CP content could be attributed to the degradation of protein during ensiling which resulted in higher non protein nitrogen in the silage than in the herbage before ensiling (Whittenbury, *et al.*, 1967). High protein in the diet and especially in the forage should be desired as it largely determines the intake and digestibility (Babayemi *et al.*, 2003). The crude protein contents of the silages were still within the acceptable range for ruminant performance (ARC, 1980; NRC 1985), and 8 % suggested by Norton (1994) for ruminal function.

The fibre contents (NDF, ADF, Lignin, cellulose and hemicellulose) have implication on the digestibility of plants. The neutral detergent fibre (NDF), which is a measure of the plants' cell wall contents, is the chemical component of the feed that determines its rate of digestion. NDF is inversely related to the plants' digestibility (McDonald *et al.*, 1995; Gillespie 1998). The higher the NDF, the lower the plant's digestible energy. The values obtained for the grasses may imply a moderately high cell wall contents. Reduced NDF content in silage could be attributed to monosacharides that provide additional sugar for lactic acid production during fermentation (Muck, 1993). Reduced effect on ADF could be attributed to the fact that ADF does not provide sugars for lactic acid production during fermentation. The metabolic regulation of intake in ruminants has to a large extent been related to the production and absorption of nutrients (e.g. acetate and propionate) in the rumen (Forbes, 1995). This could be attributed to the fact that ADF does not provide sugars for provide sugars for lactic acid production during for the production and absorption of nutrients (e.g. acetate and propionate) in the rumen (Forbes, 1995). This could be attributed to the fact that ADF does not provide sugars for lactic acid production during for the production during fermentation (Muck, 1995).

fermentation. The chemical profile suggests a potential use in ruminant livestock production as they fell within the recommended value. The ensiling process ensures not only increased Storage Length and microbiological safety, but it also makes most food resources more digestible (Caplice and Fitzgerald, 1999).

There are many factors that may determine the amount of gas to be produced during fermentation, depending on the nature and level of fibre, the presence of secondary metabolites (Babayemi *et al.*, 2004a) and potency of the rumen liquor for incubation. It is possible to attain potential gas production of a feedstuff if the donor animal from which rumen liquor for incubation was collected, got the nutrient requirement met. Generally, gas production is a function and a mirror of degradable carbohydrate and therefore, the amount depends on the nature of the carbohydrates (Demeyer and Van Nevel, 1975; Blummel and Becker, 1997).

The highest gas production was recorded in silage with millet additives. The high gas volume produced by the silages could be due to high crude protein in feed which enhances microbial multiplication in the rumen, which in turn determines the extent of fermentation. Increasing the duration of ensilage reduced the *In vitro* gas production. This may be due to the decrease in WSC which is a source of energy for microorganisms in the rumen (Van Soest, 1994), and agrees with Ben Salem *et al.* (2005) who found a decline in gas production as anaerobic storage period was prolonged.

The presence of fatty acids in silage may also affect gas volume measurements in carbonate buffered *in vitro* measure, where about half of the gas volume is accounted for by Co<sub>2</sub> released upon buffering SCFA (Blummel and Orskov, 1993)

The ME values of the silage (7.00 -8.16 MJ/Kg) were within the ranges reported by Menke and Steingass (1988), where the ME values of various European feeds ranged from 4.5 to 15 MJ kg-1 DM. In vivo organic matter digestibility (OMD) is defined as the proportion of feed OM apparently digested in the total digestive tract. OMD is a measure of energy available to ruminants and is used in protein evaluation systems (Vérité *et al.*, 1987; Tamminga *et al.*, 1994) to calculate rumen fermentable OM, which in turn is used to estimate rumen microbial protein synthesis.OMD reported in this study was within the range of 44.789 -78.7 % reported by Onwuka *et al.* (1989) for Cassava leaves have in vitro organic matter digestibility (IOMD). Feivez *et al.* (2005) reported that the level of SCFA is an indicator of the energy value of diets therefore the lower SCFA of these treatments are indication of their low energy contents.

Blummel and Ørskov (1993) reported that gas production is associated with volatile fatty acid (VFA) production following fermentation so the more the fermentation of diet the greater the gas production. Variation between total gas productions could be explained by the differences in the total VFA production and molar proportion of VFA (Beuvink and Spoelstra, 1992). Doane *et al.* (1997) found a significant correlation between gas production and VFA production.

#### **CHAPTER FIVE**

## 5.0 VOLUNTARY INTAKE AND PERFORMANCE OF WAD SHEEP FED ENSILED CASSAVA TOPS AND GUINEA GRASS MIXTURE

## **5.1 Introduction**

Livestock productivity in the tropics has suffered major setbacks due to inadequate quantity and quality feed supplied to the animals especially during the dry season (Peters, 1998). During the rainy season, forages are relatively available and animals may gain weight easily and remain thrifty (Babayemi, *et al.*, 2003). Osakwe (2006) reported that the low nutrient content of tropical forages is the most limiting factor affecting the performance of ruminants consequently resulting in low productivity. When nitrogen content of feed is less than one percent, the ruminant's appetite is depressed and voluntary feed intake is reduced (Minson, 1990). Therefore, animal production and consumption of animal products are low in the humid tropics compared to developed countries (Kizilsimsek *et al.*, 2005).

Cassava foliage has been reported to be nutritious to ruminants when fed either fresh, dried or made into silage (Wanapat *et al.*, 2000a; Fasae *et al.*, 2009a, b). Cassava foliage is rich in crude fibre and protein which can be used to meet the nutrient requirement of livestock. Cassava foliage is a good source of protein and has been reported to increase livestock productivity including milk yield (IITA Annual report 2004, Kwamme, 2001) and body weight gain (Nhi *et al.*, 2001, Bunyeth and Preston 2006).

Guinea grass is one of the most nutritive grasses used as livestock feed. It is widely distributed across all ecological zones in Nigeria. The availability of this grass declines gradually as dry season approaches after the period of surplus in the wet season. Improved nutritional strategy is a key factor to improving the productive capacity of livestock animals. Adequate nutrition is one of the ways to enhance the productivity of WAD sheep (Yusuf *et al.*, 2010). This study therefore aimed at assessing the effect of ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass mixture on the performance of WAD sheep

### 5.2 Materials and methods

#### **5.2.1 Experimental Sites**

The experiment was conducted at the Sheep and Goat unit of the Teaching and Research Farm Ladoke Akintola University of Technology, Ogbomoso, Oyo State, between the period of November 2010 to March 2011. Ogbomoso is located in the derived savannah Zone of latitude  $8^{0}26^{1}$ N and longitude  $4^{0}29$ f with a mean annual rainfall of 1247mm and mean annual temperature of about  $27^{0}$ C.

### **5.2.2 Experimental animals and management**

Twenty (25) male West African Dwarf sheep age 12-14 months were purchased from local markets around the University farm. The animals were confined for one-month adaptation period. During this period they were treated against ecto and endoparasitic infections by bathing them with a solution of diasuntol at 4 ml per 4 litres of water Ivomec injection. They were also be vaccinated against Peste de petits ruminante (PPR) disease. Feed, water and salt lick were provided *ad-libitum*.

The animals were housed in individual pens made of low walls of 1 m x 1.5 m in size and each pen was about 220 cm long and 121 cm wide. The floor of the pen was made of concrete and the roof of the goat unit which housed the pens was made of corrugated iron sheets. The pens were cleaned and washed thoroughly with warm detergent to remove dirts and obnoxious odour prevailing in the house. The pens were further disinfected with Morigad while the surroundings were fumigated with formalin. The overgrown weeds and grasses were sprayed with grammozone to check the growth. The feeding and drinking troughs were washed and disinfected and the whole house was left to rest for two weeks before usage. Wood shaving was spread on the floor of the pen as bedding containers.

## 5.2.3 Animal feeding

The rams were weighed on arrival, rested, watered and tagged for easy identification. Rams were fed with the feedstuff (including maize bran, cassava peels, and wheat offal), which they consumed from where they were purchased during the acclimatization periods. The animals were placed on prophylactic treatment through the administration of antibiotics (long acting). Animal were also treated against endoparasites and ectoparasites using 10% of Levamisol and diazintol respectively. They were allowed to adapt for 1 month, which consists of 4 hr daily grazing and concentrate supplementation.

After adaptation, the animals were randomly grouped into five treatments in a completely randomized design comprising five animals per diet. They were individually kept in separate pens that were previously embedded with wood shavings. Feeders and drinking trough were placed in the pens for free access to feed and fresh water daily. Feed were offered at approximately 4% of their body weight. Voluntary feed intakes were estimated as the difference between feed offered and feed refusal. The animals were weighed prior to feeding to minimize error due to "fill" in the morning on a weekly basis to calculate average weight gain.

A one hundred and thirty five (135) day feeding trial was initiated and carried out during November, 2010 to March 2011. Changing of bedding was done fortnightly while the rams were dipped in diasuntol and given antibiotics when the need arose.

**5.2.4 Experimental diets:** In a completely randomized design with five replicate sheep were randomly distributed to treatment diet which is ensiled as follows.

Treatment 1: 30% cassava tops + 60% Guinea grass + 10% cassava chips. Treatment 2: 30% cassava tops + 60% guinea grass + 10% sorghum grain. Treatment 3: 30% cassava tops + 60% guinea grass + 10% millet grain. Treatment 4: 30% cassava tops + 60% guinea grass + 10% sugar Treatment 5: 40% cassava tops + 60% guinea grass + 0% additives.

### 5.2.5 Digestibility trials

Fifteen rams were used for determining the digestibility and N-balance of the diets. The animals were housed individually in metabolic cages in a completely randomized design. The animals were offered the feed during seven days adaptation period prior to 7 days collection period; water and salt licks were provided throughout the metabolic period. The animals were weighed at the beginning and end of the digestibility trials. The animals were supplied the experimental diets as in growth trial. During seven days collection period, total faeces were collected and weighed daily. A 10% sample of total faeces was stored in a freezer at -10 °C. After 7 day collection period, daily samples from each animal were bulked, mixed, dried in an oven at 60 °C and milled for chemical analysis. All urine were collected and measured daily in the morning using measuring plastic containers. At collection 2 ml of 10 % sulphuric acid was added to 10 % aliquot of the urine in each

container to prevent microbial growth and loss of nitrogen. Ten percent of total urine was sampled daily and stored at -4 °C for nitrogen analysis. Daily feed was served at 4 % body weight. Feed refusal was sampled daily and mixed for the entire collection period on an individual basis using an air tight plastic bag.

### **5.2.6 Chemical analysis**

The dried samples of supplemental feeds, remnants and dried faeces were ground through a 1mm mesh screen for analysis. Two grammes of milled samples in duplicate were used for proximate analysis. Crude protein determination was by kjeldahl technique which involved the digestion of the samples in concentrated sulphuric acid which converted the sample nitrogen to ammonium sulphate. After digestion the digest was cooled, diluted to mark with distilled water in 250 ml volumetric flasks. The digest was distilled and titrated in a kjeldhal apparatus with 60 % sodium hydroxide which changed the sample nitrogen into ionized ammonium. The solution was then distilled, and the distillate containing the ammonium was automatically titrated with acid. The percent CP was obtained by multiplying the percent nitrogen content obtained by 6.25 (AOAC, 1990).

## **5.2.6 Blood collection**

Blood samples were collected and at the end of the growth trial to analyze for haematology and biochemical components. Blood samples were taken before morning feeding via jugular vein puncture into two blood tubes. One containing an anticoagulant (Disodium salt of ethylene diamenetetracetic acid (EDTA)) and the other with no anticoagulant from which serum was harvested for biochemical analysis. Packed Cell Volume (PCV), Haemoglobin (Hb), red blood cell (RBC) and total white Blood Cells (WBC) were determined. Mean Corpuscular volume (MCV), Mean Corpuscular haemoglobin (MCH) and Mean Corpuscular haemoglobin concentration (MCHC) were calculated from PCV, Hb and RBC as established (Jain, 1986). The serum total protein (STP) was obtained by the biuret method.

### **5.2.6 Statistical analysis**

The experimental design was completely randomized design (CRD). Data generated were subjected to the analysis of variance procedure of SAS (1999). Significant means were separated using the Duncan Multiple range test of the same package. Experimental model of the design was:  $Y_{ij} = \mu + \alpha_i + \Sigma_{ij}$ 

Where:	$Y_{ij} =$	Individual of	observation	μ	=	general	mean	of the	popul	ation

 $\alpha_i$  = treatment effect  $\Sigma_{ij}$  = composite error effect.

#### **5.0 RESULTS**

The performance characteristics of WAD sheep fed on ensiled cassava tops and guinea grass mixture are shown in Table 17. The final body weight (kg) and dry matter intake (g/day) of rams on different silages were significantly (P < 0.05) different from each other, with sheep fed silage with millet additive having the highest value. The diets had no influence on the body weight gain (kg) and daily body weight gain (g/day). Animals on silage with millet additive (41.67 g/d) showed the best body weight increase while animals on silage with sugar additive (30.93 g/d) showed the least. The values for dry matter intake ranged from 459.28 to 530.01 g/day. The silages with different additive had no significant (P < 0.05) effect on the Feed conversion ratio (FCR) of the ram.

Apparent digestibility (%) of ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass mixture by WAD sheep is shown in Table 18. The Dry matter, Crude protein, crude fibre and ether extract differ significantly (P <0.05) among the diets while Ash and organic matter digestibility were not significantly (P > 0.05) affected. The highest DM, CP and CF digestibility value were recorded in silage with no additive (84.69, 90.58 and 70.97% respectively) and the lowest were recorded in silage with sugar additives (75.78, 84.14 and 83.50% respectively). The ether extract digestibility was highest in silage with sorghum (89.14%) and lowest in silage with sugar additive (73.31%).

Parameter	60         %           GG         +           30         %           CF+         10%           cassava         chips	60% GG + 30% CT+ 10% Sorghum grain (Diet 2)	60% GG + 30 % CT + 10% millet grain (Diet 3)	60% GG + 30% CT+10% sugar (Diet 4)	60 % GG+ SEM 40% CT + 0% additive (Diet 5)	
Initial body weight	13.25	13.50	13.63	12.63	13.00	
(kg) Final body weight (kg)	17.43 <sup>ab</sup>	18.13 <sup>ab</sup>	19.25 <sup>a</sup>	16.75 <sup>b</sup>	17.76 <sup>b</sup> 0.66	
Body weight gain (kg)	4.13	4.63	5.63	4.13	4.56 0.59	
Daily body weight $gain (g/d)$	30.93	34.26	41.67	30.56	33.80	
Dry matter intake, total $(g/d)$	483.89 <sup>b</sup>	487.92 <sup>b</sup>	530.01 <sup>a</sup>	459.28°	472.59 <sup>bc</sup> 4.39	
Dry matter intake, total, metabolic (g/kgW0.75)	103.16 <sup>b</sup>	103.82 <sup>b</sup>	110.45 <sup>a</sup>	99.20°	101.36 <sup>bc</sup> 1.07	
Feed conversion ratio	15.99	15.34	12.96	16.04	14.89 1.87	

Table 17: Performance characteristics of WAD sheep fed on ensiled cassava topsandguinea grass mixture

<sup>ab</sup>means on the same row with different superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05)

CF = Cassava tops GG = Guinea grass

Treatment	Apparent dig	Apparent digestibility					
		Crude	Crude		Organic	Ether	
	Dry matter	protein	fibre	Ash	matter	extract	
60 % GG + 30 % CF+ 10%							
cassava chips	80.06 <sup>ab</sup>	87.25 <sup>ab</sup>	79.46 <sup>ab</sup>	60.62	82.01	82.62 <sup>c</sup>	
60 % GG + 30 % CF+ 10%							
Sorghum grain	82.29 <sup>ab</sup>	89.48 <sup>ab</sup>	80.04 <sup>ab</sup>	59.02	84.13	89.41 <sup>a</sup>	
60 % GG + 30 % CF+ 10%							
millet grain	76.87 <sup>ab</sup>	87.25 <sup>ab</sup>	74.86 <sup>ab</sup>	55.38	79.13	84.58 <sup>bc</sup>	
60 % GG + 30 % CF+ 10%							
sugar	75.78 <sup>b</sup>	84.14 <sup>b</sup>	70.97 <sup>b</sup>	49.08	78.20	73.31 <sup>d</sup>	
60 % GG + 40 % CF+ 0%							
additive	84.69 <sup>a</sup>	90.58ª	83.50 <sup>a</sup>	68.31	85.95	88.75 <sup>ab</sup>	
SEM	2.52	1.80	2.96	6.53	2.28	1.42	

Table 18: Apparent digestibility (%) of ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grassmixture by WAD sheep

<sup>abcd</sup> Means on the same column with different superscript, differ significantly (P< 0.05);

GG- Guinea grass, CT- Cassava top

Table 19 shows the total digestible nutrients (TDN) in the silage with different additives. The TDN ranged from 79.49 to 86.71. The silage with no additive had the highest TDN value of 86.71 while the one with sugar additive had the least TDN value of 79.49. There were significant differences among the TDN in the silages but none between silages with cassava chips and sorghum additive and no additive. Similarly the difference between the TDN in the silages with millet, Cassava chips and sorghum were not significant.

PARAMETERS	60 % GG +	60 % GG +	60 % GG +	60 % GG	60 % GG +	SEM
(%)	30 % CF+	30 % CF+	30 % CF+	+ 30 %	40 % CF+	
	10% cassava	10%	10% millet	CF+ 10%	0% additive	
	chips	Sorghum	grain	sugar		
		grain				
CRUDE	<sup>ab</sup> 15.82	<sup>ab</sup> 16.40	16.73 <sup>ab</sup>	<sup>ab</sup> 14.78	<sup>ab</sup> 17.17	0.58
PROTEIN						
CRUDE FIBRE	23.95 <sup>ab</sup>	24.50 <sup>ab</sup>	23.71 <sup>a</sup>	21.57 <sup>ab</sup>	26.36 <sup>ab</sup>	1.81
ETHER	<sup>ab</sup> 3.87	<sup>ab</sup> 4.40	4.75 <sup>°</sup>	<sup>ab</sup> 3.48	<sup>ab</sup> 4.15	0.37
EXTRACT						
NITROGEN	34.29	35.11	30.18	35.30	33.83	1.56
FREE						
EXTRACT						
TOTAL	<sup>abc</sup> 82.76	85.91 <sup>ab</sup>	ь 81.31	79.49 <sup>°</sup>	86.71 <sup>a</sup>	1.59
DIGESTIBLE						
NUTRIENT						

Table 19: Total digestible nutrients by WAD sheep fed on ensiled cassava tops andGuinea grass mixture

<sup>ab</sup> means on the same row with different superscripts are significantly different (P<0.05)

GG- Guinea grass, CT- Cassava top

Table 20 shows the haematological values of West African Dwarf (WAD) sheep fed ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass mixture. There were significant differences (p < 0.05) in the haematological parameters measured among the different additives used in ensiling the different silages fed to WAD sheep, except for the insignificant differences (P > 0.05) in WBC, RBC, MCV and MCH. There was significant difference between PCV, Hb, MCHC, lymphocytes and neutrophils. The PCV was higher (33.67%) in diet containing sorghum grain and lower (27.00%) in diet with cassava chips as additives and the control. Hb value ranges between 9.00 and 11.22. There was significant difference also in MCHC which ranged between 33.33% and 33.34%. There was no significant difference in MCV and MCH in all diets.

The RBC counts in the sheep ranged between 9.00 to 11.22.g/dl; while the total WBS counts range was7400 -10900.The relative differential leucocyte counts (DLC) showed that Percentage distribution of leukocytes had significant differences. Lymphocyte and Neutrophils ranged between 60.33% - 67.50% and 29.50%-37.33% respectively. Eosinophil values were significantly higher (p < 0.05) in the WAD sheep fed silages ensiled with cassava chips (1.50%), millet grain, sugar and the control, than sorghum additive.
	Treatment						
	60 % GG +	60 % GG +	60 % GG +	60 % GG	60 % GG	SEM	
	30 % CF+	30 % CF+	30 % CF+	+ 30 %	+ 40 %		
	10% cassava	10%	10% millet	CF+ 10%	CF+ 0%		
	chips	Sorghum	grain	sugar	additive		
Parameter		grain					
PCV, %	27.00 <sup>b</sup>	33.67 <sup>a</sup>	32.00 <sup>a</sup>	31.00 <sup>a</sup>	27.00 <sup>b</sup>	0.87	
Hb, g/dl	$9.00^{b}$	11.22 <sup>a</sup>	10.67 <sup>a</sup>	10.33 <sup>a</sup>	9.00 <sup>b</sup>	0.29	
WBC	7550	8983	8675	109 <mark>0</mark> 0	7400	1228.07	
RBCs,							
x10 <sup>6</sup> /m	6.46	8.17	7.42	7.64	6.82	0.66	
MCHC, %	33.33 <sup>b</sup>	33.34 <sup>a</sup>	33.33 <sup>b</sup>	33.33 <sup>b</sup>	33.33 <sup>b</sup>	0	
MCV, fl	0.45	0.42	0.43	0.41	0.4	0.04	
MCH, Pg	15.05	13.95	14.4	13.63	13.36	1.23	
	60 % GG +	60 % GG +	60 % GG +	60 % GG	60 % GG	SEM	
	30 % CF+	30 % CF+	30 % CF+	+ 30 %	+ 40 %		
Percentage	10% cassava	10%	10% millet	CF+ 10%	CF+ 0%		
distribution	chips	Sorghum	grain	sugar	additive		
of leukocytes		grain					
Lymphocytes,	c ( o cab	co aab	co roab	cc ooab		1 50	
%	64.00	60.33°	62.50 <sup>ab</sup>	66.00 <sup>ae</sup>	67.50	1.73	
Neutrophils,		27.228	$22 \text{ ob}^{b}$	20 oob	an rob	1 20	
% 5	32.30	51.35	32.00	30.00	29.30°	1.39	
Eosinophils,	1 508	o oob	1 508	1 008	1 508	0.42	
%	1.50"	0.00°	1.50"	1.00"	1.50"	0.43	
Monocytes,	2.00 <sup>b</sup>	2.22 <sup>b</sup>	4 00 <sup>a</sup>	2 00 <sup>b</sup>	1 50 <sup>b</sup>	0.40	
70	2.00	2.33	4.00	3.00	1.30	0.49	

Table 20: Heamatology of WAD Sheep fed ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass mixture

GG- Guinea grass, CT- Cassava top

Packed Cell Volume (PCV), Haemoglobin (Hb), Red blood cell (RBC), white Blood Cells (WBC), Mean Corpuscular volume (MCV), Mean Corpuscular haemoglobin (MCH) and Mean Corpuscular haemoglobin concentration (MCHC)

	Treatment						
	60 % GG +	60 % GG +	60 % GG +	60 % GG + 30	60 %	SEM	
	30 % CF+	30 % CF+	30 % CF+	% CF+ 10%	GG + 40		
	10% cassava	10% Sorghum	10% millet	sugar	% CF+		
	chips	grain	grain		0%		
Parameters					additive		
Glucose, mg/dl	73.74	85.86	74.75	69.19	45.08	13.38	
Cholesterol,							
mg/dl	49.42	91.33	103.76	68.79	110.12	18.51	
Total protein,							
g/dl	8.20 <sup>a</sup>	6.87 <sup>ab</sup>	7.68 <sup>ª</sup>	7.63 <sup>a</sup>	6.08 <sup>b</sup>	0.45	
Albumin, g/dl	4.56 <sup>a</sup>	3.42 <sup>b</sup>	3.70 <sup>b</sup>	4.31 <sup>a</sup>	4.27 <sup>a</sup>	0.09	
Urea, mg/dl	13.72 <sup>ab</sup>	11.83 <sup>b</sup>	13.46 <sup>ab</sup>	16.15 <sup>a</sup>	13.17 <sup>ab</sup>	1.01	
AST, IU/l	12.38 <sup>a</sup>	7.07 <sup>bc</sup>	8.84 <sup>b</sup>	5.30 <sup>°</sup>	6.19 <sup>°</sup>	0.69	
ALT, IU/l	27.40	11.49	15.03	26.54	17.68	4.98	
ALP, IU/l	90.71 <sup>ª</sup>	81.06 <sup>ab</sup>	76.10 <sup>b</sup>	59.86 <sup>°</sup>	49.15 <sup>°</sup>	3.92	

 Table 21: Blood biochemistry of WAD Sheep fed ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass

 mixture with different additives.

AST= Aspartate Amino Transferase

ALT= Alanine Amino Transferase

ALP= Alkaline phosphatase

<sup>abc</sup> means on the same row with different superscripts are significantly different (P<0.05)

# **5.2 Discussion**

The high dry matter intake (DMI) of rams on the silages with different additives could be as a result of the succulent nature of the silage coupled with the high CP content. The level of DMI is influenced by several factors, such as body composition of animals (composition of body fat), environmental conditions especially climate, genetic factors, weight of animals, type of management, feed composition and quality (ARC, 1980). Dry matter intake was high. This could be as a result of the succulent nature of the silage coupled with it higher CP content. However, it has been observed that DMI could be favorably influenced by dietary CP level (Karim *et al.*, 2001; Karim and Santra, 2003).Overall, DMI of sheep were within the 310 to 870 g/day values reported by ARC (1980) and McDonald *et al.*, (1987) as adequate for sheep with body weight of 20 to 35 kg. However NRC (1985) reported that DMI could go up to 1000 to 1300 g/day for growing sheep. Some factors, e.g. low pH (Shaver *et al.*, 1985) as well as high contents of acetic acids (Wilkins *et al.*, 1971) and lactic acids (Mc Leod *et al.*, 1970) have been attributed to the reduced intake of silage.

Ensiled cassava tops and guinea grass mixture increased total N supply and together with an increase in diet digestibility would have contributed to better performance in the supplemented groups. According to several authors it is likely that the increasing CP intake leads to an increased bacterial population in the rumen, thereby increasing the availability of fermentable nitrogen, and later to an improved digestion of fibre in the rumen (McDonald *et al.*, 1998; Ash,1990; Khang and Wiktorsson, 2004).

Feed type is an important factor that affects sheep growth and performance. Andrews and Orskov (1970) reported that ADG of growing lambs improved as dietary protein level increased in the diets. Our observation on the influence of CP content on ADG is in agreement with Kanjanapruthipong and Leng (1997), Warly *et al.* (1994), Hossain *et al.* (1995) and Thu and Uden (2001) who reported that the level of protein in the diets would improve DMI, digestibility and maximizes efficiency of microbial cell synthesis in the rumen for live-weight gain.

According to FAO (1995), the energy value of silage and the efficiency of its utilization, are largely determined by the relative balances of glucogenic energy, long chain fatty acids and essential amino acids absorbed by the animal. It could then mean that this diet contained a balance of nutrients, which efficiently interacted to give the highest average daily gain. Sainz

and Wolff (1990) reported that the rate of fat deposition relate more to the amount of energy available in excess of requirements for maintenance and lean growth. Variation in average daily gains of the rams could be attributed to variation in nutrient supply in the silage (Oddy and Sainz, 2002). Daily body weight gain (g/d) ranged between 30.9 to 41.7 g/d but lower than findings of Marjuki *et al.*, (2008) who reported between 41.4 to 45.0 g/d. Feeding cassava leaf silage has been reported to increase body weight gain (Nhi *et al.*, 2001 and Bunyeth and Preston, 2006). Alli-Balogun *et al.*, (2003) fed 1.0% and 1.5% of body weight equivalent of cassava leaf to Yankasa sheep as supplement to Gamba grass and recorded weight gain of 39.2-41.2 g/d. Andrews and Orskov (1970) reported that ADG of growing lambs improved as dietary protein level increased in the diets. Our observation on the influence of CP content on ADG is in agreement with Kanjanapruthipong and Leng (1997), Warly *et al.* (1994), Hossain *et al.* (1995) and Thu and Uden (2001) who reported that the level of protein in the diets would improve DMI, digestibility and maximizes efficiency of microbial cell synthesis in the rumen for live-weight gain.

Food and agriculture organization (1995) classified digestibility of feed as; high (> 60%), medium (40-60%) and low (< 40%). Apparent digestibility was high for all the nutrients except the medium value obtained for ash. The Dry matter digestibility (DMD) in the present study was higher than the value (71% DMD) obtained by (Wanapat et al., 1997) for cassava tops hay and 50% DMD observed by (Man and Wlktorsson, 2001). This difference could be as result of stage of maturity, preservation method and additive inclusion may explain the difference. The higher crude protein (CP) digestibility of animals fed with the different silage could be attributed to the amount of cassava tops which is the primary source of protein in the diet. The high intake resulting in higher protein digestibility may be connected to the nature of the silage. High crude protein in the diet has been considered an important factor that enable high intake of the silage Crude protein digestibility was higher than 47.2% reported by Taiwo et al., (1995). Digestibility of CP often increases as CP intake decreases because metabolic faecal N usually makes up a larger part of faecal N at low intake than at high intake (Wheeler et al., 1975). The daily DM intake and apparent DM digestibility showed a continuous increase with increasing levels of wilted cassava foliage in the diets which is a logical consequence of the increasing CP content in the diet. Ash digestibility signifies that animals were able to utilize the mineral in the feed efficiently. The improved nutrient digestibility of the ram might be due to their relatively low fibre but high nitrogen content that facilitated the growth and activity of rumen microorganisms (Adu and Olaloku,

1976). The different silage mixture had CP that supported high DMI, digestibility and possibly microbial protein synthesis.

The TDN obtained in this study was above the TDN values of 70.6%, 70.7% 66.7% from corn silages (Nishida *et al.*, 2007). This suggests that cassava tops based silage compares favourably with silage made from corn in terms of TDN and can serve as an alternative replacement to the expensive conventional corn silage there by reducing the cost of production.

Haematology and blood biochemistry measurements may vary depending on factors such as sex, age, weather, stress, season, pregnancy status and physical exercise (Kaneko et.al., 1997). Significant changes in these parameters are used to draw inference in clinical investigation. It may give some insight as to the animals' production performance potential. PCV and Hb levels indicate the nutritional status of the animal. Mean PCV values obtained in this study were within the range of 21 - 35 % reported by Daramola *et al.* (2005). This finding suggested that WAD sheep have the tendency for compensatory accelerated production (CAP) of PCV in case of infection and stress. Compensatory accelerated production has been shown to return PCV to normal level following infection (Dargie and Allonby, 1975). Comparative studies showed that PCV varies proportionatately with serum protein; this suggested that PCV is beneficial in assessing the protein status and possibly forecasting the degree of protein supplementation in sheep at different physiological states. The total WBC count was higher in this study than values obtained for Red Sokoto goats (Tambuwal *et al.*, 2002), cattle in Nigeria (Oduye and Fasanmi 1971) and Nigerian buffaloes (Olusanya *et al.*, 1976). The value of WBC obtained for all rams depict absence of infection since elevation of WBC suggest infection by microorganism especially bacteria (Meyer and Harvey, 1998). However, the values obtained in this study fell within the broad range recorded for Red Sokoto goats (Tambuwal et al., 2002) and cattle (Benjamin 1978; Schalm et al., 1975) and suggestive of well developed immune system of the WAD sheep to proffer good health. Haemoglobin (Hb) concentration in this study fell within the range of high values obtained for Red Sokoto goats (Tambuwal et al, 2002). West African Dwarf sheep seem to possess relatively high Hb values, and this is an advantage in terms of the oxygen carrying capacity of the blood. This higher RBC values that were observed in the intensively managed goats in the present study may be due to higher plane of diet and veterinary care given to them. Rekwot et al. (1987) observed that White Fulani that were fed with high protein diet (14.45% crude protein) had higher erythrocyte values than those on low protein diet (8.51%).

WAD sheep seem to possess protective system, providing a rapid and potent defense against any infectious agent and this is probably the physiological basis for the adaptation of this species to this ecological zone characterized by high prevalence of diseases. The values of the PCV, HB, RBC, and WBC obtained for the Ram fed ensiled cassava tops and guinea grass with different additives were within the physiological normal range (PCV:19.00-38.00 %) (Hb 8.00-14.00gm/dl)(RBC 8.00-18.00\*10<sup>-6</sup>ml)(WBC 4.00-13.00\*10<sup>3</sup>ml)(MCHC: 32-38%), (MCV: 10.2-11.0fl) and (MCH, 30-32pg) (Mitruka and Raswnley, 1977).

Wide variation in leucocytes number is a reflection of the leucocytes' response to infection. Lazzaro (2001) noted that depressed level of lymphocytes might indicate either an exhausted immune system or elevated neutrophil level in an active infection in sheep, like other ruminants there are more lymphocytes than neutrophils in circulation (Olusanya *et al.*, 1976).Osueni (2001) and Lazzaro (2001) observed an increase in neutrophils and this is associated with a decrease in lymphocyte and vice versa. Neutrophils and lymphocyte have been noted to fight pathogens once they have passed the barrier of the shin into the cell (Politis *et al.*, 2002) therefore increase number will increase immunity, thus suggestive of a well developed immune system in the WAD sheep with such number of immune cells to offer good health.

According to Otesile *et al.* (1991) serum biochemistry is a generalized medium of assessing the health status of animals. Differences in serum biochemical parameters may be caused by nutrition, environment and hormonal changes (Chineke *et.al.*, 2002). Concentration of blood components of sheep were used to monitor nutrient status (e.g. serum glucose) and blood urea nitrogen (BUN) and associated muscle mass (e.g. creatinine). Glucose is one of the metabolites measured as an indicator of the energy status of the animal. Normal glucose levels in the ram indicate adequate synthesis in the liver from propionate metabolism as the major glucose precursor (Houtert, 1993). Fisher *et al.* (1974) reported that the concentrations of blood glucose and protein albumin are respectively the preferred indicators of adequacy of diets in terms of energy and protein. Based on the different dietary regimes it could be concluded that the efficiency of utilization of available dietary protein and energy were responsible for the variations in the concentration of blood glucose of the ram.

Concentration of specific blood components have been used to monitor nutrient status (e.g. serum glucose and blood urea nitrogen [BUN], Hammond *et al.*, 1994) and have been associated with overall muscle mass (e.g. creatinine, Morgan *et al.*, 1993; Myer *et al.*, 1996) in ruminants.

Serum proteins are important in osmotic regulation, immunity and transport of several substances in the animal body (Jain, 1986). Blood urea N is an indication of efficiency of utilization of dietary protein. Eggum (1989) reported that the blood urea N is highly inversely correlated with net protein utilization. Ruminants are not efficient utilizers of dietary protein (Beever, 1982). A positive correlation exists between level of protein (N) intake and BUN concentration (Pfander et al., 1975; Preston et al., 1965; Karnezos et al., 1994). In ruminants, BUN can be influenced by dietary N-to-energy ratio, level of forage intake, and protein degradability in the rumen (Hammond *et al.*, 1994). Feeding cattle on a low nutritional plane decreased metabolic body rate and the required maintenance energy (Hornick et al., 2000). The BUN concentration in ruminants has been used as an indicator of excess N consumption relative to energy (Hammond *et al.*, 1994). This explains why the urea N of the rams fed the different silages had high average daily gain because nearly all the ingested protein is used for protein synthesis (Kaneko, 1989). A high level of serum urea has been attributed to excessive tissues protein catabolism associated with protein deficiency (Oduye and Adadevoh, 1976). The concentration of blood urea-N concentration (BUN) was higher in sheep on silage with sugar additive than others. BUN concentration of the rams was higher than values reported by Adegbola et al. (1987) and Aregheore and Oluokun (1989) for the West African Dwarf sheep. Diets may be implicated for the variations in BUN concentration of the West African Dwarf sheep used.

Enzymes are protein catalysts present mostly in living cells and are constantly and rapidly degraded although, renewed by new synthesis (Coles, 1986). According to Zilva and Pannall (1984), normal enzyme level in serum is a reflection of a balance between synthesis and their release, as a result of the different physiological processes in the body. Transaminase enzymes are those mostly responsible for the synthesis of non-essential amino acids through the process known as transamination according to Carola *et al.* (1990). In this study, a wide range in the observed value for the transaminases could be an indication that the silage did not differ in their effects on enzyme secretion mechanism. According to Keele and Neil (1971), serum levels of AST are significantly high under disease and morbid conditions

involving injuries to large numbers of metabolically active cells. However, the result of this study suggests a contrary situation in this regard thus indicating the potential of the silage in the feeding of rams. The ALP level can be influenced by Pregnancy, blood pH and disease (Kelly, 1974), the animal in this study were apparently healthy, non pregnant and these parameters could not have been influenced by these factors.

The values obtained for all the biochemical indices fall within the range quoted by Mitruka and Raswnley (1977). The values of the glucose, total protein, Serum albumin, Blood urea, AST, ALT and AIP obtained for the Ram fed ensiled cassava tops and guinea grass with different additives were within the physiological range (glucose: 55.0-131mg/dl), (total protein: 5.70 – 9.10g/dl), Albumin: 2.70-4.55g/dl), blood urea: 15.0-36.0mg/dl), (AST:40-123IU/l), (ALT:25-70IU/l) and (ALP:69.5-105IU/l) (Mitruka and Raswnley, 1977).

# CHAPTER SIX

#### 6.0: CARCASS EVALUATION STUDY

Nutrition is the most important factor limiting livestock production in Nigeria while seasonal variation has an important influence on feed production. Inadequate nutrition occurs during dry season which forms impediment to the development of ruminant production in the tropics (Proverbs, 1990). This is due to long period of drought with attendant prevalence of inadequate and poor quality roughages for animal consumption (Bawala *et al.*, 2006). It further lessens the animal's ability to withstand exposure to pathogenic organisms (Youseff, 1990) with concomitant reduction in performance which result into low dressing percentage.

In Nigeria, ruminant production is limited by the low quality of available grasses and straws especially in the dry season. Grains and other conventional supplements are too expensive for many resource-poor farmers due to the heavy competition between man and livestock industries for these conventional feed sources. The inability of livestock keepers to meet the nutrient requirements of animals and protein intake in particular is the militating factor that leads to reduced per caput protein intake of the human populace. To ameliorate this deficiency and increase animal protein and/or productivity, preservation of forages during period of abundance and when the nutrient content is high is necessary.

The high crude protein content of cassava leaves and the year round availability are reasons for believing that silage made from them could be a source of feed for ruminant animals. This experiment was designed to determine the effect of ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass mixture on the carcass quality of West African dwarf sheep.



# 6.2 Materials and methods

#### **6.2.1 Experimental Sites**

The study was carried out at the Slaughter house of the Teaching and Research farm of Ladoke Akintola University of Technology, Ogbomoso

#### **6.2.2 Slaughter procedure and carcass evaluation:**

After the 135-day feeding trial in experiment 5, 10 rams were randomly selected from all 25 experimental animals (2 animals /treatment) and were sacrificed for the carcass evaluation study. The rams were starved for 12 hours and weighed prior to Slaughter. The animals were bled by cutting the throat and then Slaughtered by severing the head at its articulation with the atlas. The dressed carcasses were weighed after 24 hours chilling in a cold room maintained at -5°C. The chilled carcass weight divided by the live weight before Slaughter and multiplied by 100 was given as the dressing-out percentage. The chilled carcass weight was taken as the weight of the animal after the removal of the head, skin, thoracic, abdominal and pelvic cavity contents (including the diaphragm and the kidneys) and the limbs distal to the carpal and tarsal joints after storing in a chilling chamber for 24 hours. Other carcass components, organs and muscles were also weighed.

The procedure of Palsson (1939) as adopted by Omojola and Attah (2006) for the jointing of the carcass for lambs was followed. The frozen carcass was divided down the spinal column using a meat band saw. Each half was weighed. The left was divided into the following cuts. The leg (thigh) was severed at the attachment of the femur to the acetabulum. The loin consisted of the lumbar region plus a pair of ribs and the ends (spare ribs plus belly) of six abdominal ribs. The shoulder consisted of the scapula, humerus, radius, ulna, carpals and the sets which are made up of the breast and the neck. Each of the cuts was weighed and the weight was doubled in each case before being expressed as a percentage of the chilled carcass weight. All body components such as head, skin, kidneys, liver, heart, lungs and spleen were weighed and classified in terms of their respective percentage with respect to live weight of the animal. Carcass length (CL), depth of chest was measured. Carcass length was recorded from the cranial edge of the symphysis pelvis to the cranial edge of the first rib.

# **6.3 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS**

The data obtained were subjected to analysis of variance (ANOVA) technique of statistical analysis system (SAS) and Duncan multiple range test was employed for mean separation.

Experimental model of the design was:  $Y_{ij} = \mu + \alpha_i + \Sigma_{ij}$ 

Where:  $Y_{ij}$  = Individual observation

- $\mu$  = general mean of the population
- $\alpha_i$  = treatment effect
- $\Sigma_{ij}$  = composite error effect.

# 6.3 Results

Table 22 shows the carcass measurement in WAD sheep fed ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass mixture with different additives. Carcass length and hot carcass weight were not significantly (p>0.05) affected by the different silages fed. Carcass from rams on silage with no additive had the highest (28cm) and the lowest from those fed silage with millet additive (25.5 cm). Hot carcass weight ranged between 15.08 -17.08 cm, Empty body weight, Depth of chest and Dressing percentage were significantly affected by the silages fed. Empty body weight ranged between 8.75 and 9.88 Kg. Depth of chest was highest (11.5cm) in carcass from rams fed silage with cassava chips and lowest in those fed sorghum additive (10.50 cm). The dressing percentage was also significantly affected by the different silages. Rams fed silage with Cassava Chips additives had the highest percentage (53.77 %) which was similar to those fed millet additive (51.99%) and without additives (52.03%). Rams fed on silage with sorghum additives had the lowest Dressing percentage (50.89%)

Table 23 shows the body weight, carcass and wholesale cut of WAD sheep fed ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass mixture with different additives. Live body weight ranged between 17.25 and 19.00 Kg. Values of the warm carcass ranged between 8.75 and 9.88 Kg. Carcass from rams on cassava chips (9.88 Kg), millet grain (9.88 Kg) and no additives (9.75 Kg) were similar but significantly different from those fed silage with sorghum (9.25 Kg) and sugar additives (9.88Kg). The legs gave the highest percentage (34.32 – 36.82%). This was followed by shoulder (23.05 – 24.44%), rack (18.58 – 22.54%) and loin (12.00 – 14.85%) in that order. The leg and the shoulder were however not significantly affected (P>0.05) by the different silages fed but the Rack, Neck, Brest and Flank were significantly (P<0.05) affected. The percent weight of leg neck, shoulder and breast were higher in rams fed silage with Sugar additives while that of rack was highest (P>0.05) in Rams fed silage with Cassava chips additives while that of the loin was highest (P>0.05) in rams fed silage with millet additives.

Table 24 shows the percentage of external offal, internal offal and blood as influenced by ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass mixture with different additives. The percentage of the head and the feet were not significantly affected but the skin was significantly affected by the different silages. The percent weight of skin relative to slaughter weight was highest in rams fed silage with millet additives and the control thought similar to those fed silage with

sorghum and sugar additives. The proportion of feet relative to Slaughter weight followed the same pattern in skin. It ranges from 3.27 to 3.59 in the same animal with the same treatment.

The heart, kidney, spleen and pancreases were not significantly (P<0.05) affected by the different silages. The liver and the testis were however significantly affected (P>0.05). The values obtained for the liver indicated that there was a significant increase in the liver weights of those rams on silage with cassava chips, Sorghum, millet and control but significantly different from those fed silage with sugar additive.

Parameter	60 %	60 %	60 %	60 %	60 % GG +	SEM
	GG +	<b>GG</b> + <b>30</b>	GG +	GG +	40 % CF+	
	30 %	% CF+	30 %	30 %	0%	
	CF+	10%	CF+	CF+	additive	
	10%	Sorghum	10%	10%		
	cassava	grain	millet	sugar		
	chips		grain			
Carcass length	25.5	26.5	25.5	26	28	0.85
(cm)						
Hot carcass weight	16.76	16.68	17.08	15.08	17.05	0.71
(kg)						
Empty body	<b>9.88</b> <sup>a</sup>	9.25 <sup>b</sup>	9.88 <sup>a</sup>	8.75°	9.75 <sup>ª</sup>	0.15
weight (kg)						
Depth of chest	11.50 <sup>a</sup>	10.50 <sup>c</sup>	11.25 <sup>ab</sup>	11.00 <sup>abc</sup>	10.75 <sup>bc</sup>	0.2
(carcass) (Cm)				•		
Dressing %	53.77 <sup>a</sup>	50.83 <sup>b</sup>	51.99 <sup>ab</sup>	50.89 <sup>b</sup>	52.03 <sup>ab</sup>	0.81

Table 22: Carcass measurement in WAD sheep fed ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass mixture with different additives

GG- Guinea grass, CT- Cassava top

Parameter	60 % GG + 30 % CF+ 10% cassava	60 % GG + 30 % CF+ 10% Sorghum grain	60       %       60       %       G         GG       +       +       30       %         30       %       CF+       10%         10%	G 60 % SEM % GG + 40 % % CF+ 0% additive
	cnips		grain	
Live (body) wt. (kg)	18.38	18.25	19 17.25	18.75 0.56
Warm carcass (kg)	9.88 <sup>a</sup>	9.25 <sup>b</sup>	9.88 <sup>a</sup> 8.75 <sup>c</sup>	9.75 <sup>a</sup> 0.15
Leg (% carcass)	36.82	36.75	36.34 38.05	34.32 1.55
Loin (% carcass)	12.23 <sup>bc</sup>	12.00 <sup>c</sup>	14.85 <sup>a</sup> 14.06 <sup>abc</sup>	14.23 <sup>ab</sup> 0.65
Rack (% carcass)	18.90 <sup>a</sup>	$18.17^{ab}$	17.88 <sup>ab</sup> 16.53 <sup>ab</sup>	15.60 <sup>b</sup> 0.78
Neck (% carcass)	10.71 <sup>bc</sup>	11.72 <sup>ab</sup>	10.39 <sup>c</sup> 12.15 <sup>a</sup>	11.89 <sup>ab</sup> 0.37
Shoulder (% carcass)	23.66	23.05	23.64 24.44	23.52 1.03
Breast (% carcass)	10.11 <sup>a</sup>	12.47 <sup>a</sup>	12.01 <sup>ab</sup> 12.63 <sup>a</sup>	12.24 <sup>a</sup> 0.62
Flank (% carcass)	4.05 <sup>a</sup>	3.26 <sup>b</sup>	$3.68^{ab}$ $3.43^{ab}$	4.06 <sup>a</sup> 0.2

Table 23: Body weight, carcass, and some wholesale cuts proportion as influenced by ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass mixture with different additives

GG- Guinea grass, CT- Cassava top

Parameter	60 % GG	60 %	60 %	60 %	60 %	SEM
	+ 30 %	<b>GG</b> + <b>30</b>	<b>GG</b> + <b>30</b>	<b>GG</b> + <b>30</b>	<b>GG</b> + 40	
	CF+ 10%	% CF+	% CF+	% CF+	% CF+	
	cassava	10%	10%	10%	0%	
	chips	Sorghum	millet	sugar	additive	
		grain	grain			
Head (% live wt)	8.38	8.17	7.85	7.98	8.24	0.19
Skin (% live wt)	7.42 <sup>b</sup>	7.55 <sup>ab</sup>	8.07 <sup>a</sup>	7.80 <sup>ab</sup>	8.09 <sup>a</sup>	0.18
Feet (% live wt)	3.33	3.46	3.47	3.59	3.27	0.13
Testes (% live wt)	1.49 <sup>b</sup>	1.82 <sup>ab</sup>	1.43 <sup>b</sup>	1.53 <sup>b</sup>	$2.00^{a}$	0.12
Blood (% live wt)	$4.70^{a}$	5.40 <sup>a</sup>	4.67 <sup>b</sup>	5.10 <sup>ab</sup>	4.90ab	0.17
Heart wt(% live wt)	0.53	0.52	0.52	0.52	0.52	0.04
Lungs (% live wt)	1.33	1.44	1.69	1.36	1.45	0.14
Liver (% live wt)	1.72 <sup>a</sup>	1.75 <sup>ª</sup>	1.70 <sup>ª</sup>	1.52 <sup>b</sup>	1.69 <sup>a</sup>	0.03
Kidneys (% live wt)	0.28	0.32	0.32	0.32	0.28	0.01
Spleen (% live wt)	0.23	0.18	0.21	0.21	0.22	0.02
Pancrease (% live wt)	0.52	0.31	0.57	0.25	0.43	0.11

 Table 24: Percentage of external offal, internal offal and blood as influenced by ensiled

 cassava tops and Guinea grass mixture with different additives

GG- Guinea grass, CT- Cassava top

#### **6.2 DISCUSSION**

Dressing percentage is the proportion of the live weight of the animal which is sold as meat. It is a trait of economic importance. The dressing percentage of sheep in this study is higher than values given by Gatenby (2002), who gave dressing percentage to be between 40 and 50% but within the range given by Aduku and Olukosi (2000) who gave dressing percentage of sheep to be between 45 and 65%. Values reported in this study 50% dressing percentage reported as standard for lamb carcass by Ashbrook (1995). Kayouli *et al.* (1993) investigated the feed intake and performance of growing lambs. Carcass yield was 47.5% for lambs on silage while those on concentrate was 45.1%. Increasing dressing percentage may be due to sex, breed, degree of fatness, age, pre slaughter weight, gut fill, slaughter by product and nutrition. Nutrition is the most important factors because animals on good plane of nutrition dress better (Warriss, 2000). Heavily muscled and blocky animals dress higher while pregnant ones particularly those in advance stage of pregnancy dress lower (Alaku,1997)

Factors affecting Dressing percentage are fill or gut content, place of nutrition, sex of animals, high weight and pregnancy. Animals on high plane of nutrition have higher dressing percent than poorly fed animals which was manifested in this study. Also, males animals usually dress higher than female animals. In this experiment, only male animals (Rams) were used. Also animals in this experiment were skinned hence dressed higher.

The percentage weight of the skin relative to slaughter weight was highest in rams fed silage with millet additives with a value of 8.09%. The skin by inference contributed between 7.42 and 8.09 to the amount of meat consumed when such ram in singed and a similar proportion is reduced when skinned.

The leg gave the highest percentage(34.32-38.05) followed by shoulder(23.05-24.44), rack (18.58-22.54), loin (11.20-14.85), neck (10.39-12.15), breast (10.11-12.63) and flank (3.26-4.06). The percentage weight of leg and shoulder were higher in silage with sugar additive while that of rack was highest in rams fed silage with cassava chips additives. The relative weight of neck has highest value in rams fed silage with sugar additive. The various wholesale cuts were significantly influenced by the different silages. This indicates proper tissue development as a result of good nutrient intake and utilization

The relative values for internal organs were not significantly different except for the liver. The values obtained for the liver indicated that there was a significant difference in the liver weight of the ram fed silage with sugar additive. This result is in agreement with result of Ani and Okeke (2003) and Abeke *et. al.* (2009) who reported increase in weights of liver and few organs like pancrease having fed diets containing unconventional feedstuffs processed by cooking roasting and fermentation.

# CHAPTER SEVEN 7.1 SUMMARY, CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION

# 7.2 SUMMARY

The feeding quality of ensiled cassava tops, a crop residue available all year round with Guinea grass mixture was investigated in these series of studies. Cassava, an all season crop grown as food in all ecological zones of Nigeria, and used mostly as a source of food for man and his livestock. Its leaves which elsewhere are left to rot away on the field if collected at harvest time contain high level of protein and could be used as a protein supplement in ruminant feeding systems.

Cassava tops and Guinea grass was ensiled with four energy additives (cassava chips, sorghum, Millet grains and sugar) and after 42 days, silage characteristics, chemical composition were analysed. Acceptability of the silage by West African Dwarf sheep was investigated using the Coefficient of Preference (CoP). Effects of length of storage on silage characteristics, chemical composition and nutritive value of silage were assed using the *in vitro* fermentation techniques over a period of six months (72, 102, 132, 162, 192 and 222 days). A feeding trial was also carried out to access the utilization of ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass by 20 West African Dwarf sheep over 135-days. Carcass evaluation of the West African dwarf sheep fed the different silages was also done. The experiments were replicated and standard methods were utilized in their designs analyses and execution

Silage characteristics showed that the colour of the silages was olive green with pleasant odour, firm texture and pH range of 4.3 to 5.1. The nutrient composition of the silages gave dry Matter (27.1-28.8%), crude protein (21.8-24.9%), ash (7.6-9.4%), neutral detergent fibre (68.8-71.7%) and acid detergent fibre (40.6-48.1%) which differed significantly among treatments. Silages with cassava chips (1.19), sorghum (1.11) and millet (1.09) additives were more acceptable as Coefficient of preference was above unity. After six months of storage, the different silages retained their olive green colour except for the silage with no additive that changed to brownish green, firm texture and fruity smell with pH with the range for good silage. The dry Matter (28.0-29.6%), crude protein (23.7-27.1%), ash (8.8-10.0%), neutral detergent fibre (57.9-71.5%), and acid detergent fibre (44.1-49.8%) were all significantly influenced by Length of Storage. Gas production (17.67-30.07 ml/96 hours), b (16.20-28.00ml), ME (6.09-7.68 MJ/kg DM),

OMD (62.9-73.2%) and SCFA (0.48-0.78 mmol) were also significantly influenced by length of storage.

The daily dry matter intake (472.6-530.0 g/d) and dry matter digestibility (75.8-84.7%) differed significantly while daily weight gain and feed conversion ratio were similar among treatments. Heamatology and serum biochemistry revealed that the Packed Cell Volume, heamoglobin and Total Protein, albumin, urea, Aspartate amino transferase and alkaline phosphatase varied significantly and ranged from 27.0 to 33.7%, 9.0 to 11.2 g/dl, 6.08 to 8.20g/dl, 3.4 to 4 6g/dl, 11.8 to 13.7 mg/dl, 5.3 to 12.4IU/l and 49.2 to 90.7 IU/l respectively. Dressing percentages ranging from 50.8 to 53.8% were significantly different. The wholesale cuts (loin; 12.0-14.9%, rack; 15.6-18.9%, neck; 10.3-12.1%), liver (7.4-8.1%) and skin (1.5-1.8%) were significantly different. Relative weight of leg, shoulder, head, feet and other organs were not significantly different.

# 7.3 Conclusion

The chemical constituents of ensiled cassava tops and Guinea grass mixtures were high suggesting that it can be used successfully in diets of small ruminants, especially during the dry season.Cassava tops and guinea grass mixtures can be preserved successfully for six months and will still be a good feed resource for fattening rams without any serious effect on its nutritive value. However, to make excellent silage, a relatively cheap and available nutrient additive such as millet, cassava chips or sorghum may be needed.

The results from this study have demonstrated that ensiled cassava tops and guinea grass mixture with different additives promote efficient nutrient utilization and performance by WAD sheep. Suggesting its usefulness as nutritious and palatable diets for ruminants. Since optimal performance of animals fed with ensiled cassava tops and guinea grass mixture affirms the efficiency of the diets to the animals. It can thereby be concluded that supplementation of cassava chips as an additive in ensiled cassava tops and guinea grass will improve the performance of the WAD rams. The silages offered had no negative effect on the haematological and serum biochemical constituents of the rams and no clinical signs of diseases were shown throughout the period of the experiment.

# 7.4 RECOMMENDATION

Since cassava tops is available all year round in Nigeria, it can be preserved as silage (for ready use) and it will go a long way to sustain ruminant animals during the off-season. The use of suitable additives like cassava chips, millet grain and sorghum that can furnish readily fermentable carbohydrates is a pre requisite to proper ensiling process, though such use will depend on availability and cost. There is the need to be mindful of the stage of growth of the grass for silage production because guinea grass losses its nutrients as it grow older.

The positive response in terms of improved weight gain, intake and digestibility of nutrients by the rams indicates a sustainable feedstuff for ruminants. Therefore cassava tops and Guinea grass silage can be recommended to the farmers because it produces animal with high dressing percentage which is of importance to the butcher. The excess grass during the raining season can be preserved as silage for use in feeding animals during the dry season when the grass is very low in quality and quantity. This is also economical and saves the farmers stress of buying conventional feeds during this period thereby increasing their productivity and profit.

#### REFERENCES

- A.O.A.C. 1990.Official methods of analysis.15<sup>th</sup> ed. *Association Of Analytical Chemist* Washington, D.C. USA. Pp: 69-88.
- Abeke, F. O., Ogundipe, S. O., Sekoni, A. A., Dafwang, I. I. and Adeyinka, I. A. 2009. Effects of dietary levels of cooked *Lablab pupurues* beans on the carcass and haematological parameters of broiler finishers. Proceedings of the Nigerian Society fore Animal production conference, 34<sup>th</sup> Annual Conference. P369-374
- Adegbola, T.A. 1985. Browse plants: Propagation, management and utilization in small ruminant production in Nigeria. Proceedings of the National conference on Small Ruminant Production. Zaria
- Adegbola, T. A., Okorie, A. U., Aharanwa, J. c. and Eruchalu, M. C. 1987. Blood plasma urea and ammonia concentrations of grazing and grazing supplemented ruminants in a humid tropical environment. *East Afr. Agric. For. J.* 53 (1), 19-22.
- Adu, I.F. and Olaloku, E.A. 1976. Studies on feed intake in the West African Dwarf sheep. *East Afr. Agric. For. J.* 42 (2), 224–230.
- Aduku, A.O and Olukosi, J.O. 2000. Animal product handling and processing in the tropics pg. 10-11.
- AFRIS 2004. Animal Feed Resources Information Systems. Updated from B. Göhl, 1981) Tropical feeds. Food and Agriculture Organization.
  <u>http://www.fao.org./ag/AGa/agap/FRG/AFRIS/DATA/535.htm</u>
- Aganga, A.A and Tshwenyene S.O. 2004. Potentials of guinea grass (*Panicum maximum*) as forage crop in livestock production. *Pakistan Journal of Nutrition*, 3(1): 1-4.
- Agishi, E. C. 1985. Forage resources of Nigerian rangeland. Proceeding on *National Conference of Small Ruminant Production*. Zaria, Nigeria. 1: 115-140

- Agricultural and Food Research Council (AFRC). 1993. Energy and Protein Requirements of Ruminants. An advisory Manual prepared by the AFRC Technical Committee on Responses to Nutrients. CAB International, Wallingford, UK
- Ajayi, F. T., Babayemi O. J. and Taiwo, A. A. 2008. Effect of supplementation of *Panicum maximum* with four herbaceous forage legumes on performance, nutrient digestibility and nitrogen balance in West African dwarf goats. *Anim. Sci.* J 79: 673-679.
- Aken'ova, M. E. and Mohammed Saleem, M. A 1985. Screening of guinea grass (*P. maximum*, Jacq) accessions for forage value in the low altitude humid tropics. Nig. Agric. J. 19/20 (1985). 88-93
- Akinola J.O. 1989. Forage Conservation and Utilization. Proceeding of Workshop on Pasture and Range Management. NAPRI, Zaria, Nigeria. pp. 101–114.
- Alaku, 1997. Seasaonal and annual variations in body weigt and carcass variation in the Sudan Savana zone of Nigeria. *Nigerian Journal of Animal Production* 24 (2):180-187.
- Alberto, G., Portella, J.S., and de Oliveira, O.L.P. 1993. [Effect of addition of ground sorghum grain and of wilting on elephant grass.] *Revista da Sociedade Brasileira de Zootecnia*, 22(1): 1-11.
- Alderman, G. 1985. Prediction of the energy value of compound feeds. Recent Advances in Animal Nutrition, pp 3-52. Butterworths, London.

Allen R.D. 1984. Feedstuffs ingredient analysis table feedstuffs (USA), 56(30): 25-30.

- Alli-Balogun, J.K., Lakpini C.A.M., Alawa, A., Mohammed and Nwanta, J.A. 2003. Evaluation of Cassava foliage as a protein supplement for sheep. *Nig. J. Anim.Production* 30(1):37-46.
- Alves A A C and Setter T L 2000 Response of cassava to water deficit. Leaf area growth and abscisic acid. Crop Science 40 131-137

Aminah, A., Abu Bakar, C. and Izham, A. 1999. Silages from tropical forages: nutritional quality and milk production . In : L. t'Mannatje (Ed) Proc. FAO e-Conf. on Tropical Silage. FAO Plant Production and Protection. Paper 161. 1 Sept – 15 Dec. 1999, Poster 4, 1: 51-54.

Aminah, A. and Chen, C.P. 1990. Further prospects for fodder and pasture production.

- Andrade, J.B. de, and Lavezzo, W. 1998a. Aditivos na ensilagem do capim-elefante. I. Composição bromatológica das forragens e das respectivas silagens. *Pesq. Agropec. Brasil.*, 33(11): 1859-1872.
- Andrade, J.B. de, and Lavezzo, W. 1998b. Aditivos na ensilagem do capim-elefante.II. Qualidade das silagens amostradas por dois métodos. *Pesq. Agropec. Brasil.*, 33(11): 1873-1882
- Andrews, R.P., Orskov, E.R., 1970. The nutrition of early-weaned lambs. 1. The influence of protein concentrate and feeding levels on rates of gain in body weight. J. Anim. Sci. 75, 11 – 18.
- Ani, A. O. and Okeke, G.C. 2003. The substitution of Pigeon pea (*Cajanus cajan*) seed meal for soybean in broiler finisher ration. Proceeding of the 8<sup>th</sup> Annual Conference of the Animal Science Association of Nigeria. P10-12
- Anosa, V.O and Isound, I. I. (1979). Heamatology Studies of Domestic Animals in Nigeria; ZBC Vet. 25:64-64b.
- ARC, 1980. The Nutrient Requirements of Ruminant Livestock. CAB International, Wallingford, Oxon.
- ARC. 1985. Agricultural Research Council. The nutrient requirements of farm animals. No. 2, Ruminants: Tech. Rev. and Summanes. ARC, London.
- Aregheore, E.M. 2001. Nutritive value and utilization of three grass species by crossbred Anglo-Nubian goats in Samoa. Asian- Australas. J. Anim. Sci. 14 (10), 1389–1393.

- Aregheore, E.M., Oluokun, J.O. 1989. The effect of replacing maize with cassava peels on the concentration of blood plasma urea, serum, glucose and digestibility of some carbohydrates components. J. Anim. Prod. Res. 9 (2), 73–84.
- Ash, A.J. 1990. The effect of supplementation with leaves from legumes trees, *Sesbania grandiflora*, *Albizia chinensis* and *Gliricidia sepium* on the intake and digestibility of guinea grass hay by goats. *Anim. Feed Sci. Technol.* 28, 225–232.
- Ashbell, G., Weinberg, Z.G., Bolsen, K.K., Hen, Y., Arieli, A., 1990. The silage characteristics of two varieties of forage sorghum mixed in different proportions and at two stages of maturity. *Afr. J. Range Forage Sci.* 15, 68–71.
- Ashbell, G and Weinberg, Z.G. 1991. Top silage losses in horizontal silos. Can. Agric. Eng. 34:171-175.
- Ashbell, G and Weinberg, Z.G. 2001. Examination of a technology for silage making in plastic bags. *Anim. Feed Sci and Technol.* 91, 213-222.
- Ashbrook, F.G. 1995. Butchering, processing and preservation of meat. New York, Van Nestraud Reinhold Company.
- Assefa, G. and Ledin, I. 2001. Effect of variety soil type and fertilizer on the establishment, growth, forage yield, quality and voluntary intake by cattle of oats and vetches cultivated in pure stands and mixtures. *Animal Feed Science and Technology* 92: 95-111
- Athanasiadou, S.I., Kyriazakis, F. and Coop, R.L. 2002. Effects of short-term exposure to condensed tannins on an adult *Trichostrongylus colubriformis*. Vet.Rec.146:728-732
- Athanasiadou,S.I., Kyriazakis,F. and Coop,R.L. 2001. Direct anthelmintic effects of condensed tannins towards different gastrointestinal nematodes of sheep: In vitro and In vivo studies. Vet. Parasitol. 99:205-219
- Babayemi, O.J, Ajayi, F. T., Taiwo, A.A., Bamikole, M.A. and Fajimi, A.K. 2006. Performance of West African dwarf goats fed *Panicum maximum* and concentrate diet supplemented with

Lablab (*Lablab purpureus*), Leucaena (*Leucaena leucocephala*) and Gliricidia (*Gliricidia sepium*) foliage. *Nigerian Journal of Animal Production* 33(1): 102-111

- Babayemi, O. J. and Bamikole, M. A. 2006a. Supplementary value of *Tephrosia bracteolata*, *Tephrosia candida*, *Leucaena leucocephala* and *Gliricidia sepium* hay for West African dwarf goats kept on range. *Journal of Central European Agriculture* 7 (2): 323-328
- Babayemi, O.J., Bamikole, M. A. 2006b. Effects of *Tephrosia candida* DC leaf and its mixtures with Guinea grass on *in vitro* fermentation changes as feed for ruminants in Nigeria. Pakistan J. Nutr. 5 (1):14- 18
- Babayemi, O.J., Bamikole, M.A., Daniel, I.O., Ogungbesan, A. and Babatunde, A. 2003. Growth, nutritive value and dry matter degradability of three tephrosia species. *Nigerian Journal of Animal Production* 30 (1): 62 – 70.
- Babayemi, O. J., Demeyer, D. and Fievez, V. 2004 Nutritive value and qualitative assessment of secondary compounds in seeds of eight tropical browse, shrub and pulse legumes.
   *Communications in Agricultural and Applied Biological Sciences*, Ghent University 69 [1]: 103-110
- Babayemi, O.J. 2007. In-vitro fermentation characteristic and acceptability by West Africa Dwarf goat of some dry season forages. *Afri. J. Biotech.*, *6*(10):1260-1265.
- Babayemi, O.J. 2009. Silage quality, dry matter intake and digestibility by WAD sheep fo guinea grass (*Panicum Maximum CV Ntchisi*) harvested at 4 and 12week regrowths. *African Journal of biotechnology* Vol. 8 (16), pp. 3983-3988.
- Bakrie, B. 2000. Wetting method to reduce cyanide content of crop-products using bio-process technique and their uses for animals. *J. anim. physiol. anim. nutria.* 60:113-122.
- Bamikole, M.A., Akinsoyinu, A.O., Ezenwa,I., Babayemi,O.J., Akinlade,J.and Adewumi, M.K. 2004. Effect of six-weekly harvests on the yield, chemical composition and dry matter degradability of *Panicum maximum* and *Stylosanthes hamata* in Nigeria. *Grass and Forage Science*. 59: 357 – 363

- Bamikole, M.A., Ikhatua,U.J., Arigbede,O.M., Babayemi,O.J and Etela,I (2004a). An evaluation of the acceptability of some nutritive and anti-nutritive components and of the dry matter degradation profiles of five species of ficus. *Trop. Anim. Hlth. Prod.* 36: 157-167
- Bamikole, M. A. and Babayemi, O. J. 2004 Feeding goats with Guinea grass Verano stylo and nitrogen fertilized grass with energy concentrate. Archivos de Zootecnia 53:13 – 23 <u>http://www.uco.es/organiza/servicios/publica/az/articulos/2004/201/pdf/02Bamikole.pdf</u>
- Barry , T.N. and McNabb, W.C. 1999. The implications of condensed tannins on the nutritive value of temperate forages fed to ruminants. *Br. J. Nutr.*, *81:263-272*.
- Bawala, T.O., Akinsoyinu, A.O.and Folorunso, O.R. 2006. Nutritional evaluation of varying proportions of Gliricidia sepium and Ficus thonningii leaves in the diet of young West African dwarf goats. *Nig.J.Anim.Prod.* 33(1): 112-117
- Beever, D.E., 1982. Protein utilization from pasture. In: Griffiths, T.W., Maguire, M.F. (Eds.), Forage Protein Conservation and Utilisation. Commission of the European Communities, Dublin, Ireland, p. 99. Silanikove, N., 2000. The physiological basis of adaptation in goats to harsh environments. Small Rumin. Res. 35, 181–194.
- Benjamin, M. M. 1978. Outline of veterinary clinical pathology. 2<sup>nd</sup> edition, Iowa state University Press, Iowa, U.S.A., pp. 35-105.
- Ben Salem, H., Saghrouni, L., Nefzaoui, A. 2005. Attempts to deactivate tannins in fodder shrubs with physical and chemical treatments. *Anim. Feed Sci. Technol.* 122, 109–121.
- Bergman. E.N. 1990. Energy contributions of volatile fatty acids from gasstrointestinal tract in various species. Physiol. Rev. 70: 567-590.
- Beuvink, J.M.W., Spoelstra, S.F., 1992. Interactions between treatment, fermentation end-products buffering systems and gas production upon fermentation of different carbohydrates by mixed rumen microorganisms in vitro. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* 37: 505 – 509.

- Blummel, M. and Ørskov, E. R. 1993. Comparison of *in vitro* gas production and nylon bag degradability of roughages in predicting feed intake in cattle. *Anim. Feed Sci. Technol.* 40:109 – 119.
- Blummel, M. and Becker, K. 1997. The degradability characteristics of fiftyfour roughages and roughage neutral detergent fibre as described *in vitro* gas production and their relationship to voluntary feed intake. *Brit. J. Nutr.* 77: 757-768.
- Bradbury, J.H. and Holloway, W.D. 1988. Chemistry of tropical roots crops significance for nutritional and agriculture in the Pacific Australian Center for International Agriculture Research, Canberra, Australia.
- Bradbury, J.H., Egan, S.M. and Lynch, M.J. 1991. Analysis of Cyanide in cassava using acid hydrolysis of cyanogenic glucosides. *J. Sci. Food. Agric.* 5;277-290.
- Bogdan, A.V. 1977. *Tropical Pasture and Fodder Plants*. Tropical Agriculture Series. Harlow, UK: Longman. 475p.
- Butter, N.L, Dawson J.A Wakelin D. and Buttery P.J (2001). Effect of dietary tanin and protein on nematodes infection C.T Colubriformis in lambs. *J. Agric. Sci.* 134:89-99.

Buxton, D.R., 1996. Quality-related characteristics of forages as influenced by plant environment and agronomic factors, *Anim. Feed Sci. Technol.* 59, 37–49.

- Bunyeth, H.O. and Preston, T.R. 2004. Growth performance and parasite infestation of goats given cassava leaf silage (or sun dried cassava leaves) as supplement to grazing in lowland and upland regions of Cambodia. Heifer international, Cambodia, Tosoly, Socorro, Colombia pp. 65-67.
- Bunyeth, H.O. and Preston T.R. 2006. Growth performance and parasite infestation of goat given cassava leaf silage, or sundried cassava leaves, as supplement to grazing in low land and upland regions of Cambodia. *Livestock research for rural development vol 18*:2.

- Cadavid, L. F., El-Sharkawy, M. A., Acosta, A. and Sanchez, T. 1998. Long-term effects of mulch, fertilization and tillage on cassava grown in sandy soils in northern Colombia. *Field Crops Research* 57, 45-56.
- Caluya, R.R. 2000. Tomato pomace and rice straw silage for feeding growing cattle. In: silage making in the tropics with particular emphasis on the smallholder, *FAO plant production and protection paper* 161, pp 97-98.
- Caplice, E. and Fitzgerald, G. F. 1999. Food fermentations: role of microorganisms in food production and preservation. *International Journal of Food Microbiology* 50: 131–149.
- Carola, R., Harley J.P., and Noback, C.R. 1990. Human Anatomy and Physiology. Mc Graw–Hill Inc. USA. 925pp.
- Carro, M.D., Lopez, S., Gonzalez, J.S., Ovejero, F.J., (1994). Comparison of laboratory methods for predicting digestibility of hay in sheep. *Small Rumin. Res.* 14: 9-17.
- Catchpoole, V.R., and Henzell, E.F. 1971. Silage and silage-making from tropical herbage species. *Herb. Abstr.*, **41**(3): 213-221.
- Chanjula, P., Wanapat. M., Wachirapakorn, C. and Rowlinson, P. 2004 Effect of various levels of cassava hay on rumen ecology and digestibility in swamp buffaloes. *Asian-Aust. J. Anim. Sci.* 17:663-669
- Charray, J., Humvert, J.M and Lerif, J. (1992). Manual of Sheep production in the tropics. CAB-International Wallingford U.K. pp 187.
- Chedly, K and Lee, S. (2000). Silage from by products for smallholders, In: silage making in the tropics with particular emphasis on smallholder, FAO plant production and protection paper 161 Pp 71-78.
- Cheng K. J. and Costerton J.W. 1980. Adherent rumen bacteria: their role in the digestion of plant material, urea, and epithelian cells. In: Ruckebush Y. and Thivend P. (eds), Digestive Physiology and Metabolism in Ruminants. MTPPress, Lancaster, England,UK. pp. 227– 250.

Chew, M. Y. 1972. Cyanide content of tapioca leaf. Malaysian Agri J 48, 354-356

- Chhay, T., Ly, J. and Rodriguez, L. 2001. An approach to ensiling conditions for preservation of cassava foliage in Cambodia. Livestock Research for Rural Development (13) 2
- Chhay, T., Preston, T.R and Ly,J. 2003. The use of ensiled cassava leaves in diets for growing pigs. 1 The effect of graded levels of palm oil on N digestibility and N balance; *Livestock Research for Rural Development* 15:7.
- Chineke, C. A. Adeniran, F.A., Olugun A. G., Ikeobi, C.O N, Oseni O. A. 2002. Analysis of some serum biochemical parameters in New Zealand white Rabbit and their crosses. In: VA Aletor, GE Onibi (Eds) Proc. 27 Anim. Conf. Nig. Soc. Anim. Prod. March 17-21, 2002. FUT. Akure, Nig. PP5-7.
- Coelho, M., Hembry, F.G., Barton, F.E., Saxton, A.M., 1988. A Comparison of microbial, enzymatic, chemical and near-infrared reflectance spectroscopy method in forage evaluation. *Anim. Feed Sci. Technol.* 20: 219–231.
- Coleman, G.S. 1975. Interrelationship between rumen celiate protozoa and bacteria. In: Digestion and Metabolism in the Ruminant. (I W McDonald and A.CI. Warner, Ed.0 university of New England, Armidale, Australia pp. 149 – 164.
- Coles, E.H., 1986. Veterinary Clinical Pathology of Domestic Animals. 2nd ed. Academic Press, New York, USA.
- Cone, J.W., VanGelder, A.H., Visseher, G.T., Oudshoorn, L. 1996. Influence of rumen fluid and treatment concentration on fermentation Kinetics measured with a full automated time related gas production apparatus. *Anim. Feed Sci. Technol.* 61: 113–128.
- Cone, J.W., Van Gelder, A.H., Mathijssen-Kamman,A.A. and Hindle, V.A. 2006.Post-ruminal digestibility of crude protein from grass and grass silages in cows. *Animal Feed Science and Technology* 128:42-52.

- Cock, J. H. and Howeler, R. C. 1978. The ability of cassava to grow on poor soil. In: Crop Tolerance to sub optimal land condition. In : Jung G A (Ed), 32, American Society of Agronomy Special Publication . pp 145-154
- Crutzen, P.J., 1995. The role of methane in atmospheric chemistry and climate. In: von Engelhardt,W., Leonhard- Marek, S., Breves, G., Giesecke, D.E. (Eds.), Ruminant Physiology: Digestion, Metabolism, Growth and Reproduction. Proceedings of the 8th International Symposium on Ruminant Physiology, Stuttgart, Germany,pp. 291–315.

Czerkawski, J. W. 1986. An introduction to rumen studies. Pergamon Press, New York.P126

- Dahniya, M.T; Oputa, C.O and Hahn L.K 1981.Effect of harvesting frequency on leaf and root yields of cassava. Experimental agriculture 17:91-95.
- Daramola, J.O., Adeloye, A.A., Fatoba , T.A. and Soladoye , A.O. 2005. Haematological and biochemical parameters of West African Dwarf goats. Livestock Research for Rural Development, Vol.17 #8. Retrieved from: http://www.cipav.org. co/ lrrd/ lrrd17/8/dara17095.htm
- Dargie, J.D. and E.W. Allonby, 1975. Path physiology of single and challenge infections of *Haemochus contortus* in Merino sheep: studies of red cell kinetics and self-cure phenomenon. Int. J. Parasit., 5: 147-157.
- De Bruijn, G. H. 1973 The cyanogenic character of cassava. In Chronic cassava toxicity. pp. 43-48. Proceeding of the interdisciplinary workshop. London.
- De Figueiredo, M., and Marais, J.P. 1994. The effect of bacterial inoculants on Kikuyu silage quality. J. Agric. Sc. (Cambridge), 122: 53-60.
- Demeyer, D. I. and Van Nevel, C. I. 1975. Methanogenesis, an integrated part of carbohydrate fermentation and its control. In digestion and metabolism in the ruminant (LW McDonald and A.C.I. Warner,eds) pp. 366-382. The University of New England Publishing Unit, Armidale, N.S.W., Australia.

- DeRamus, H.A., Clement, T.C., Giampola, D.D., Dickison, P.C., 2003. Methane emissions of beef cattle on forages: efficiency of grazing management systems. J. Environ. Qual. 32, 269– 277.
- Devendra, C. 1977. Cassava as a feed source for ruminants. Pages 107-119 in Cassava as animal feed. Proceedings, Cassava as Animal Feed Workshop, edited by B. Nestel and M.
- Doane, P.H., Pell, A.N., Schofield, P., 1997. The effect of preservation method on the neutral detergent soluble fraction of forages. *J Anim. Sci.* 75, 1140–1148.
- Doan Thi Khan and Cu Xuan Dan, 2001. Chemical composition of several crop by products as animal feeds in Vietnam. <u>http://www.vcn.vn/sppape/spec5420019.htm</u>
- Dougherty, R.W., Mullenok, C.H., Allison, M.J., 1964. Physiological phenomena associated with eructation in ruminants. In: Physiology of Digestion on the Ruminant. (R.W. Dougherty, Ed.) Butterworths, London.
- Du Ponte, W.M., Souza, E., Campbell, M.C., and, Fukumoto, K.G. (1998). Guinea grass (*Panicum maximum*) silage as an alternate roughage source for subsistent dairy production. http://www.hawaii.edu/ansc/Proceed/hl/grass.htm
- Du Thanh Hang and Preston, T.R. 2005. The effects of simple processing method cassava leaves on HCN content and intake by growing pigs. *Livestock Research for Rural Development* 17(9). 2pp.
- Du Thanh Hang 1998. Digestibility and nitrogen retention in fattening pigs fed different levels of ensiled cassava leaves as a protein source and ensiled cassava root as energy source; Livestock Research for Rural Development. (10) 3: <u>http://www.cipav.org.co/lrrd/lrrd10/3/hang1.htm</u>

- Du Thanh Hang. 1998. Ensiled cassava leaves and duckweed as protein sources for fattening pigs on farms in Central Vietnam. Livestock Research for Rural Development 10(3) <u>http://www.cipav.org.co/lrrd/lrrd10/3/hang2.htm</u>
- Dung, N.T., Mui, N.T., Ledin, I., 2005. Effect of replacing a commercial concentrate with cassava hay (Manihot esculenta Crantz) on the performance of growing goats. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 119, 271–281.
- Duong Thanh Liem, Ngo van Man, Nguyen P Loc, Nguyen van Hao and Bui Xuan An 1997. Cassava leaf meal in the animal feeding. Vietnam Cassava workshop, Institute of Scientific Agriculture of the South, 4-6/3/1997.
- Eadie, M.J. and Gill, J.C. 1971. The effect of the absence of rumen ciliate protozoa on growing lambs fed on roughage concentrate diet. *British Journal of Nutrition* 26: 155 167.
- Eggum, B.O. 1989. Biochemical and Methodological Principles. In: Protein Metabolism in Farm Animals: Evaluation, Digestion Absorption and Metabolism (Bock, H.D., Eggum, B.O., Low, A. G., Simon, O. and Zebrowska, T., eds). Oxford university press, Berlin. pp 1-52.
- Eggum, R.O. (1970). The protein quality of cassava leaves. *British Journal of Nutrition*. 24:761-768.
- Food and Agricultural Organisation of the United Nations (FAO) 1990. *Production Yearbook*, 44, FAO, Rome, Italy.
- FAO (Food and Agricultural organization) 1993: production year book 1993. Vol 47 FAO Rome.
- FAO (1998) Food and Agriculture Organization database http/asp.fao/lem500.htm.
- FAO (Food and Agriculture Organization). (1995). Tropical animal feeding- A manual for research workers. Food and Agriculture Organization Animal Production and Health paper. Rome, Italy
- FAO 2003 http://www.fao.org/ag/AGA/AGAP/FRG/afris/Data/535.HTM

- FAO (Food Agricultural Organization), 2003. Panicum maximum, guinea grass, colonial grass, Tanganyika grass. Retrieved 3 February 2008 from.
   <u>http://wwwfao.org/ag/aga/agap/frg/AFRIS/DATA/118.HTM.panicummaximum,guineagrass</u>
   <u>s,colonialgrass,Tanganayikagrass</u>
- Fasae O.A., Adu I.F; Aina, A.B.J. and Elemo K.A. (2009a). Effects of defoliation time of maize on leaf yield, quality and storage of maize leaves as dry season forage for ruminant production. *Brazillian Journal of Agricultural Science* 4 (3): 358-362.
- Fasae, O.A., Adu I.F., Aina A.B.J. and Elemo, K.A. 2009b. Production, defoliation and storage of cassava leaves as dry season forage for small ruminants in smallholder crop livestock production
- Ferrari, E. Jr., Lavezzo, W., Vieira, M.P., & Lenut, A.L. 1999. Silagem de capim-elefante (*Pennisetum purpureum*, Schum.) emurchecido ou acrescido de farelo de mandioca. I. Qualidade. *Anais da 36<sup>a</sup> Reunião Anual da Soc. Bras. de Zootecnia*, Porto Alegre, 26-30 de julho 1999. Published as CD-ROM.
- Ffoulkes, D. and Preston, T. R. 1978Cassava or sweet potato forage as combined sources of protein and roughage in molasses based diets: effect of supplementation with soybean meal. Tropical Animal Production (3):186-192
- Fievez, V., Babayemi, O.J. and Demeyer, D. 2005. Estimation of direct and indirect gas production in syringes: a tool to estimate short chain fatty acid production requiring minimal laboratory facilities. *Anim. Feed Sci. Technol.* (123 – 124): 197-210.
- Firkins, J.L., Berger, L.L., Merchen, N.R., Farhez, Jr., G.C. 1986. Effects of forage particle size, level of feed intake and supplemented protein, degradability on microbial protein synthesis and site of nutrient digestion in steers. J. Anim. Sci. 62: 1081 – 1094.
- Fisher, L.J., Donnelly, P. E., Hutton, J. B. and Duganzich, D. M. 1974. Relationship between levels of feeding and certain blood metabolites in dairy cows in mid lactation. J. Agric. Sci. 84, 29-37 (Cambridge)

- Forbes, J. M. 1995. Voluntary food intake and diet selection in farm animals. 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition (CAB International, UK).
- Gatenby, R.M. 2002. Sheep Revised edition. Tropical Agricultural Series. Macmillan Publishers Ltd. Malaysia. Pp 8.
- Getachew, G.H., P.S. Makkar and K. Becker, 1999. Stoichimetric relationship between short chain fatty acid and in vitro gas production in presence and absence of polyethylene glycol for tannin containing browses, EAAP Satellite Symposium, Gas production: fermentation kinetics for feed evaluation and to assess microbial activity, 18-19 August, Wageningen, The Netherlands.
- Georing, K. and Van Soest, P.J. 1994. Forage fiber analysis. Apparatus reagents procedures and some application, Agricultural Handbook 379-120.
- Giesecke, D. 1970. Comparative Microbiology of the alimentary tract. In: Physiology of digestion and Metabolism in the Runminat. A.T Phillipson, ed. Oriel press, Newcastle Upon Tune, England. Pp 306-318
- Gillespie, J. R. 1998. Animal Science. Delmar publishers, International Thompson Publishing Company, 1204 pp
- Gomez, G. and Valdivieso, M. 1985. Cassava foliage: Chemical composition, Cyanide content and effect of drying on cyanide elimination. *Journal of the science of food and Agriculture* 36:433-441.
- Granum, G., Wanapat, M., Wachirapakorn, C. and Pakdee P 2002 The effect of cassava hay supplementation on weight change, dry matter intake, digestibility and internal parasites in swamp buffaloes (*bubalus bubalis*) and cattle (*bos indicus*). In: Proceedings of Agriculture Conference, Narasuan University, Pitsanuloke, Thailand, July 26-30.
- Hahn S.K. 1992. Cyanide and Tannin Traditional Processing and utilization of cassava in Africa. *IITA*: 20-25.

- Hammond, A.C., Kunkle, W.E., Genho, P.C., Moore, S.A., Crosby, C.E., Ramsay, K.H., 1994. Use of blood urea nitrogen concentration to determine time and level of protein supplementation in wintering cows. Prof. Anim. Scientist 10, 24–31.
- Hang, D.T. 1998. Digestibility and nitrogen retention in fattening pigs fed different levels of ensiled cassava root as energy source. *Livestock research for rural development*. 10(3)
- Harrison, J. H and Fransen, S. 1991. Silage management in North America. In: Bolsen, K.K., Baylor, J.E and McCullongh, M.E. (eds) Field guide for Hay and silage management in North America. Published by *National Feed Ingredients Association* Pp. 33-66.
- Herper, A.F., Rod well, D.W, Mayes, P:A 1979. Review of Physiological Chemistry. 17<sup>th</sup> ed. Lay. Medical, Los Altos, California, 9422.
- Henderson, N. 1993. Silage additives. Animal Feed Science and Technology 45, 35-56.
- Holm, L. G., Plucknett, D. L., Panchs, J. V. and Herberger, J. P. 1977. *Panicum maximum* Jacq. In: The world oworst weeds, Distribution and Biology. East-West University Press of Hawaii, Honolulu.348-352pp.
- Holter, J.B. and Young, A.J., 1992. Methane production in dry and lactating dairy cows. *J. Dairy Sci.* 75, 2165–2175.
- Hornick, J.L., Van Eenaeme, C., G´erard, O., Dufrasne, I., Istasse, L., 2000. Mechanisms of reduced and compensatory growth. Dom. Anim. Endocrinol. 19, 121–132.
- Hossain, K.B., Sarker, N.R., Saadullah, M., Beg, M.A.H., Khan, T.M., 1995. Effect of feeding straw supplementing with urea molasses block lick on the performance of sheep. *Asian-Australas. J. Anim. Sci.* 8 (3), 289–293.
- Houtert, M. F. 1993. The production and metabolism of volatile fatty acids by ruminants fed roughages; A review. *Anim. Feed Sci. and Technol.* 43:189-225.
- Howeler, R. H. and Cadavid, L. F. 1990. Short and long term fertility trials in Colombia to determine the nutrient requirement of cassava. Fertilizer research 26, 61-80
- Hu, W.L., Liu, J.X., Ye, J.A., Wu, Y.M. and Guo, Y.Q. 2005. Effect of tea saponin on rumen fermentation *in vitro*. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 120 : 333-339.
- Humphreys, L. R. 1991. Tropical Pasture Utilisation. Cambridge University Press. Cambridge
- Humphreys, L.R. and. Patridge, I.J. 1995. A Guide to better pastures for the tropics and sub tropics. Published by NSW Agriculture 5th edition: Grasses for the tropics: Guinea grass (*Panicum maximum*).
- Hungate, R.E., 1966. The Rumen and its Microbes. Academic Press, New York.
- Hungate, R.E. 1975. The rumen microbial ecosystem. Annual Review of Ecology systematics 6: 39 66.
- Igbekoyi, A. J. 2008. Intake, growth and digestibility of ensiled A*lbizia saman* pods with guinea grass (*Panicum maximum* cv Ntsichi) by West African dwarf rams. MSc dissertation, University of Ibadan, Nigeria.
- IITA Annual Report 2004. Cassava silage feeds dairy cattle in Malawi. Retrieved January 19, 2008 from http://www.iita.org/cms/articlefiles/278-cassava.pdf
- IITA (International Institute of Tropical Agricultural 2005. Cassava in the tropics. A reference manual, Ibadan, Nigeria Pp. 81-92.
- Imasuen, J.A, and Isidahomen, E.C 2010. Effect of different management environments on haematological characteristics of West African Dwarf (WAD) Goats. Proc. 15<sup>th</sup> Conf., ASAN, 13–15 sept., 2010 Univ. of Uyo, Nigeria.

Isidahomen, E.C. and Imasuen, J.A. 2010. Effect of different management environments on Haematological characteristics of West African Dwarf (WAD) goats Proc. 15th conf. ASAN, 13-15 Sept; 2010, Univ.of Oyo, Nigeria.

Jain, N.C. 1986. Schlms Veterinary Heamatology (4<sup>th</sup> ed) Lea and Febiger, Philadelphia USA.

- Jianxin, L. 2002. Ensiling crop residues: Animal production based on crop residues, Chinese experience. FAO Animal Production and Health Paper (FAO) no 149.
- Johnson, W.L. and Djajanegara, A. 1989. A pragmatic approach to improving small ruminant diets in the Indonesia humid tropics *J. Anim Sci.* 67:3068-3079.
- Johnson, K.A., Johnson, D.E., 1995. Methane Emissions from cattle. J. Anim. Sci. 73, 2483–2492.

Jones, R.J. 1988. The future for the grazing herbivore. *Tropical Grasslands*. 22: 97-115.

- Kaneko, J. J. 1989. Clinical Biochemistry of Domestic Animals: 4<sup>th</sup> edition. Academic press Inc.
- Kaneko, J. Harvey J, Bruss M. 1997. Clinical Biochem. of Domestic Animals: 5Ed. Academic press, New yorks, 932 pp.
- Kanjanapruthipong, J., Leng, R.A., 1997. A comparison of ammonia and preformed protein as a source of nitrogen for microbial growth in the rumen of sheep given oaten chaff. *Asian-Australas*, J. Anim. Sci. 11, 351–360.
- Karbo, N. Barnes, P. and Rubat, H. 1993. An evaluated of browse forage preferences by sheep and goats in the Northern Guinea Savannah zone, Ghana in, J. Ndikumana and P. Deheeuw (eds) proceeding of the 2<sup>nd</sup> African feed resources Network AFRNETE on sustainable feed production and utilization for small holder livestock enterprises in sub Saharan African. Habarg Zimbabwe 107-110.
- Karim, S.A., Santra, A., 2003. Nutrient requirements for growth of lambs under hot semiarid environment. *Asian-Australas. J. Anim. Sci.* 16 (5), 665–671.

- Karim, S.A., Santra, A., Sharama, V., 2001. Growth performance of weaner lambs maintained on varying levels of dietary protein and energy in the pre-weaning phase. *Asian-Australas. J. Anim.Sci.* 14 (10), 1394–1399.
- Karnezos, T.P., Matches, A.G., Preston, R.L., Brown, C.P., 1994. Corn supplementation of lambs grazing alfalfa. J. Anim. Sci. 72, 783–789.
- Kavana, P.Y., Mtunda K., Abass, A. and Rweyendera, V. 2005. Promotion of cassava leaf silage utilization for small holder dairy production in Eastern coast of Tanzania. Livestock Research for Rural Development. Volume 17, Number 4 Retrieved January 19,2008 from <u>http://www.Ind.org/lrrd 17/14kava 17043.htm</u>.
- Kayouli, C., Demeyer,D and Accacha, M. 1993. Evaluation of poultry litter and olive cakes as an alternative feed for ruminant production in Tunisia. Pp 420-440, in Proceeding International Conference on increasing Livestock production through Utilization of Local Resources. Beijing, china, 18-22 October 1993.
- Kayouli, C. and Lee, S. 2000. Silage from by-products for smallholders. In : Silage Making in the Tropics with Particular Emphasis on Smallholders (Editor : L. 't Mannetje) Retrieved January 19, 2008 from <u>http://www.fao.org/docrep/005/X8486E/x8486e01.htm</u>
- Keady, T.W.J. and Murphy, J.J. 1998. The effects of ensiling and supplementing with sucrose and fish meal on forage intake and milk production of lactating dairy cows. *Anim. Sci.* 66:9-20
- Keele, C.A. and Neil E. 1971. Samson Wrights Applied Physiology. 12th Edition, ELBS and OUB, London. 576pp.
- Kelly, W. R. 1974. Veterinary Clinical Diagnosis. 2<sup>nd</sup> edition Macmillan Publisher, London. pp. 204-294.
- Keo Sath, Khieu Borin and Preston, T. R. 2007a. Survey on feed utilization for cattle production in Takeo province. <u>http://www.mekarn.org/MSC2005-07</u>

- Keo Sath, Khieu Borin and Preston, T. R. .2007b. Effect of levels of sun-dried cassava foliage on growth performance of cattle fed rice straw. MSc. Thesis, MEKARN-SLU <u>http://www.mekarn.org/MSC2005-07</u>
- Khampa, S. and Wanapat, M. 2006. Supplementation level of concentrate containing high levels of cassava clips in rumen ecology and microbial protein synthesis in cattle *.Pakistan Journal of nutrition.*
- Khang, D. N. and Wiktorsson, H. 2004. Effects of fresh cassava tops on rumen environment parameters, thyroid gland hormones and liver enzymes of local yellow cattle fed urea-treated fresh rice straw. *Tropical Animal Health and Production*. 36: 751–762.
- Khieu, B. 2005. Cassava Foliage for Monogastric Animals. Forage Yield, Digestion, Influence on Gut Development and Nutritive Value. Doctoral thesis, Uppsala, Sweden.
- Khieu, B. and Frankow-Lindberg, B. E. 2006. Forage yield from cassava grown as a perennial crop fertilized with effluent form biodigesters loaded with pig or cow manure and the effect on soil fertility. *Biological Agriculture and Horticulture* 2006 24: pp 91-104
- Kim, S.C., Adesogan, A.T., Kim, J.H. and Ko, Y.D. 2006. Influence of replacing rice straw with wormwood (*Artemisia Montana*) silage on feed intake, digestibility and ruminal fermentation characteristics of sheep. *Animal Feed Science and Technology* 128:1-13.
- Kizilsimsek, A., Erol, A. and Cabslar, S. 2005. Effect of raw material and silo size on silage quality:Silage making in the tropics with particular emphasis on small holders. FAO. PlantProduction and Protection. Paper no.129
- Koon, L.L. 1993. Production of Silawrap silage from fodder grass species for dry season feeding. p. 99-101, *in: Strategies for suitable forage-based livestock production in Southeast Asia.*Proceedings of the Third Meeting of the Regional Working Group on Grazing and Feed Resources of Southeast Asia. 31 January 6 February 1993, Khon Kaen, Thailand.
- Krishnamoorthy, U., Rymer, C.and Robinson, P.H., 2005. The in vitro gas production techniques: Limitations and opportunities. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*. 123-124

- Krishnamoorthy, U., Soller Steingass, H. and Menke, K. H. 1995. Energy and protein evaluation of tropical feedstuffs for whole tract inoculum studies in vitro. *Anim. Feed Sci. Technol.* 52:177-188.
- Kruger, W. C., Laylock, W. A. and Price, A. E. 1974. Relationship of taste, smell and touch to forage selection. J. Range Management 27:258-262
- Kumar, R. 2003. Anti-nutritive factors, the potential risks of toxicity and methods to alleviate them. Retrieved 20 January 2008 http://www.fao.org//docrep/html.
- Kung,L. and Shaver,R. 2002. Interpretation and use of silage fermentation analysis reports. Department of Animal and Food Sciences, University of Delaware, Newark, DE 19717
- Kung,L. and Stokes, M.R. 2002. Analysing silages for fermentation end products. Department of Animal and Food Sciences, University of Delaware, Newark, DE 19717
- Kwamme O.A. 2001. Country pastures/forage resources profile pp 4-14.
- Lancaster, P.A. and Brooks, J.E. 1983. Cassava leaves as human food. Economic Botany 37 (3):331-348.
- Lättemäe, P. 1997. Ensiling and evaluation of forage crops. Dissertation, Swedish University of Agric. Sci. Report 32 Uppasala.
- Lazzaro, J. 2001. Normal blood chemistry values for Adult goats. www.Saanendoah.com./bloodvalues.html.
- Le, H. K. and Doung, N. K. 2005. Effect of fresh cassava foliage on growth and faecal nematode egg counts in Sindhi x Yellow cattle fed urea treated rice straw. In: Regional Seminar Workshop on Livestock Based Sustainable Farming Systems in the Lower Mekong Basin. Cantho University Vietnam 23-25, May 2005 (Eds, Reg Preston and Brian Ogle). pp 125-131

- Leng, R A. 2005. Metabolisable protein requirement of ruminants fed roughage based diets. In: Proceedings of integrating livestock-crop system to meet the challenges of globalization. AHA/BSAS International conference 14-18,2005 Khon Kean, Thailand (Eds, Rowlinson, P., Wachirapakorn, C., Pakdee, P and Wanapat, M).
- Leng, R A., and Preston, T. R.1976. Sugarcane for cattle production: present constraints, perspectives and research priorities. *Tropical Animal Production* 1: 1–22
- Limon, R.L. 1992. Ensilage of cassava products and their uses as animal feeds (Editors D. Machun and Solveig Nyveld) FAO Animal production and Health Paper No 95: 99-109.
- Longe, O.G. 1980. Effect of processing on the chemical composition and energy values of cassava. Nutritional Report International. 21:819-829.
- L'opez, S., Prieto, M., Dijkstra, J., Dhanoa, M.S., France, J., 2004. Statistical evaluation of mathematical models for microbial growth. *Int. J. Food Microbiol*. 96, 289–300.
- Lutaladio, N.B., Wahua, T.A.T., Hahn, S.K. 1984. Variability in leaf HCN, protein and macro nutrient concentration in different canopy portions of cassava. Beitrage trop. Landwirtisch, Veetrinamed 22:155-159.
- LY, J. and Rodriguez, L. 2001. Studies on the nutritive value of ensiled cassava leaves for pigs in Cambodia in cassava as livestock feed (Editors. T.R Preston and M. Wanapat) July 23-25, 2001 Hon Kaen, University Thailand.
- Lynch, J.J., Hinch G.N. and Adams D.B. 1992. The behaviour of sheep. CAB international, wallig ford, UK. P. 10047.
- Machin, H.D 2000. The potential use of tropic silage for livestock production with special reference to smallholders, FAO plant production and protection paper 161 Pp. 85-95.

- Man, N. V. 2001. Better use of local forages for dairy cattle in Vietnam: Improving grasses, rice straw and protein rich forages. Doctoral thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala.
- Man, N.V and Wiktorsson, H. 2001. Cassava Tops Ensiled with or without molasses as Additive effects on Quality, Feed Intake and Digestibility by Heifers. *Asian–Aust. J. Anim. Sci.* 14, 624–630
- Marjuki, H.E., Rini D.W., Artharini I., Soebarinoto and Howeler, R. 2008. The use of cassava leaf silage as a feed supplement in diets for ruminants and its introduction to smallholder farmers. *Livestock Research for Rural Development* volume 20:6.
- McDonald, I. (1981). A revised model for the estimation of protein degradability in the rumen. J.Agric.Sci, 96:251-252.
- Mc Donald, P.,Henderson,A.R.,Heron, S.J.E. 1991. The Biochemistry of Silage. 2<sup>nd</sup> ed.Chalcombe Publication,Bucks,UK. Pp, 75, 171, 187-189
- McDonaldP, Edwards R.A, Greenhaulgh J.F.D 1987. Animal Nutrition. 4<sup>th</sup> Edition, Longman scientific and Technical. England
- Mc Donald, P. Edwards, R.A and Greenhalgh, J.F.D 1998. Animal Nutrition (5<sup>th</sup> ed) Longman Scientific and Technical Publications. pp 451-460, 465.
- McDonald, P., Edwards, R.A., Greenhalgh, J.F.D and Morgan, C.A. 2002. Animal Nutrition (6th edition). Pretence Hall.
- McDowell, L.R., 1997. Minerals for Grazing Ruminants in Tropical Regions. Bulletin of the Institute for Food and Agricultural Sciences, University of Florida, Gainesville, USA. 81pp.
- McDowell, R. E. 1987. Importance of crop residues for feeding livestock in small-holders farming systems. Proceedings of a workshop held at ILCA, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia. 7<sup>th</sup> December, 1987.

Mc Leod, D.S., Wilkins, R.J., Raymond, W.F., 1970. J. Agric. Sci. (Camb.). 75, 311-319.

- Meissner, H.H., Koster, H.H., Nieuwoudt, S.H., Coetze, R.J., 1991. Effects of energy supplementation on intake and digestion of early and mid season ryegrass and panicum/Smut finger hay and in sacco disappearance of various forage species. S. Afr. J. Anim. Sci. 21, 33–42.
- Megias., M. Martinez, A., Gallego, J.A. and Oliver, P. 1993. Fermentative nutritive changes during artichoke (Cynara scolymus L.) by- product ensilage. *Bioresour*. *Technol*. 43:237-239.
- Meneses, M., Megias, M.D., Madrid, J., Martinez-Teruel, A., Hernandez, F. and Oliva, J. 2007. Evaluation of the phytosanitary, fermentaive and nutritive characteristics of the silage made from crude artichoke (Cynara scolymus L.) by- product feeding for ruminants. Small Ruminant Research. 70:292-296.
- Menke, K.H. and Steingass, H. 1988. Estimation of the energetic feed value from obtained from chemical analysis and in vitro gas production using rumen fluid. Anim. Res. Dev., 28: 7-55.
- Menke, K.H., Raab, L., Salewski, A., Steingass, H., Fritz, D., Schneider, W. 1979. The estimation of the digestibility and metabolisable energy content of ruminant feedingstuffs from the gas production when they are incubated with rumen liquor. *J. Agric. Sci.* (Camb.) 93, 217–222.
- Meyer, D. J. and Harvey, J. W. 1998. Veterinary laboratory medicine. Interpretation and diagnosis.
   2<sup>nd</sup> edition. W.B. Saunders Company. An imprint of Elsevier Science. Philadelphia,
   Pennsylvania.
- Mhere, O., Maasdorp, B.V., & Titterton, M. 1999. In: T. Smith (ed) Proc. Workshop on Livestock Production Research in the Semi-Arid Tropics. [UK] Department for International Development (DFID), Matopos, Zimbabwe. February 1999.
- Miech, P. 2005. Co-generation of energy and feed/food in integrated farming system for socioeconomic and environmental benefits. MSc. Thesis, MEKARN-SLU

- Miettinen, H., setala, J. and Moiso, T. 1991. Estimation of the effect of silage quality on silage palatability and intake in dairy cows. In: forage conservation towards (2000). Proceedings of a conference, January 23-25 Brawn schweig 1991. Ed. Phalow, G and Honig, H.P. 408-409
- Miron, J., Zuckerman, E., Sadeh, D., Adin, G., Nikbachat, M., Yosef, E., Ben-Ghedalia, D., Carmi, A., Kipnis, T., Solomon, R., 2005. Yield, composition and in vitro digestibility of new forage sorghum varieties and their ensilage characteristics. *Anim. Feed Sci. Technol.* 120, 17–32.
- Miron, J., Solomon, R., Adin, G., Nir, U., Nikbachat, M., Yosef, E., Carmi, A., Weinberg, Z.G., Kipnis, T., Zuckerman, E., Ben-Ghedalia, D., 2006. Effects of harvest stage and re-growth on yield, composition, ensilage and in vitro digestibility of new forage sorghum varieties. J. Sci. Food Agric. 86, 140–147.
- Minson, D.J., 1990. Forage in ruminant nutrition. Academic Press. San Diego, CA. 482pp.
- Mitrukal, B. M. J. and Rawsley, H. 1977. Clinical Biochemical and Haematological Reference Values in Normal Experimental Animals. Masson Pub. U.S.A. Inc. N. Y., Pp. 168-170.
- Mohd Najib, M.A., Aminah, A., and Idris, A.B. 1993. Forage conservation for livestock smallholders in Malaysia. p. 103-109, in: Strategies for suitable forage-based livestock production in Southeast Asia. Proceedings of the Third Meeting of the Regional Working Group on Grazing and Feed Resources of Southeast Asia. 31 January - 6 February 1993, Khon Kaen, Thailand.
- Moore, C. P. 1976. The utilization of cassava forage in ruminant feeding. Proceeding of the international symposium. Tropical Livestock Production. Acapulco, Mexico March 8-12, 1976. pp 21
- Moran, J. 2005. Tropic Dairy Farming: Feeding management for small holder dairy farmers in the humia tropics. Landlinks press 2005, Pp. 312:84-90.

- Morgan, J.B., Wheeler, T.L., Koohmaraie, M., Crouse, J.D., Savell, J.W., 1993. Effect of castration on myofibrillar protein turnover, endogenous proteinase activities, and muscle growth in bovine skeletal muscle. *J. Anim. Sci.* 71, 408–414.
- Muck, R.E. 1989. Initial bacterial numbers on Lucerne prior to ensiling. *Grass and Forage Sci.* 44:19-25.
- Muck, R.E. 1993. The role of silage additives in making high quality silage. p. 106-116, *in: Silage production from seed to animal*. Proceedings of the National Silage Production Conference. Syracuse, New York, 23-25 February 1993. Ithaka, NY: NRAES.
- Muck, R.E. and Holmes, B.J. 2000. Factors affecting bunker silo densities. *Appl. Eng. in Agric.* 16:163-619.
- Mühlbach, P.R.F. 1999. Additives to improve the silage making process with tropical forages. In t"Mannatje ed.Proc.FAO e-conf.on Tropical silage.FAO.Plant Production and Protection. Paper 161; 1 Sept15-Dec.19 1999 133-140.
- Murugeswari, R., Balakrishnan, V. and Vijayakumar, R. 2006. Studies to assess the suitable conservation methods for tapioca leaves for effective utilization by ruminants. Livestock Research for Rural Development 18(3). <u>http://www.cipav.org.co/lrrd/lrrd18/3/cont1803.htm</u>
- Myer, H.H., Abdulkhaliq, A., Davis, S.L., Thompson, J., Nabioullin, R., Wu, P., Forsberg, N.E., 1996. Effects of the callipyge phenotype on serum creatinine, total cholesterol, low densitylipoproteins, very-low-density lipoproteins, high-densitylipoproteins, and triacylglycerol in growing lambs. J. Anim. Sci. 74, 1548–1552.
- Nayiguhugu,V., Kellog, D.W.,Longer,D.E. and Johnson,Z.B.2002. Case study; performance and ensiling characteristics of tall-growing soybean lines used for silage. American Registry of Professional Animal Scientist. Vol.18 (1) pp 85
- Netpana, N., Wanapat, M., Poungchompu, O. and Toburan, W. 2001. Effect of condensed tannins in cassava hay on fecal parasitic egg counts in swamp buffaloes and cattle. In: Proceedings

International Workshop on Current Research and Development on Use of Cassava as Animal Feed. T R Preston, B Ogle and M Wanapat (Ed) <u>http://www.mekarn.org/proc-</u> <u>cass/netp.htm</u>

- Ngo Tien Dzung 2003 Intercropping cassava (*Manihot esculenta Cratz*) with Flemingia (*Flemingia macrophylla*); effect on biomass yield and soil fertility. Evaluation of cassava intercropping systems and cassava hay as a feed protein for growing goats. MSc. Thesis, Uppsala, pp.27-45
- Nguyen, T. M. 2001. Feeding Systems for Goats based on foliages and Whole Sugar Cane. PhD Thesis. Department of Animal Nutrition and Management, Uppsala. ACTA Universitatis Agriculture Sueciae.
- Nguyen Thi Loc, Ogie R.B. and Preston, T.R 1996. On farm and on station evaluation of cassava root silage for fattening pigs in central Vietnam Msc .Thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences .
- Nguyen Xuan Trach, Magne Mo and Cu Xuan Dan 2001. Effects of treatment of rice straw with lime and/or urea on responses of growing cattle. Livestock Research for Rural Development 13(5) <u>http://www.cipav.org.co/lrrd/lrrd13/5/trach135.htm</u>.
- Ngwa, A.T., Nsahlai, I.V. and Bonsi, M.L.K. 2001. The rumen digestion of dry matter, nitrogen and cell wall constituents of the pods of Leucaena leucocephala and some *Acacia* species. *J.sci.Food Agric* 82:1-9
- Nhi, D.L., Sahn M.V., and Ly L.V. 2001. Supplementing cassava root meal and cassava processed leaf to diet based on natural grasses, maize stover and rice straw for fattening young swamp buffaloes. Proceedings from Buffalo workshop. December, 2001.
- Nishida, T., Eruden, B., Hosoda, K., Matsuyama, H., Xu, C. and Shioya, S. 2007. Digestibiliy, methane production and chewing activity of steers fed whole-crop round bale corn silage preserved at three maturities. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*.135:42-51

- Nishino N, Yoshida M, Shiota H, Sakaguchi E 2003. Accumulation of 1,2-propanediol and enhancement of aerobic stability in whole crop maize silage inoculated with lactobacillus buchneri. *J. Appl. Microbiol.* 94: 800-807.
- Norton, B.W. 1994. Nutritive value of tree legumes in 'Forage Tree Legumes in Tropical Agriculture: (Eds. R.C. Gutteridge and H.M. Shelton). Pp. 177 91 (CABI: Wallingford).
- NRC, 1985. National Research Council. Nutrition Requirements for Sheep Sixth Revised Edition. National Academy Press, Washington, DC.
- NRC, 2001. Nutrition Requirements of Dairy Cattle Seventh Edition. National Academy Press, Washington, DC.
- Nussio, L. G. 2005. Silage production from tropical forages. In: Silage production and utilization. Proceedings of the XIVth International Grassland Congress, July 2005, Belfast, Northern Ireland (Ed: Park, RS and Stronge, MD). Wageningen Academic Publishers pp 97 – 107
- Oayzdog`an, M. 1999. The effects of mixed fat in broiler rations on the performance and some blood parameters in summer seasons. Ph.D. *Thesis. Adnan Menderes University, Aydın, Turkey.*
- Oddy, V. H. and Sainz, R. D. 2002 Nutrition for Sheep Meat Production. In Sheep Nutrition (Free, M. and Dove, H., eds) CSIRO Publishing Pp 237-262
- Odeyinka, S.M and Okunade, G. K. 2005. Goat production in oyo state: a case study of ogbomoso town. *Nigeria Journal Animal product*. 32:108-115
- Oduguwa, B. O., Jolaosho, A.O. and Ayankoso, M. T. 2007. Effect of ensiling on the physical properties, chemical composition and mineral contents of Guinea grass and cassava tops silage. *Nig. J. Anim.Prod.* 34:100-106
- Oduye, O.O. and Adadevoh, B.K. 1976. Biochemical values of Apparently Normal Nigerian sheep. *Nig. Vet. Jour. 5(1), 43-50.*

- Oduye, O.O. and Fasanmi, F. 1971. Serum electrolyte and protein levels in the Nigerian White Fulani and N'dama breeds of Cattle. *Bull. Epizoot. Dis. Afr.* 19: 333-339.
- Oduye, O.O and Otesile, E.B. 1977. Studies on the canine Anaemia in Ibadan. J. of Small Ani. Pract. 18, 429-443.
- Ogunsanmi A.O., Akpavicso P.A. and Anosa V.O. 1994. Serum Biochemical Changes in WAD Sheep experimentally infected with *Trypanosoma brucei*, *Tropical Veterinarian*, 47(2); 195.
- Ojeda,F.G.1999. Harvesting and ensiling techniques: In L t"Mannatje ed.Proc.FAO e-conf.on Tropical silage.FAO.Plant Production and Protection. Paper 161; 1 Sept15-Dec.19 1999 133-140.
- Okoli I.C. ,A.Oyejide and G.C Okoli, 2005. Effectof treatment on the patho-physiology of experimental ovine trypanosomiasis. *Tropical Agric*, 82:143-147.
- Olarinmoye, A.O., Anaeto, M., Sawyerr A.F., Alli, T.R and Tayo, G.O 2010. Effect of cassava leaf silage and cassava peel diet on West African Dwarf sheep during the dry season. Proc. 15th Conf., ASAN, 13-15 Sept., 2010. univ. of Uyo, Nigeria.
- Oldham, J.D., Alderman, G., 1980. Recent advances in understanding protein-energy interrelationships in intermediary metabolism in ruminants. In: Protein and Energy Supply of High Producing of Milk and Meat. Pergamon Press, Oxford, 33 pp.
- Olufunmilayo, A., Williams, J. L., Sara, B. and Bardara, U. 2000. Genetics relationship between native sheep breeds in Nigeria based on microsatellite DNA polymorphisisms. *Nigeria Journal of Animal Production* 27(1):1-8.
- Oluwadamilare, I. E. 1997. Effect of supplementation of Guinea grass (*Panicum maximum*) with cassava leaf silage on the feed intake, digestibility and nitrogen balance of West African dwarf goats. Msc. Thesis, University of Ibadan, Nigeria.

- Olusanya, S. K., Edewor, E. E. and Health, E. 1976. Studies on the blood chemistry and other haematological parameters of Buffaloes in a Ranch in Nigeria. *Nigerian Veterinary Journal* 5 (1), 27-31.
- Omojola A.B and Attah, S. 2006. Carcass and non-component of male West African dwarf Goats slaughtered at different weight. *Journal Animal science*, 2006 vol.9 no2:119-126.
- Onwuka, C.F. 1983. Nutritional evaluation of some Nigerian browse plants in humid tropics Ph.D thesis University of Ibadan, Nigeria.
- Onwuka, C.F.I., Akinsoyinu, A.O and Tewe, O.O 1989 feed values of some Nigeria Browse plants: chemical composition and invitro digestibility values. *East Africa* Agric and forestry *Journal* .54 (3): 157-163.
- Onwuka, C.F.I., and Akinsoyinu, A.O. 1989. Protein and Energy requirements for maintenance and gain by West African Dwarf Goats fed cassava (*Manihot esculenta*) leaves and peels. *Small Ruminant Research*. 2:291-298.
- Opara M.N., Ike K.A. and Okoli I.C. 2006. Haematology and plasma Biochemistry of the wild Adult African Grass cutter (Thryonomys Swinderianus, Temminck). *The J. of Ame. Sci.*, 2 (2): 17-22.
- Opara M.N., Udevi N. and Okoli L. C. 2010. Haematological parameters And Blood chemistry of apparently Healthy West African Dwarf (WAD) Goat in Owerri, South Eastern Nigeria. *New York science Journal.*
- Orpin, C.G., 1975. Studies on the rumen flagellate Neocallimastiz frontalis. J. General Microbiology 91: 249 – 269.
- Osakwe, I.I. 2006. Effect of Leucaena leucocephala supplementation to basal hay on Energy and Protein in West African dwarf sheep. *Nig. J Anim. Prod.*33 (1): 94-101

- Osueni, J.E. 2001.Variation in zoometric and haematological indices of West African Dwarf goats from different locations in Edo state. M.Sc. Thesis, Ambrose Alli University, Ekpoma, Nig. 57pp.
- Otesile, E. B., Fagbami B.O. and Adeyemi O. 1991. The effect of trypanosoma brucei infection on serum biochemical parameters in boars on different planes of dietary energy. *Vet. Parasit.*, 40: 207–216.
- Ørskov, E. R. and McDonald, I. 1979. The estimation of protein degradability in rumen from incubation measurements according to rate of passage. *J. Agric.Sci. Camb.*, 92: 449-503.
- Padmaja, G. 1989. Evaluation techniques to reduce assayable tannin and cyanic in cassava leaves *Journal of Agriculture and Food chemistry*. 37: 712-716.
- Panditharatne, S., Allen, V.G., Fontenot, J.P. and Jayasuriya, M.C.N. 1986. Ensiling characteristics of tropical grasses as influenced by stage of growth, additives and chopping length. J. *Animal Sc.*, 63: 197-207.
- Patterson, K. 1988. Ensiling of forages. Factors affecting silage fermentation and quality. Dissertation Swedish University of Agricultural Science. Report 179, Uppsala.
- Peaz, A. and Gonzalez, M. E. 1995. Water stress and clipping management effect in Guinea grass.II Photosynthesis and water relations. *Agronomy Journal* 87:706-711
- Peiris, H. and Ibrahim, M. N. M. 1995. Nutritive value of guinea grass (*Panicum maximum*) and urea supplemented rice straw for cattle. AJAS., 8:83-88.
- Pelchen, A. and Peter, K.J. 1994. Pollutant gases from animal farming influences on the greenhouse effect, Natural Resources and Development 40, 50 68.
- Pelchen, A. and Peter, K.J. 1998. Methane emissions from sheep. *Small Ruminant Research* 27: 137-150.

- Peters, K. J. 1998. The importance of small ruminants in rural development. *Animals Resource and Dev. Vol* 28:115-125pp.
- Pfander, W.H., Grebing, S.E., Price, C.M., Lewis, O., Asplund, J.M., Ross, C.V. 1975. Use of plasma urea nitrogen to vary protein allowances of lambs. *J. Anim. Sci.* 41, 647–653.
- Pieterse, P.A., N.F.G. Rethman and J. Van Bosch, 1997. Production, water use efficiency and quality of four cultivars of *panicum maximum* at different levels of nitrogen fertilization. *Tropical Grasslands*, 31:117-123.
- Phuc, B.H.N., Ogle,R.B and Lindberg, J.E. 2000. Effect of replacing soy protein with cassava leaf protein in cassava root meal based diets for growing pigs on digestibility and nitrogen retention. *Anim. Feed Sci and Tech.* 83. 233-235.
- Politis, I., Zavizoion, B., F., Cheli, Baldi, A. 2002. Expression of urokinase plasminogen activator receptor in resting and activated bovine neutrophils. *J. Dairy Res.* 69:195-204.
- Preston, T. R. and Leng, R. A. 1987. Matching Ruminant Production System with Available Resources in the Tropics and Subtropics. Penambul Books: Armidale, P.O.Box 512, Armidale, New South Wales 2350, Australia.
- Preston, T.R. 2001. Potential of cassava in integrated farming systems. In: T.R Preston., B. Ogle and M. Wanapat (eds). *International Workshop on Current Research and Development on* use of Cassava as Animal Feed. Khon Kaen University, Thailand. July/23-24, 2001. p: 5-12. <u>http://www.mekarn.org/procKK/pres.htm</u>.
- Preston. T. R., Rodrigues, L. and Khieu, B. 2000. Association of cassava and legume trees as perennial forage crops for livestock. Workshop-seminar "Making better use of local feed resources" January 2000. SAREC-UAF (Editors: T R Preston and Bian Ogle). Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam.

- Promkot, C. and Wanapat, M. 2003. Ruminal degradation and intestinal digestion of crude protein of tropical protein resourses using Nylon bag technique and three- step In-vitro procedure in dairy cattle. Livestock Reasearch for Rural Development (15) 11 Retrived from http://www.cipav.org.co/lrrd//lrrd15/11/prom1511.htm.
- Provenza, F. D. and Cincotta, R. P. 1994. Foraging as a self-organisational learning process: Accepting adaptability at the expense of predictability In: Hughes R N (editor.) Diet selection. Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford, UK pp 79-101
- Proverb, G. 1990. Alternative tropical energy feed resources (cereal, agro industrial bye product, copra, groundnut, brewer grain and forage trees) as the basis of the diet of large and small ruminants. In livestock feeding systems for the caribbeaan, using non-conventional feed resources, (TA Publication Serie, St John, Antigua, pp129.
- PTFAFLF 1992.. Presidential Task Force on Alternative Formulations of Livestock Feeds. Report on livestock numbers, feed Resources inventory and supplies. Report submitted to the Federal Government of Nigeria, October 1992.
- Ravindran, G. and Ravindran, V. 1988. Changes in the nutritional composition of cassava (*Manihot esculenta* crantz) leaves during maturity. Food Chemistry 27:299-309.
- Ravindran, V. 1985. Development of cassava leaf meal as an animal feed. Ph.D Dissertation, Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University . Blacksbury, VA, USA.
- Ravindran, V. 1991. Preparation of cassava leaf products and their use as animal feed In: Roots, tubers, plantains and bananas in animal feeding (Editors: D. Machin and Solveig Nyvold).
  FAO Animal production and Health paper No. 95:111-122. http://www.fao.org/ag/aga/agap/frig.//AHPP95/95-11PdF.
- Ravindran, V. 1993 Cassava leaves as animal feed: Potential and limitations. Journal of Science Food and Agriculture. 61 141-150

- Ravindran, V, Krnegay, E.T and Rajaguru. A.S.B. 1987. Influence of processing methods and storage time on the cyanide potential of cassava leaf meal. *Animal feed science and Technology* .17:227-234.
- Ravindran, V. and Rajaguru A.S.B 1988. Effect of stem pruning on cassava roots yield and leaf growth. Sri Lankan. *Journal of Agriculture science*. 25 (2) 32-37.
- Reed, J.D., MC Dowell, R.E., Van Soest, P.J and Horvath, P.J 1982. Condensed tannins: a factor limiting the use of cassava foliage. *J. of the sci. of Food and Agric.* 33: 213-220.
- Rekwot, P.I., Kumi-Diaka, J., Akerejola, O. and Oyedipe, O. 1987. Haematological values of Bunaji and Fresian x Bunaji bulls fed two levels of protein diets. Nig. Vet. J. 18: 63-72.
- Rasool, S., Sial, M.A., Ul-Haq, A., & Jamil, A. 1998. Chemical changes during ensiling of sudax fodder with broiler litter. An. Feed Sc. Techn., 72: 347-354.
- Robinson, P.H., Taminga, S., Van Vuuren, A.M., 1986. Influence of declining level of feed intake and varying the proportion of starch in the concentrate on rumen fermentation in dairy cows. *Livestock Prod. Sci.* 15: 173–189.
- Rodney, Kott 2001. Montana farm flock sheep production handbook. Nutrition part 1-section 5 of 7.
- Rosling, H. 1987. Cassava toxicity and food security. International child Health unit. Uppsal Sweden Pp 10-15.
- Sainz, R. D. and Wolff, J. E. 1990. Development of a dynamicmechanistic model of lamb metabolism and growth. *Anim. Prod.* 58:95-101
- Saleem, M.A.M. 1995. Mixed farming systems in Sub-Saharan Africa. In: R.T. Wilson, S. Ethui & S. Mack (eds) Livestock Development Strategies for Low Income Countries. Proc. Joint FAO/ILRI Roundtable on Livestock Development Strategies for Low-Income Countries. ILRI, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia, 27 February-27 March 1995.

- Sanderson, M.A. 1993. Aerobic stability and *in vitro* fibre digestibility of microbially inoculated corn and sorghum silages. *J. Animal Sc.*, 71: 505-514.
- Santoso, B., Mwenya, B., Sar,C. and Takahashi, J.2006. Ruminal fermentation and nitrogen metabolism in sheep fed a silage-based diet supplemented with Yucca schidigera or Y. schidigera and nisin. *Anim. Feed Sci. Technol.* 129: 187-195.
- Sarwatt, S.V. 1995. Studies on preservation and evaluation of some tropical forages as silage. PhD Thesis. Sokoine University of Agriculture, Tanzania.
- SAS 1999. Statistical Analysis System, SAS/STAT User's guide, SAS Institute Inc., Cary, North Carolina, U.S.A.
- Schalm, O. W., Jain, N. C. and Carroll, E. J. 1975. Veterinary haematology. 3<sup>rd</sup> edition Lea and Febiger Philadelphia,U.S.A. pp. 13, 123, 136.
- Seng Mom, Preston, T. R., Leng, R. A. and Meulen Uter 2001 Response of young cattle fed rice straw to supplementation with cassava foliage and a single drench of cooking oil. Livestock Research for Rural Development (13) 4: <u>http://www.cipav.org.co/lrrd/lrrd13/4/seng134.htm</u>
- Seng, S. and Rodriguez, L. 2001. Foliage from cassava, *Flemingia macrophylla* and bananas compared with grasses as forage sources for goats; effects in growth rats and intestinal nematodes. *Livestock Res. Dev.* 13(2): <u>http://www.cipav.org.co/lrrd/lrrd13/2/soke132.htm</u>.
- Seng, S. and Preston, T.R. 2003. Effect of grass or cassava Foliage on growth and nematodes parasite infestation in goats fed low or high protein diets in continental MEKARN M.Sc 2001-2003.
- Shaver, R.D., Erdman, R.A., O'Connor, A.M., Vandersall, J.H., 1985. Effects of silage pH on voluntary intake of corn silage and alfalfa haylage. J. Dairy Sci. 68, 338-346.

- Sibanda, S., Jingura, J.M. and Topps, J.H. 1997. The effect of level of inclusion of the legume *Desmodium uncinatum* and the use of molasses or ground maize as additives on the chemical composition of grass- and maize-legume silages. *An. Feed Sc. Techn.*, 68: 295-305.
- Smith O.B. 1992. A review of ruminant responses to cassava based diets. Workshop-proceeding of the IITA/ILCA/University of Ibadan on the potential utilization of cassava as livestock feed in Africa pp 39-51.
- Smith, O.B., Idowu, O.A, Asaolu, V.O. and Odunlami, M.O. 1988. Comparative rumen degradability of forages, browses, crop residues and by-products P In: African Small Ruminant Research and Development (Editor: R.T. Wilson and M. Azeb). ILCA, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Pp. 204-208.
- Soetanto, H., 1986. Studies on the role of rumen anaerobic fungi and protozoa in fibre digestion. M. Ruf Sc. Thesis, University of New England, Armidale, Australia.
- Sokerya Seng, Try P., Waller, P. J. and Höglund, J. 2009. The effect of long-term feeding of fresh and ensiled cassava (*Manihot esculenta*) foliage on gastrointestinal nematode infections in goats. Tropical Animal Health and Production. 41, 251–258.
- Sowande O.S., Aina A.B.J., Oguntona E.B., Fanimo A.O., Unaka V.U., Hassan T.A. and Oseni M.O. 2008. Performance, blood biochemical constituents and mineral balance of West African Dwarf sheep fed preserved elephant grass, layers' droppings and cassava peel diets during dry season. *Nig. J. Anim. Prod.* 2008, 35 (1): 90–102.
- t'Mannetje, L.T.1999. Introduction to the conference on silage making in the tropics in Mannetje(Ed).silage making in the tropics with particular emphasis on small holders. FAO.Plant production and protection.paper161.
- Taiwo, A. A., Akinsoyinu, A.O., Adebowale, E. A. and Greenhalgh, J.F.D.1995.Comparative study on the use of four protein supplements by West African Dwarf sheep. *Nig.J.Anim.Prod.*22 (1and 2): 68-75.

- Taiwo, V.O. and Anosa, V.O., 1995. Fibrinogen, leucocyte and haematocrit values of cattle with various disease conditions. Trop. Vet., 13: 51-57.
- Tambuwal, F. M., Agaie, B. M. and Bangana, A. 2002. Hematological and Biochemical values of Apparently Healthy Red Sokoto Goats. Proceeding of 27<sup>th</sup> Ann. Conf., Nig. Soci. of An.l Prod. (NSAP), March, 17-21, FUTA, Akure, Nigeria. Pg. 50-53.
- Tewe, O. O. 1991. Detoxification of cassava products and effects of residue toxins on consuming animals. In; Roots, tubers, plantains and bananas in animal feeding (Editors: D. Machin and Solveig Nyvold). FAO Animal Production and Health Paper No. 95: 81-95 <u>http://www.fao.org/ag/aga/agap/frg/AHPP95/95-81.pdf</u>
- Tamminga, S., Van Straalen, W.M., Subnel, A.P.J., Meijer, R.G.M., Steg, A., Wever, C.J.G., Blok, M.C., 1994. The Dutch protein evaluation system: the DVE/OEB-system. *Livest. Prod. Sci.* 40, 139–155.
- Theng, K., Preston, T.R and Ly, J. 2003: Studies on utilization of trees and shrubs as the sole feedstuff by growing goats; foliage preferences and nutrient utilization; *Livestock Research for Rural Development* 15:7.
- Theodorous, M.K., Williams, B.A., Dhanoa, M.S., McAllan, A.B., France, J. 1994. A simple gas production mekthod using a pressure transducer to determine the fermentation kinetics of ruminant feeds. *Anim. Feed Sci. Technol.* 48: 185–197.
- Thomas, C., and Thomas, P.C. 1985. Factors affecting the nutritive value of grass silages. p. 223-256, *in*: D.J. Cole & W. Haresign (eds) *Recent Advances in Animal Nutrition*. London: Butterworths
- Thu, N.V. and Uden, P., 2001. Effect of urea molasses cake supplementation of swamp buffaloes fed rice straw or grasses on rumen environment, feed degradation and intake. *Asian-Australas J. Anim. Sci.* 14 (5), 631–639.

- Tilley, J.M.A. and Terry, R.A. 1963. A two stage technique for the *in vitro* digestion of forage crops. *Journal of the British Grassland Society* 18: 104 111.
- Titterton, M. 1997. The feasibility of using forage sorghum in drought years for silage in Zimbabwe. In: R. Kirk (ed) Proc. Annual General Meeting on Forage production for dairying in Zimbabwe. Grasslands Society of Zimbabwe, August 1997.
- Titterton, M. and & Maasdorp, B.V. 1997. Nutritional improvement of maize silage for dairying: mixed crop silages from sole and intercropped legumes and a long season variety of maize.
  2. Ensilage. J. An. Fd. Sci. and Technol., 69: 263-270.
- Titterton, M., Mhere, O., Maasdorp, B., Ashbell, G., Kipnis, T., Weinberg, Z., Hen, Y. 1999. The use of plastic bags and simple technology to ensile mixed cereal and legume crops for smallholder dairy cattle feeding in the dry season of semi-arid areas. *In:* T. Smith (ed) *Proc. Workshop on Livestock Production Research in the Semi-Arid Tropics*. [UK] Department for International Development (DFID), Matopos, Zimbabwe. February 1999.
- Tjandraatmadja, M., Norton, B.W., Mac Rae, I.C. 1991. Fermentation patterns of forage sorghum ensiled under different environmental conditions. *World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology* 7, 206-18.
- Tjandraatmadja, M., Norton, B.W. and MacRae, I.C. 1994. Ensilage characteristics of three tropical grasses as influenced by stage of growth and addition of molasses. *World Journal Microbiology Biotechnology*, 10: 74-81.
- Topps, J.H., and Oliver, J. 1993. Animal Foods of Central Africa. Zimb. Agric. J. Tech. Handb., 2: 135.
- Tudsri, S., H. Matsuoka and K. Kobashi, 2002. Effect of temperature on seedling growth characteristics of *Panixum maximum*. Tropical Grasslands, 36:165-171.
- Van, D. T. T., Thanh, M. N. T. and Binh, D. V. 2001. Cassava as small ruminant feed in the hilly and mountainous area of Bavi district. In: Preston T R, Ogle R B and Wanapat M (Editors) Proceedings of the International Workshop on Current research and development on use of

cassava as animal feed. SIDA-SAREC project, Khon Kaen, Thailand, 23-24 July 2001, pp 53–58 <u>http://www.mekarn.org/procKK/van.htm</u>

- Van Onselen, V.J. and Lopez, J. 1988. Effect of addition of carbohydrate sources and of a commercial enzymatic product on the chemical and nutritional composition of elephant grass (*Pennisetum purpureum*) silage. *Rev. da Sociedade Brasiliera de Zootecnia*, 17(5): 421-427
- Van Soest, P.J., Robertson, J. B. and Lewis, B.A. 1991. Methods for dietry fiber, neutral detergent fiber and non-strach polysaccharides in relation to animal nutrition. *Journal of Dairy Science*. 74: 3583-3597.
- Van Soest, P.J. 1994. Nutritional Ecology of Ruminants, 2<sup>nd</sup> edn. Cornell University Press, 476pp.
- Vérité, R., Michalet-Doreau, B., Chapoutot, P., Peyraud, J.-L., Poncet, C., 1987. Révision du système des proteins digestibles dans l'intestin (PDI). *Bull. Technol.* CRZV Theix INRA 70, 19–34.
- Waldo, D. R. and Jorgensen, N. A. 1981. Forages for high animal production:nutritional factors and effects of conservation. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 64:1207
- Wanapat, M. 1995. The use of local feed resource for livestock producion in Thailand. In:Proceeding of the International Conference on Increasing Animal Production with local Resources. Guo TingShuang (Ed) China Forestry Publishing House, Ministry of Agriculture China.
- Wanapat M. 2001. Role of cassava hay as animal feed in the tropics. International Workshop on Current Research and Development on Use of Cassava as Animal Feed. Khon Kaen University, Thailand. July 23/24, 2001. p: 5-12.
- Wanapat M. 2003. Manipulation of cassava cultivation and utilization to improve protein to energy biomass for livestock feeding in the tropics. Asian Australian Journal of Animal Science 16: 463-472

- Wanapat, M. and Khampa; S. 2006. Effect of cassava hay in high-quality feed block as anthelmintics in steers grazing on ruzi grass. Asian Australian Journal of Animal Science 19: 695-699.
- Wanapat, M. Pimpa O. Petium, A. and Boontao, U. 1997. Cassava hay: A new strategic feed for ruminants during the dry season. Livestock Research for Rural development vol. 9 (2) 1-6 <u>http://www.Cipav.org/lrr/lrrd9/2/ntha92.htm</u>.
- Wanapat, M., Pimpa, D. Sripuek, W. Puramongkoi, T. Petium A. Boonta, U.Wachirapa, C. and Sommark, k. 2000b. Cassava hay; an important on-farm feed, for ruminants in proceedings of international workshop on Tanin in livestock and Human nutrition (Ed: J.D Brooker) AGAR No 92:PP 71-74.
- Wanapat, M., Pimpa, O., Petlum, A., Wachirapakorn, C. & Yuanklang, C. 2000c. Participation scheme of smallholder dairy farmers in the Northeast Thailand on improving feeding systems. Asian-Australasian Journal of Animal Sciences. 13 (6), 830-836.
- Wanapat, M. Promkot C. and Wanapat, S. 2006. Effect of Cassey -Urea pellet as a protein source in concentrate on animal fermentation and digestibility in cattle. *Asian Australian Journal* of Animal Science 19:1004-1009.
- Wanapat M. Promkot, C. and Khampa, C. 2007. Supplementation of cassava hays as protein replacement for soy- bean meal in concentrate supplement for dairy cow. *Pakistan Journal* of Nutrition 6 (1): 68 – 71.
- Warly, L., Fariani, A., Mawuenyegah, O.P., Matsui, T., Fujihara, T., Harumoto, T., 1994. Studies on the utilization of rice straw by sheep. 2. Effect of soyabean meal and barley supplementation on voluntary intake, digestibility and ruminal fermentation. *Asian-Australas. J. Anim. Sci.* 7 (2), 265–271.

Warriss, P.D 2000. Meat Science, an introduction text, Bristol, p.10-37.

Wheeler, J.L., D.A. Hedges, and A.R. Till. 1975. A possible effect of cyanogenic glucoside in sorghum on animal requirements for sulphur. *Journal of Agricultural Science* 84:377–379.

Whiteman, P. C. 1980. Tropical Pastures Sciences. Oxford University press, New York. 392pp

- Whittenbury, R., McDonald, P. and Bryan-Jones, D.G. 1967. A short review of some biochemical and microbiological aspects of ensilage. *Journal of Science and Food Agriculture*. 18: 441-444.
- Wilkins, R.J., Hutchinson, K.J., Wilson, R.F., Harris, C.E., 1971. The Voluntary intake of silage by sheep. 1. Interrelationships between silage composition and intake. *J. Agric. Sci. Camb.* 77, 531-537.
- Wilkinson, J.M. 1998. Aditives for ensiled temperate forage crops. p.53-72, in: F.S Wechsler (ed) Simpósio sobre aditivos na produção de ruminantes e não-ruminantes. Anais dos Simpósios, XXXV Reunião da SBZ.

Woolford, M. 1984. The Silage Fermentation. Marcel Dekker.

Wooldolf, M.K. 1990. The detrimental effect of air on silage. *J.appl.Bacterial*. 68:101-106. Tropics.

Wolin, M.J. 1960. A theoretical rumen fermentation balance. J. Dairy Sci. 43: 1452 – 1459.

- Wolin, M.J. 1979. The rumen fermentation: a model for microbial interactions in anaerobic ecosystems. *Advances in Microbial Ecology* 3: 49 77.
- Yokota, H., Fuji, Y. and Ohshima, M. 1998. Nutritional quality of Napier grass (*Pennisetum purpureum*. Schum.) silage supplemented with molasses and rice bran by goats. Asian Australian Journal of Animal Science 11:697-701
- Yousuf, M.B., Belewu, M.A., Daramola, J.O., and Ogundun, N.I. 2007. Protein supplementary values of cassava-, leuceana- and gliricidia-leaf meals in goat fed low quality *Panicum maximum* hay. Livestock Research for Rural Development 19 (2). <u>http://www.cipav.org/lrr/lrrd19/2/ntha192.htm</u>
- Youssef, F. G. 1990. The utilization of Crop Residues and industrial by –products. Ruminants In: livestock feeding system for Caribbean using nonconventional feed resources. CTA Seminar proceedings. *St. John, Antigua*, pp 115.

- Yusuf A.O., Adegbenjo, F.D and Bawala, T.O. 2010. Effect of varying forage concentrate ratios on performance of intensively managed West African Dwarf (WAD) sheep *proc. 15th conf.*, *ASAN*, 13-15 Sept., 2010, Univ. Uyo, Nigeria.
- Zilva J.F. and Pannall P.R. 1984. Clinical Chemistry in Diagnoses and Treatment, 4<sup>th</sup> Ed. Lloyd-Luke Medical Books Ltd., London, 185Pp.